
  Board of Peace Officer Standards and Training 
  1600 University Avenue, Suite 200, Saint Paul, MN 55104 
(651) 643-3060 | www.mn.gov/post

AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
July 24, 2025 

10:00 a.m. 
This meeting will be held at the MN POST Board, 1600 University Ave, Ste. 200, St. Paul, MN 55104. 

1. Call to order
2. Approval of the agenda ACTION
3. Approval of the board meeting minutes from April 24, 2025 (attachment) ACTION
4. Introduction of new board members/reappointments
5. Variance request – Mohamed Kromah (attachment) ACTION
6. Variance request – Darel Tapia (attachment) ACTION
7. Variance request – Pascal Gidigah (attachment) ACTION
8. Variance request – Sikander Bhardwaj (attachment) ACTION
9. Variance request – German Garcia (attachment) ACTION

10. 6700.0501 Reciprocity (attachment) ACTION
11. 6700.0601 Prohibited Examination Conduct and Sanctions (attachment) ACTION
12. 6700.2100-2500 Investigation and Resolution of Misconduct Allegations

(attachment) ACTION
13. Preservice training update/option discussion ACTION

a) Presentation of options
b) PPOE Focus Group Summary (attachment)
c) Community Member Focus Group Summary (attachment)
d) CLEO Preservice Survey (attachment)
e) CLEO Preservice Survey Comments (attachment)

Model Policies 
14. Missing Persons (attachment) ACTION
15. Professional Conduct of Peace Officers (attachment) ACTION
16. Allegations of Misconduct (attachment) ACTION
17. Criminal Conduct on School Buses (attachment) ACTION
18. Lighting Exemption of Law Enforcement Vehicles (attachment) ACTION
19. Supervision of Part-time Licensed Peace Officers (attachment) ACTION
20. Predatory Offender Registration and Community Notification (attachment)

ACTION
21. Administrative Forfeitures (attachment) ACTION
22. Executive Director report
23. Closed session: Licensure Matters, Pending Litigation (attachments sent

separately)
24. Adjournment

http://www.mn.gov/post
EU01235266
Cross-Out



 

 
 
 

BOARD MEETING MINUTES  
April 24, 2025 

 
 
 

 

Members Present Staff Present Members Excused Absence 
Chair Luke Hennen Alicia Popowski Justin Terrell 
Scott Nadeau for Andrew Evans Angie Rohow Kelly Phillips 
Bobbie Holtberg Erik Misselt  
Jason Bennett Jessi Knowles  Counsel Present 
Jennifer Foster Katie Cederstrom David Cullen, A.G. Office 
Jim Yang Michelle Haggberg Christopher Kaisershot, A.G. Office 
Nigel Perrote Mike Cumiskey  
Scott Kent Rob Skoro Others Present 
Shawn Williams Sarah Zastrow Anne Lanier 
Shelly Schaefer Schyler Beaty Erick Phillip Carl Olsen 
Stephanie Burrage Shari Bartness Mark Schneider, LELS 
Stephanie Revering   
Tad Farrell   
Tanya Gladney   
Troy Wolbersen   

 
 

1. Call to order: Chair Hennen called the meeting to order on April 24, 2025 at 10:00 a.m. 
 

 
2. Approval of the agenda:  Chair Hennen asked for a motion to approve the agenda. 

 
• MOTION:   Ms. Holtberg made a motion to approve the agenda.   Dr. Schaefer seconded the 

motion. The motion passed via unanimous voice vote. 
 
 

3. Approval of the Board meeting minutes on January 23, 2025: Chair Hennen asked for a motion to approve 
the January 23, 2025 minutes. 

 
• MOTION:  Chief Kent made a motion to approve the minutes. Dr. Williams seconded the motion. 

The motion passed via unanimous voice vote. 
 
 

4. R6700.0501 reciprocity rule changes: Ms. Popowski provided an update from the Rules Committee regarding 
R6700.0501.  The Rules Committee decided not to make any modifications and requested for this to be brought 
back to the Board for consideration of approval. 

 
Discussion ensued on Subp 7. Qualification and regarding higher education. 
 
The Board sent this back to the Rules Committee for further discussion and for a final draft to be submitted. 

     
1600 University Avenue, Suite 200, Saint Paul, MN 55104 
Main: (651) 643-3060 | www.mn.gov/post/ 

ITEM 3

http://www.mn.gov/post/


 
5. Variance request – Anne Lanier: Ms. Popowski presented Ms. Lanier’s variance request. Ms. Lanier was present for 

the meeting. Ms. Lanier is requesting a variance 6700.0300 Subp. 5, item B(2) and 6700.0700 Subp. 1, item D(3)(c) 
due to a domestic assault conviction in 2015. This offense is included in the minimum selection standards as a 
disqualifier and prevents Ms. Lanier from entering the PPOE skills program. 

 
• MOTION:  Dr. Williams made a motion for the Board to deny the petitioner’s request for a 

variance of Minnesota Rule 6700.0300 Subp. 5 item B(2) and 6700.0700 Subp. 1, item D(3)(c) 
because the statutory criteria for a discretionary variance has not been met. The motion was 
seconded by Chief Revering.  The motion passed via unanimous voice vote. 

  
 

6. Variance request – Seth Noll: Ms. Popowski presented Mr. Noll’s variance request.  Mr. Noll was not present for 
the meeting. Mr. Noll is requesting a variance 6700.0501 Subp 7.  He is 1 year and 2 months short of the 
reciprocity requirement for degree holders 
              

• MOTION: Dr. Schaefer made a motion for the Board to deny the petitioner’s request for a 
variance of Minnesota Rule 6700.0501 Subp. 7 because the statutory criteria for a discretionary 
variance has not been met. Dr. Williams seconded the motion. The motion passed via unanimous 
voice vote. 

 
 

7. Variance request – Erick Phillip Carl Olsen: Ms. Popowski presented Mr. Olsen’s variance request.  Mr. Olsen was 
present for the meeting. Mr. Olsen is requesting a variance 6700.0700 Subp. 1 item D(3)(e). He has a Violation of 
an Order for Protection from 2007 and is requesting a variance from the rule so that he can be able to take the 
PPOE exam. 
              

• MOTION: Dr. Gladney made a motion to deny the petitioner’s request for variance of Minnesota 
Rule 6700.0700 Subp. 1 item D(3)(e) because the statutory criteria for a discretionary variance 
has not been met.  Mr. Bennett seconded the motion. The motion passed via unanimous voice 
vote. 

 
 

8. Pre-service Training: Ms. Popowski provided a summary of work on 6700.0300 and 6700.0400. 
 

Discussion ensued. 
 
 

9. Appointment of new Board Vice-Chair and announcement of committee assignments: Director Misselt spoke 
about a new Board Vice Chair nomination for Scott Kent.  

 
• MOTION: Chief Revering made a motion for Scott Kent to be the new Board Vice Chair. Dr. 

Williams seconded the motion. The motion passed via unanimous voice vote. 
 
 

10. Executive Director report: Director Misselt spoke about the following: 
 

• Continuing Education forms being brought online. 
• Legislation update: 2x Omnibus bills regarding the POST Board that is currently awaiting a vote.  
• Odyssey funding for additional Salesforce work. 
• Automatic revocations. 
• MN POST Board review/ revisions to the model policies and will be brought to the Board for 

consideration and approval. 
 



 
11. Licensure matters (closed to the public)  

 
 

12. Licensure hearing – Sievert: Mr. Kaisershot presented arguments and a closing statement during the open portion 
of the meeting. 

 
 

13. Deliberations – Sievert (closed to the public) 
 
 

14. Adjournment: The meeting adjourned at 2:15 p.m. 
 
 

    
 



1 REVISOR 6700.0501 

Copyright ©2008 by the Revisor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All Rights Reserved. 

 

 

6700.0501 RECIPROCITY LICENSING EXAMINATION. 

Subpart 1. Scope. For the purposes of this part, the terms defined have the meanings 
given to them. 

Subp. 2. Basic peace officer police education. "Basic peace officer police 
education" means: 

A. a basic course recognized by a state council, state commission, state board, 
or state agency which leads to licensing or basic certification as a law enforcement officer 
where the appointing authority is located; or 

B. a basic course sponsored by the federal government for its law enforcement 
officers, including but not limited to, the basic Drug Enforcement Administration's agent 
school, the Federal Bureau of Investigation's basic agent school, or the Federal Law 
Enforcement Training Centers’ Uniformed Police Training Center's uniformed patrol 
course or Criminal Investigator Training Program basic investigators course. 

Subp. 3. Law enforcement officer. "Law enforcement officer" means: a person 
appointed or employed as a peace officer in another state, or a federal law enforcement 
employee, who has full powers of arrest, authority to carry a firearm, and is classified in a 
law enforcement position by the office of personnel management, not including any time 
served in the United States armed services. 

A. a person appointed or employed as a federal tribal law enforcement officer or a 
certified or licensed law enforcement officer in another state; or 

B. a federal law enforcement employee, who has full powers of arrest, authority to 
carry a firearm, and is classified in a law enforcement position by the Office of 
Personnel Management, not including any time served in the United States armed 
services.  

Subp. 4. [Repealed, 30 SR 903] 

Subp. 5. Postsecondary degree. "Postsecondary degree" means an academic title 
degree awarded by a postsecondary institution which is accredited by a member of one of 
the six regional accrediting associations federally recognized accrediting association or 
recognized as meeting accreditation by a member of the National Association of 
Credential Evaluation Services (NACES). The post-secondary institution must be 
authorized to award degrees.  and authorized to award degrees. including, but not limited 
to, Associate of Arts (A.A.) degrees, Associate of Science (A.S.) degrees, Bachelor of Arts 
(B.A.) degrees, and Bachelor of Science (B.S.) degrees. 

ITEM 10



2 REVISOR 6700.0501 

Copyright ©2008 by the Revisor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All Rights Reserved. 

 

 

Subp. 6. Years of experience. "Years of experience" means the total number of years 
the applicant has been employed as a law enforcement officer since completing the basic 
police education course. Full-time. An individual is considered employed full-time as a 
law enforcement officer if they are working, at a minimum, an average of 35 service 
hours per week.  

Subp. 7. Qualifications. A person who has completed a postsecondary degree, who  
has had three years of employment as a law enforcement officer after completing basic  
police education, who has served as a law enforcement officer during the past six years,  
and who has not had a peace officer license, certificate, or the federal equivalent suspended 
or revoked shall qualify for the reciprocity examination; or a person who has five years of 
employment as a law enforcement officer after completing basic police education, who has 
served as a law enforcement officer during the past six years, and who has not had a peace 
officer license, certificate, or the federal equivalent suspended or revoked shall qualify for 
the reciprocity examination. Peace officer reciprocity. An individual qualifies for the  
reciprocity examination if they:  

A. have completed a postsecondary degree or a minimum of 60 postsecondary  
education credits, two years of full-time employment as a law enforcement  
officer after successfully completing basic peace officer education, worked as a  
law enforcement officer during the past four years, and have not had a peace  
officer license, certificate, or the federal equivalent revoked, rescinded, or  
currently or permanently suspended;  

B. are not considered a full-time law enforcement officer but have completed a  
postsecondary degree or a minimum of 60 postsecondary education credits,  
worked a minimum of 3,640 hours as a law enforcement officer after completing  
basic peace officer education, worked as a law enforcement officer during the  
past four years, and have not had a peace officer license, certificate, or the federal 
equivalent revoked, rescinded, or currently or permanently suspended; or 

C. have completed four years of full-time employment or a minimum of 7,280 hours 
as a law enforcement officer after completing basic peace officer education,  
worked as a law enforcement officer during the past four years, have not had a  
peace officer license, certificate, or the federal equivalent revoked, rescinded, or  
currently or permanently suspended, and sign an agreement with the board stating 
the applicant will complete a minimum of 60 postsecondary education credits  
within five years of the applicant’s Minnesota Peace Office License becoming  
active.  

 
Subp. 8. Military reciprocity. Military personnel are eligible to take the reciprocity  

exam if they meet the requirements in Minnesota Statute 626.8517.  



3 REVISOR 6700.0501 

Copyright ©2008 by the Revisor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All Rights Reserved. 

 

 

Subp. 8 9. Eligibility. The eligibility for a person to take the reciprocity 
examination shall be void one year after qualifying for the examination. In order to 
reestablish eligibility, the person shall comply with subpart 7 and part 6700.0600. 
Reciprocity applications are valid for one year from the date they are approved by the 
Board. If the applicant does not take the examination within that year, they must reapply 
and comply with subparts 7 or 8 and part 6700.0600.  

Subp. 9 10. License eligibility. Upon successful completion of the reciprocity 
examination, a person is eligible for a peace officer license. If the person is not licensed 
after three years, the person may reinstate eligibility by again demonstrating qualifications 
for the examination pursuant to subparts 7 or 8 and must again comply with the 
provisions of part 6700.0600. 

Subp. 11. Confirmation of postsecondary education credits. An individual who 
receives reciprocity pursuant to subp. 7, item C will have five years to complete 60 
postsecondary education credits after their Minnesota Peace Officer License becomes 
active. Once the college credit requirement has been met, a transcript must by supplied to 
the Executive Director for verification. If an individual fails to complete 60 
postsecondary education credits within five years of their peace officer license becoming 
active, their peace officer license will be rescinded. An individual who’s peace officer 
license is rescinded for failure to complete the postsecondary education credit 
requirement may not regain their license until they meet the credit requirement; and no 
earlier than 6 months from the date their license was rescinded. If an individual meets the 
requirement and regains employment between 6 months and 1 year from the date their 
license was rescinded, their license may be reactivated without having to complete 
Minnesota’s peace officer preservice training program. Individuals may not use the 
experience they gained while working in Minnesota under subp. 7, item C as years of 
experience to qualify for the reciprocity exam under subp. 7, item A or B.  

Subp. 10 12. Applicability. This part shall not apply to a person who holds a 
lapsed, revoked, rescinded, or currently or permanently suspended peace officer license 
or certificate. 



1 MINNESOTA RULES 6700.0601 
 
6700.0601 EXAMINATION STANDARDS. 

Subpart 1. Grounds for denial Prohibited Conduct . Violations of the following standards 
shall be grounds to deny an applicant to take an examination or to deny or revoke eligibility for a 
license The following conduct is prohibited and may result in sanctions by the board: 

A. making any false material statement to the board; 

B. communicating with any other person in any way during an examination, except with 
the express permission of the monitor obstructing a board investigation; 

C. referring to books or any study material during the examination, except with the express 
permission of the monitor communication with another person during the examination without 
express permission from the proctor; 

D. obstructing a board investigation using or referring to outside materials during the 
examination; 

E. without board authorization, possessing a copy of any of the board's examinations 
cheating or attempting to subvert the examination or licensing process; 

F. aiding another person to violate items A to E possessing or attempting to possess or 
manufacture a copy of the board’s examination without the board’s permission; or 

G. failing to meet the minimum selection standards for licensure as a peace officer under 
part 6700.0700. being banned from testing center locations;  

H. aiding another individual in attempting or executing an act of prohibited examination 
conduct listed in items A through F; or 

I. falsely claiming or failing to meet the minimum selection standards for peace officer 
licensure as described in part 6700.0700 except for subpart 1, items C, J, and K.  

Subp. 2. [Repealed, 47 SR 1120] 

Subp. 3. [Repealed, 47 SR 1120] 

Subp 4. Sanctions. In addition to any actions provided in part 6700.1710, a violation of any of 
the provisions listed in subpart 1 may be grounds for the board to deny or revoke:  

A. an individual’s application to take one of the licensing examinations; or  

B. an individual’s license eligibility. 

Subp. 5. Procedures. Disciplinary proceedings under this part shall be conducted in accordance 
with MN Statute, section 214.10 subdivisions 11-12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 11



SONAR EXCERPT 

6700.0601 PROHIBITED EXAMINATION CONDUCT AND SANCTIONS 
STANDARDS 
 
 Part 6700.0601 discusses the conduct that is explicitly prohibited when taking the peace 
officer licensing exam. The title of this part was amended to more clearly inform readers which 
examination standards are being addressed in this section. Specifically, this part addresses 
prohibited examination conduct and the sanctions that may be imposed for participating in such 
conduct.  
 
 Subpart 1. The previous text of subpart 1 was deleted from the proposed rule and 
replaced with language that is more concise. Specifically, the title of subpart 1 was changed from 
“grounds for denial” to “prohibited conduct.” The new text of subpart 1, not unlike the previous 
text, goes on to state that the conduct described within this part is prohibited and may result in 
sanctions by the board. The language within subpart 1 that discusses the specific consequences 
for participating in prohibited conduct was removed. The sanctions for participating in prohibited 
conduct are discussed in the new subpart 4 of this part. The change is needed and reasonable to 
improve the rule’s organizational structure. 

 
  B. The text of item B was stricken and replaced with what was item D 
(“obstructing a board investigation”). The text from item D was moved to item B because 
it more closely relates to the prohibited conduct described in item A. This changes results 
in like items being grouped together. This change is intuitive and makes organizational 
sense.  
 
  C. Item C was stricken and replaced with what was previously item B. The phrase 
“in any way” that was originally in item B was removed to make the provision more 
concise.  
 
  D. The previous text of item D was stricken and replaced. Item D, like the 
previous item C, prohibits the use of outside study materials during the examination.  
 
  E. The previous text of item E was stricken and replaced. Item E now prohibits 
individual from cheating or attempting to subvert the examination or licensing process. 
This provision is also found in part 6700.1600 regarding standards of conduct. Pulling in 
this provision from the Standards of Conduct section promotes continuity among the rule 
segments.  
 
  F. The previous text of item F was stricken and replaced with what was item E. In 
addition to possessing a copy of the board’s examination without the board’s permission, 
attempting to manufacture of copy of the board’s examination was added as a type of 
conduct that is prohibited. This addition is needed and reasonable as possessing a copy of 
the board’s examination is only possible if someone went through the trouble of 
manufacturing a copy of the exam.  
 
  G. The text of item G was stricken. Item G states “being banned from testing 
center locations” is prohibited conduct. The board contracts with professional 



SONAR EXCERPT 

organizations who specialize in delivering licensing examinations. If a student is unable to 
enter or access a testing center location because they previously violated the testing 
center’s rules or standards of conduct, that individual will not be able to take the 
examination. To be banned or trespassed from a testing center, the applicant would have 
had to demonstrate or participate in deplorable behavior that violates the testing center’s 
rules or policies. This provision is needed and reasonable to ensure peace officer 
examination applicants are conducting themselves in a respectable and professional 
manner when taking or attempting to take the examination. 
 
  H. Item H, states individuals are prohibited from “aiding another individual in 
attempting or executing an act of prohibited examination conduct listed in items A through 
F.” If an individual is assisting another person in their commission of prohibited conduct, 
they are liable and responsible for the conduct as well. This provision allows the board to 
hold individual accountable for their role in aiding another to violate the board’s rules.  
 
             I. Item I is new. Per the proposed rule changes in 6700.0300, preservice training 
participants will have to sign a statement in which they attest they meet the minimum 
selection standards for peace officer licensure as described in part 6700.0700, except for 
subpart 1, items C, J and K. This provision allows the board to act if an individual falsely 
claims to meet those standards. The actions that may be taken by the board are covered in 
subpart 4. This section is needed and reasonable to ensure that individuals are not taking 
the examination if they do not meet the standards prescribe in part 6700.0700. It is a 
misuse of time and funds to allow individuals to take the peace officer licensing 
examination if they do not qualify for a licensure.  
 
Subpart 4. The new subpart 4, titled “Sanctions,” discusses the actions to board may take 

against an examination applicant for participating in prohibited examination conduct. 
Specifically, this subpart states that a violation of any of the provisions listed in subpart 1 may be 
grounds for the board to deny or revoke an individual’s application to take the examination or an 
individual’s license eligibility. This process would adhere/follow the guidelines prescribed in the 
Administrative Procedures Act. This section is needed and reasonable to inform test takers of 
consequences that may be implemented if they participate in prohibited examination conduct.  

 
Subpart 5. The new subpart 5, titled “Procedures,” states that disciplinary proceedings 

under this part will be conducted pursuant to MN Statute, section 214.10 subdivision 11-12. This 
section is needed and reasonable to let readers know this process is not arbitrary and that the 
board will be following applicable state statutes related to discipline. The APA allows 
individuals to contest the board’s decisions through OAH via a contested case hearing.  
 

ITEM 13a



6700.2100 SCOPE. 

The board recognizes the importance of the need for each agency and appointing 
authority to have and to use written procedures for the investigation and resolution of 
allegations of misconduct. The agency and appointing authority have the responsibility 
to impose the disciplinary sanctions they find appropriate for misconduct that occurs. 
Nothing in parts 6700.2000 to 6700.2600 shall be interpreted or is intended to authorize 
the board to approve, deny, or modify in any manner sanctions which may or may not be 
imposed by the agency or appointing authority. 
 
6700.2200 DEVELOPMENT OF WRITTEN PROCEDURES. 

On or before October 1, 1984, the The board recognizes the need for each agency and 
appointing authority to have and to use published procedures for the investigation and 
resolution of allegations of misconduct. The chief law enforcement officer shall establish 
written procedures for the investigation and resolution of allegations of misconduct against 
licensees employed or appointed by the chief's agency. These procedures shall minimally 
specify: 

A. the misconduct which may result in disciplinary action; 

B. the process by which complaints will be investigated; 

C. the sanctions which may be imposed if a complaint is sustained; 

D. the appeal process for the licensee; 

E. the process which will be used to notify the complainant of the 
investigation and disposition; and 

F. the effective date of the procedures or subsequent modifications of the 
procedures. 

The procedures established according to this part must comply with model policies 
and Minnesota Statute, section 626.845, subdivision 1. Copies of current procedures 
governing allegations of misconduct shall be available to the public on request. 
Copies of published procedures governing allegations of misconduct and any 
subsequent modifications of the procedures shall be distributed by an agency to 
licensees who are employed or appointed by the agency. 

 
 
 
 

Redact 

ITEM 12



6700.2300 AFFIRMATION OF COMPLIANCE. 

The chief law enforcement officer shall affirm to the board compliance with part 
6700.2200 no later than October 15, 1984. If an agency begins operation after October 
1, 1984, the chief law enforcement officer shall affirm to the board compliance with part 
6700.2200 no later than 15 days after the agency begins operation. 
 
6700.2400 COPIES OF PROCEDURES. 

Copies of current written procedures governing allegations of misconduct shall be 
available to the public on request. Copies of written procedures governing allegations of 
misconduct and any subsequent modifications of the procedures shall be distributed by 
an agency to licensees who are employed or appointed by the agency. 

 

6700.2500 DOCUMENTATION OF COMPLAINTS. 

The chief law enforcement officer or designee or designees shall maintain data 
concerning alleged misconduct by licensees employed or appointed by the agency 
according to the provisions of Minnesota Statutes, sections 15.17 and 15.171. The board 
may request copies of this data. The chief law enforcement officer shall supply the data in 
and an affidavit of compliance with part 6700.2200, item B to the board within five days 
of the request, or by the date specified in the Board’s request, of the request, whichever 
is longer, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays. If compliance is not possible 
within that time, the chief law enforcement officer shall inform the board and shall have 
an additional five days to comply with the request, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays. 

 

Redact 

Redact 



SONAR EXCERPT 

6700.2100 SCOPE  

 This part was redacted because it is not necessary.  

6700.2200 DEVELOPMENT OF WRITTEN PUBLISHED PROCEDURES 

 The title of 6700.2200 was amended to “published procedures” as opposed to “written 
procedures” because of advancements in technology. Rather than being written and displayed 
somewhere, procedures are now commonly posted on the internet, in a shared drive, or in 
another digital location/format.   

The phrase “On or before October 1, 1984, the” was removed from the rule because it’s 
no longer necessary. This part now begins with a purpose statement that was taken and modified 
from part 6700.2100. The purpose statement tells readers that the board recognizes the need for 
each agency and the appointing authority to have and use published procedures for the 
investigation and resolution of allegations of misconduct. This section states all law enforcement 
agencies should have established procedures for the investigation and resolution of alleged 
misconduct. The word “written” was stricken and replaced with “published” as policies are 
commonly published online or in an electronic format- making written paper copies obsolete. 
The word “chiefs” was replaced with “law enforcement” to make the rule’s intent clearer.  

The last paragraph includes information from 6700.2300 and 6700.2400. This paragraph 
states that “The procedures established according to this part must comply with model policies 
and Minnesota Statute, section 626.0845, subdivision 1.” This is sentence was added to provide 
CLEOs direction as to where they can get additional information on how to develop the required 
written procedures. This sentence also makes it clear to CLEOs that there are other rules and 
statutes that their procedures must follow. The last two sentences of this paragraph state that 
current copies of the procedures must be published and available to the public upon request and 
furnished to all licensees employed by the agency. This language was taken and adapted from 
part 6700.2400 in an effort consolidate this portion of chapter 6700. 

6700.2300 AFFIRMATION OF COMPLIANCE 

 This rule part is obsolete and no longer necessary.  

6700.2400 COPIES OF PROCEDURES 

 This rule part was redacted. The relevant information was moved to 6700.2200. This 
change was needed and reasonable to consolidate this section of the rules.   

6700.2500 DOCUMENTATION OF COMPLAINTS 

 The word “alleged” was added in front of the term “misconduct” to make it uniform with 
other rule parts. CLEOs must retain records on sustained and alleged reports of misconduct per 
MN Statute, section 626.8457. Reference to Minnesota Statute section 15.171 was removed as 
that statute was repealed and no longer exists. The phrase “in and an affidavit of compliance with 



SONAR EXCERPT 

part 6700.2200, item B” was removed as this is not a standard practice or operating procedure 
utilized by POST staff. Lastly, it is common for the POST Board to give CLEOs longer than 5 
days to submit misconduct data after a formal request has been made. Language was added to 
state that misconduct data needs to be supplied by the date specified in the formal request, which 
will not be fewer than five days. This will allow CLEOs a reasonable period to comply with a 
data request from the board.  

 



1 
 

Comprehensive Transition to Academy Model 
 

 

Implementation Tasks Resource Allocation 
• Update Job Task Analysis (JTA) • POST Project Lead and manager 
• Refine all preservice learning 

objectives with focus on entry-level 
officer requirements and improve 
clarity & efficacy of assessment and 
accountability 

• POST Preservice Education 
Coordinator  

• POST Testing and Licensing 
Coordinator  

• Contracted Project Lead 
• Design & Develop Benchmark 

Assessments 
• Contracted Instructional Designer 
• Contracted Psychometrician 

• Develop program map  
• Finalize and validate program and 

integrate into updated licensure 
examination 

• POST facilitate work with single 
source vendor (Kansas) and pilot 
skills school  

• Single source contract allocation 
• Certify academy providers based on 

updated program requirements 
 

• Select pilot program(s), test and 
evaluate 

 

• Deploy fully according to Board 
approved timeline 

 

• Plan for current and mid-program 
candidates’ navigation of transition 

• Communication/rollout plan 
• Create stakeholder advisory 

committee to meet annually 

 

Cost Rule changes Legislative Changes Timeline 
~ $1,000,000 

depending 
on SOW 

Comprehensive 
changes to 

6700.0300 and .0400 

Minimal - technical 
language changes. Minn. 

Stats. 626.843 and 
626.845 

3-5 years from 
initiation to 

implementation 
-Will also require 

a phase out 
timeline for 

current PPOE 
enrollees 

ITEM 14a



2 
 

 

PRO CON 
~IADLEST deficiencies will be addressed. ~Most time consuming of 

options available 
~In line with national best practices and integrated 
learning 

~Strong resistance from some 
quarters 

~Aligns with Board’s long-term goal to modernize 
preservice training ~High complexity 

~Improved input from practitioners and customers 
~Will require a lot of 
resources, both in cost and 
personnel 

~More flexibility and agility to address changes in the 
profession 

~Some may argue it reduces 
educational opportunities 

~Better oversight and ability to evaluate results and 
effectiveness ~Complex transition period 

~Clear path for career changers and Non-LE degree 
holders   

~Potential for future state funding (ICPOET)   

~Minimum selection standards uniformly enforced   

~Utilizes current "skills" schools (regional 
representation)   

~Ensures consistency in preservice training state-wide   

~System is focused on effective training and results, not 
enrollment concerns   

~Brings control of preservice back to the 
profession/practitioners/SME's/public   

~Reduced costs for applicants with degrees from "non-
PPOE" schools   

~Possible reimbursement to agencies and candidates 
for cost of training, salary, etc.   

~Removes need for multiple pathways to licensure  

~Opportunity for closer alignment between preservice 
and in-service training   

~Provides agencies opportunity to be vertically 
integrated in hiring  

~Benefits underserved communities in that academy 
would be lower cost than current non-traditional route 
where students likely spend another year (time and 
tuition) completing PPOE 

 



3 
 

Standardization/Integration of Categories 3-4 "skills" 

 

 

 

 

  

Implementation Tasks Resource Allocation 
• Refine preservice learning objectives 

focus on categories 3 and 4 
• Enhance practical application of 

concepts from categories 1 and 2 to 3 
and 4 

• POST Project Lead and manager 
• POST Preservice Education 

Coordinator 
• POST Testing and Licensing 

Coordinator  
• Develop program map • Contracted Project Lead 
• Specify programming time (hours) • Contracted Instructional Designer 
• Update licensure examination 
• Recertify Skills providers based on 

updated program requirements  
• Select pilot program(s), test and 

evaluate  
• Deploy fully to skills schools according 

to Board approved timeline 
• Update JTA 
• Review current training to figure out 

what’s missing or inconsistent 
• Get feedback from instructors and 

students after pilot programs 
 

• POST facilitate work with single 
source vendor (Kansas) and pilot 
skills school(s) 

• Single source contract allocation 

Cost Rule changes Legislative Changes Timeline 
$200,000 to 
$500,000 
depending on 
SOW 

Technical 
changes to 
6700.0300 and 
.0400 focused on 
skills 

Minimal - technical 
language changes. 
Minn. Stats. 626.843 
and 626.845, if any 

2 years from 
initiation to 
implementation 



4 
 

PRO CON 
~Some IADLEST deficiencies will be 
addressed 

~Lacks full integration of categories 1 and 2 
with "skills" (maintains "block" training model) 

~Improved input from practitioners and 
customers 

~Training disparities in non-skill areas remain 

~Better predictability/expectations for 
agencies for a basic uniform level of 
training regardless of which program was 
attended 

~Ability to assess/evaluate effectiveness is 
limited in that variables in categories 1 and 2 
are not controlled 

~Better oversight and ability to evaluate 
results and effectiveness 

 ~Does not allow for vertical integration of 
agency recruitment and hiring 

~Clear path for career changers and 
Non-LE degree holders 

  

~Potential for future state funding 
(ICPOET) 

  

~Minimum selection standards uniformly 
enforced   

~Utilizes current "skills" schools (regional 
representation)   

~Possible reimbursement to agencies 
and candidates for cost of training, 
salary, etc. 

  

~Shorter timeframe/phase-in/phase-out   

~Create stakeholder advisory committee 
to meet annually 

 

 

 



5 
 

Implement Rule 6700.0400 - Schools must provide all 
learning objective categories in order to be certified 

  

Implementation Tasks Resource Allocation 
• Refine all preservice learning 

objectives with focus on entry-level 
officer requirements and improve 
clarity & efficacy of assessment and 
accountability 

• POST Project Lead and manager 
• POST Preservice Education 

Coordinator  
• Contracted Project Lead 
• Contracted Instructional Designer 

• Enhance practical application of 
concepts from categories 1 and 2 to 3 
and 4 

• POST facilitate work with single 
source vendor (Kansas) 

• Single source contract allocation 
• Design & develop benchmark 

assessments 
 

• Recertify PPOE providers based on 
updated program requirements 
(integration of all LO categories) 

• Update JTA 
• Create criteria to check if schools are 

ready to teach every category 
• Create stakeholder advisory 

committee to meet annually 

 

Cost Rule changes Legislative Changes Timeline 
~ $200,000 Technical 

changes to 
6700.0300 and 
.0400  

Minimal - technical 
language changes. 
Minn. Stats. 626.843 
and 626.845, if any 

2 years from 
initiation to 
implementation 



6 
 

  
PRO CON 

~Relatively little change – all skills 
schools remain in operation 

~Lacks full integration of categories 1 and 2 
with "skills" (maintains "block" training model) 

~Possibly lower variation in how 
candidates are trained due to reduced 
number of schools 

~Less variation and consistency is not 
guaranteed 

~No changes required in funding 
mechanisms 

~Ability to assess/evaluate effectiveness is 
limited in that variables in categories 1 and 2 
are not affected/uniform 

~Improved possibility for collaboration 
among providers 

 ~Efforts at collaboration and uniformity of 
training is random and subject to unknown 
variables between providers 

~Increase acceptance for further 
standardization in the future 

 ~Does not allow for vertical integration of 
agency recruitment and hiring 

~Better opportunity for oversight  ~Relatively little to no ROI is likely 

~Easier to enforce minimum selection 
standards  ~Does not address IADLEST audit issues 

~Utilizes current "skills" schools (regional 
representation)   

~Each school will know exactly how 
categories 1 and 2 are being taught and 
can more easily address gaps, 
shortcomings, etc. 

  

~Shorter timeframe/phase-in/phase-out   

~Improved accountability  

~Eliminates the break/hand-off of 
students from non-skill schools to skills 
schools 

 

 

 



                  Board of Peace Officer Standards and Training 
                             1600 University Avenue, Suite 200, Saint Paul, MN 55104 
                             (651) 643-3060 | www.mn.gov/post 

 
 

AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 
 

 

DATE: June 11, 2025 

TO: MN POST BOARD  

FROM: POST Staff 

SUBJECT: PPOE Coordinator Focus Group Summary  

 As directed by the Rules Committee and POST Board, POST Staff hosted a focus group 
meeting with PPOE Coordinators who have not yet been a part of the rulemaking process to discuss 
the standardization of and proposed changes to peace officer preservice education (Administrative 
Rules 6700.0300 and 6700.0400). The rule drafts presented to the focus group were the same as 
those provided to the POST Board at its meeting on April 24, 2025. During the focus group 
meeting, which was held on May 19, 2025, PPOE Coordinators (22) were asked to consider and 
answer the following questions below.  

• How can standardization be achieved in the current PPOE model? 
• How can standardization be achieved outside of the PPOE model?  
• When considering the proposed rule drafts, what sections or segments of the proposed rules 

do you support, and which do you oppose?  
• Why do you support or oppose the rule segments you identified?  

Summary 

The PPOE Coordinators, or participants, were opposed to the complete standardization of 
peace officer preservice training as described in the proposed rules. The basis for opposition to the 
proposed rules were academic freedom, quality, accessibility, and cost. After much discussion, 
participants came to the consensus that, if the POST Board does decide to standardize preservice 
education, it should start with the psychomotor skills component. Those who spoke in support of 
the standardization of skills made comments such as, “standardizing skills should be relatively 
easy” and “we should 100% standardize skills.” Participants, especially the coordinators of 
programs that offer the skills component, stated they would like to actively participate in the 
development of the standardized program when the POST Board officially begins that process. 
After reaching consensus on how standardization could be achieved in the current PPOE system, 
the group discussed what areas of skills could or should be standardized, to what extent, and who 
should determine the standards.   

During their discussion, participants advocated for an advisory group (as included in the 
proposed rule) to assist in the development a standardized skills program. The coordinators stated 
the advisory group should consist of subject matter experts and PPOE Coordinators in order to 
ensure the program accurately reflects best practices and current law. During the meeting, POST 
Staff relayed the training deficiencies brought up by law enforcement practitioners during their 

ITEM 13b

http://www.mn.gov/post


 
 

focus group meetings. The coordinators stated that learning objectives subject to standardization 
within skills should include the new hire deficiencies identified by law enforcement. The non-
exhaustive list of specific learning objectives participants stated should be standardized in skills 
includes: 

• defensive tactics/use of force, 
• firearms (specifically the final course of fire and the percentage required to pass the final 

qualification),  
• physical training (specifically the final PT test),  
• evidence collection, 
• report writing, and 
• constitutional law.  

When discussing who should be responsible for establishing the new standards (i.e. the 
schools, law enforcement, or the POST Board), one participant openly opined that the board should 
decide to ensure the standards are followed. On this topic, the group discussed the fact that, some 
years ago, the skills PPOE Coordinators got together to discuss what and how they could 
standardize their programs. From what POST staff gleaned from this conversation, decisions and 
agreements were made during that process but the work failed to come to fruition. This would not 
happen if the POST Board set/determined program standardization as the POST Board is the 
regulatory entity with jurisdiction over peace officer preservice training and education. During this 
conversation, a few coordinators offered to develop a working group to begin the standardization 
process among the schools as opposed to leaving it to the board.   

Points for the Board’s Consideration  

After discussing the training deficiencies noted by law enforcement, one member of the 
group stated that a contributing factor may be the length or duration of skills. According to the 
PPOE Coordinators, skills used to be 12 weeks. In recent years, skills was shortened to 10 weeks 
and then again to 8 weeks. This discussion led to the conclusion that skills may simply not be long 
enough to thoroughly cover the learning objectives, let alone sufficiently integrate them. This point 
was highlighted by one coordinator who stated their school had to move traffic code to the 
academic portion of their program because they couldn’t fit it into skills after reducing the program 
to 8 weeks. During this discussion, there seemed to be a general consensus that the skills programs 
are not long enough.  

 During the meeting, it was mentioned that the instructor requirements listed in the proposed 
rules were appreciated and beneficial for ensuring qualified individuals are teaching future law 
enforcement officers (this isn’t to say individuals aren’t qualified now, but the rule makes the 
requirements and expectations explicit).  

While discussing the standardization of skills, several individuals stated that it may be hard 
to tell skills to standardize when the academic schools themselves produce students with different 
skills and knowledge sets – which in some instances forces skills providers to pick up the slack. 
On this topic, the group debated how schools covering the academic portion of preservice training 



 
 

could “tighten” up their programs to better prepare students for skills. One coordinator suggested 
that while the POST Board works to standardize skills, they should also work to enhance the other 
learning objectives by adding more “meat” so there is no question as to what should be covered or 
how those learning objectives should be integrated in the academic “classroom” portion of 
preservice training.    

 Toward the end of the meeting, one coordinator asked if the POST Board intended to switch 
to an all or nothing model (meaning schools have to teach all of the learning objectives or they 
can’t be certified). The group was informed that this was a decision for the POST Board1 to make, 
but that it could be a possibility.  

 In conclusion, if the POST Board decides to move forward with the standardization of 
peace officer preservice training, there is consensus among the PPOE Coordinators who 
participated in this focus group that the board should start with skills. The coordinators would like 
to be included in the standardization process and offered up several ideas regarding what and how 
standardization could be achieved. The two areas of the proposed rules that were supported by the 
group were 1) the creation and use of an advisory group to develop the standardized training 
program and 2) the detailed instructor requirements.   

 

 

 
1 Administrative Rules 6700.0300 and 6700.0400 do not call for a bifurcated training system (i.e. academic 
training and psychomotor skills training). The current bifurcated system is the result of how the colleges and 
universities have decided to organize and manage the learning objectives provided to them by the POST 
Board. Administrative Rule 6700.0300 subpart 3 suggests that PPOE providers are expected to provide 
instruction on all of the learning objectives. However, to date, the rule has not been enforced in that manner.   



                  Board of Peace Officer Standards and Training 
                             1600 University Avenue, Suite 200, Saint Paul, MN 55104 
                             (651) 643-3060 | www.mn.gov/post 

 
 

 
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

 

 

DATE: June 11, 2025 

TO: MN POST BOARD  

FROM: POST Staff 

SUBJECT: Community Member/Representative Focus Group Summary  

 As directed by the Rules Committee and POST Board, on May 20, 2025, POST Staff hosted a 
focus group meeting with community members/representatives to discuss the standardization of and 
proposed changes to peace officer preservice education (Administrative Rules 6700.0300 and 6700.0400). 
The rule drafts presented to the focus group were the same as those provided to the POST Board during 
its April 24, 2025, meeting. At the start of the focus group session, POST Staff asked the participants how 
familiar they were with peace officer preservice training. The group’s familiarity with preservice 
education ranged from “very familiar” to “not familiar at all.” Staff then presented a slide deck that 
provided the community representatives information on how preservice training is currently done in the 
State of Minnesota. The community representatives were then asked to consider the following questions 
and provide their input. 

• What shortcomings do you believe exist within the current PPOE system?  
• Do you believe standardization could rectify the issues within the PPOE system?  
• To what extent should the Board standardize preservice training?  
• Do you think members of the public would be better served as a result of a standardized training 

regimen?  

The community representatives reached consensus and stated the POST Board should standardize 
preservice training. One member was in favor of full standardization, while others felt a more gradual 
approach to standardization would be appropriate (i.e. the standardization of skills). Community members 
considered standardization a perfect opportunity for community involvement and posited the process 
should be viewed by everyone (community members, colleges, and law enforcement) as an opportunity 
rather than a form of corrective action. The community members discussed the questions above and 
offered the following opinions: 

• The current system seems to make it difficult for the board to gauge compliance with the learning 
objectives.  

• Its problematic recruits are exiting training with different skill sets and levels.  
• Standardization could have promising results if done collaboratively. 
• Standardization seems like a best practice we should adopt.  

During the meeting, the community members/representatives asked what the standardized 
program would look like. Staff informed the group that the program and its content was yet to be 
determined, but that the current learning objectives would most likely be used as a starting point or base 
for the program. The community representatives stated they would like to continue to be a part of this 

ITEM 13c

http://www.mn.gov/post


 
 
process and that, when the time comes, they want to help the POST Board determine what training 
standards to implement. Specifically, one group member stated, “we recognize the upside of standardized 
education . . . we also want to make sure that the standards which get chosen reflect community input.” 
On this matter, the community representatives expressed their support for the provision in the drafted rule 
which states the program will be developed with an advisory group consisting of subject matter experts. 
Lastly, the community members opined that the program should not be so rigid that instructors are 
disallowed from extrapolating (to an extent) on certain learning objectives. For example, one community 
member stated they would like instructors to be able to expand on topics, like pretextual stops, to discuss 
their implications in minority communities as opposed to only permitting instructors to cover statutes and 
case law.   

In conclusion, the community representatives were in favor of standardizing preservice training 
with the majority stating standardization should begin with skills. The group felt this endeavor would be 
a great opportunity for community involvement and stated they want to help when the time comes.  

 

 

 

 



Powered by 1MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Minnesota CLEO                      
Pre-Service Survey

June 2025 
126 Total CLEO Responses

ITEM 13d



Powered by 2MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

• No major POST pre-service improvements or restructuring in almost 50 years while policing continues to 
change. 

• ICPOET and Pathways to Policing created by outside entities in recent years to fill gaps in the POST pre-
service training.

• 2020 IADLEST Audit.

• Course content and outcomes vary greatly throughout the state.

• Minnesota is one of the only states that uses an entirely college-based system.

• Minnesota is only one of seven states that does not have a standardized curriculum or training protocol for    
preservice peace officer training.

• Survey used to determine needs from POST’s end users; law enforcement agencies and communities.

BACKGROUND



Powered by 3MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q1: What is your position with your agency?

99.21%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.79%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Chief/Sheriff Supervisor Field Training
Coordinator

Field Training Officer Other (please specify)



Powered by 4MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q2: I have participated in or been a part of a preservice focus group 
and/or academy preservice presentation with POST staff.

19.05%

80.95%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Yes No



Powered by 5MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q3: Are you directly involved with orientation 
and training of newly hired officers?

69.05%

30.95%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Yes No



Powered by 6MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q4: Where did you receive your pre-service training?

88.33%

0.00%

11.67%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

MN Professional Peace Officer
Education (PPOE) system

MN BCA School Police academy training in another
state



Powered by 7MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q5: If you received your preservice training via MN POST       
PPOE, do you feel you were adequately trained for basic 
police work upon hire?

0.93%
4.67%

19.63%

32.71%

42.06%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

NOT ADEQUATELYTRAINED SOMEWHAT TRAINED ADEQUATELYTRAINED



Powered by 8MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q6: Adult Learning - An "Integrated curriculum" in law enforcement training is a teaching approach that combines various 
subjects, skills, and knowledge areas into a unified and cohesive learning experience, rather than teaching them in isolation
or "silos". The goal is to provide recruits with a more holistic understanding of law enforcement work by blending theory and
practical application across different topics. Rate your familiarity with integrated curriculum concepts.

13.33% 12.50%

40.00%

17.50% 16.67%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

NOT FAMILIAR FAMILIARSOMEWHAT FAMILIAR



Powered by 9MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q7: I am familiar with adult learning principles in 
education settings.

3.42%
10.26%

37.61%

22.22%
26.50%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

NOT FAMILIAR SOMEWHAT FAMILIAR FAMILIAR



Powered by 10MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q8: I am knowledgeable on topics related to best 
practices in peace officer preservice training.

5.04%
10.08%

33.61%
37.82%

13.45%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

NOT FAMILIAR SOMEWHAT FAMILIAR FAMILIAR



Powered by 11MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q9: I am familiar with how peace officer 
training academies are run in other states.

40.80%
47.20%

12.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Not familiar with how peace officer
training academies are run in other

states.

Somewhat familiar with how peace
officer training academies are run in

other states.

Familiar with how peace officer
training academies are run in other

states.



Powered by 12MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q10: Current PPOE System-
Please rate your satisfaction with the overall quality of PPOE 
graduates entering employment with your agency.

6.84%
13.68%

47.01%

22.22%

10.26%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

DISSATISFIED SOMEWHAT SATISFIED SATISFIED



Powered by 13MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q11: In my experience, new hires from PPOE are not 
able to enter field training without some type of 
retraining in basic skills.

16.00%

38.40%

26.40%

15.20%

4.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 14MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q12: I have noticed different levels of preparedness for field 
training when I have hired PPOE graduates that attended different 
PPOE schools.

20.97%

46.77%

28.23%

4.03%
0.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 15MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q13: I think it is important to ensure recent preservice training 
graduates are trained to a consistent, foundational level regardless of 
which PPOE school they attended.

59.20%

34.40%

6.40%
0.00% 0.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 16MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q14: I think it is important that career-changers and those that hold 
non-law enforcement post-secondary degrees have a clear and 
efficient path to enter the profession.

48.00%
40.80%

9.60%

0.80% 0.80%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 17MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q15: I believe our current PPOE system gives non-law 
enforcement post-secondary degree holders and career-
changers a clear path to licensure.

6.45%

25.81%

39.52%

21.77%

6.45%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 18MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q16: I believe there should be standardization of 
preservice training/curriculum across all PPOE providers.

52.00%

40.00%

8.00%
0.00% 0.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 19MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q17: I think that higher education has too much 
input and influence in peace officer preservice 
training.

29.60%
33.60%

28.80%

7.20%
0.80%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 20MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q18: I think that law enforcement professionals, practitioners, and 
subject matter experts in the area of policing should have more 
input/influence in peace officer preservice training.

50.81%

41.94%

6.45%
0.81% 0.00%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 21MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q19: I think that Minnesota’s current PPOE system is efficient, up to 
date, and does not need to be changed; i.e. the quality of preservice 
training does not need improvement.

1.61%

12.10%

36.29% 34.68%

15.32%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 22MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q20: I think that Minnesota’s current PPOE system is 
inefficient, outdated, and needs to be changed to improve the 
quality of preservice training.

15.32%

37.10%
29.84%

12.90%
4.84%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 23MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q21: Future Pre-Service Options - Generally, a Peace Officer Training Academy is a specialized training facility 
where individuals interested in becoming law enforcement officers receive formal training in a standardized 
program. Training academies can be run by local or state law enforcement agencies, educational institutions, POST 
Boards, or some combination thereof. These academies deliver a comprehensive training program that 
encompasses both academic education as well as psychomotor skills and techniques. In short, training academies 
are designed to provide individuals interested in a career in law enforcement with the basic skills and knowledge 
necessary to become a peace officer regardless of what post-secondary degree they possess, or previous work 
experience they have in another field.

I would support an academy system with a standardized curriculum/program that ALL peace officer 
preservice training providers would have to adhere to and deliver.

32.80%
44.00%

13.60%
7.20%

2.40%
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 24MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q22: The following statements assume a standardized curriculum/program, regardless of 
who runs it.
I would support a central, state-run academy that all new officers in Minnesota 
(excluding reciprocity and military reciprocity candidates) would have to attend 
before becoming licensed.

19.20%

35.20%

22.40%
16.00%

7.20%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 25MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q23: I would support a regional academy system run exclusively 
by post-secondary (colleges) institutions.

4.88%

34.96% 34.96%

19.51%

5.69%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 26MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q24: I would support a system that would allow regional academies 
run by post-secondary institutions as well as law enforcement 
agencies that choose to do so.

12.90%

50.81%

26.61%

8.87%
0.81%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 27MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q25: I would support the academy being part of a degree 
program by post-secondary institutions.

17.60%

53.60%

20.80%

6.40%
1.60%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 28MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q26: I would support allowing academies to be run on a part-
time basis although the curriculum would still have to be 
followed.

8.87%

41.13%
36.29%

12.10%

1.61%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 29MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q27: For the following questions (definitions): 

OPEN academy means individuals can either be self or agency sponsored when attending the 
academy. 
CLOSED academy means only individuals that are agency sponsored may attend the academy. 
This means they have been vetted and hired by a law enforcement agency prior to enrolling in 
preservice training. 

I would support an “open academy” system.

19.20%

48.00%

17.60% 13.60%
1.60%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 30MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Q28: I would support a “closed academy” 
system.

10.40%

27.20% 30.40%
25.60%

6.40%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree



Powered by 31MINNESOTA BOARD OF PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

Questions



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Addendum 
Survey Comments 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Type text here
ITEM 13e



 

• My most harsh criticism to the current PPOE system is the quality of candidates that are 
completing the program that are not a fit for law enforcement. It appears to me, and many of my 
peers, that the college systems are allowing any person to go through the program, knowing that 
they are not going to be a qualified candidate for a career in law enforcement. 

 
• I went through Hibbing for my college and then went over to Wisconsin to get my first job. I like 

the academy setting in WI that allowed cadets from all walks of life regardless of their degree to 
become law enforcement officers. It offered a different and better culture in my mind than the MN 
program. We are missing out on so many non-traditional candidates now. 

 

• I would like to see law enforcement agencies responsible for the officer's salary when then attend 
the academy. I'm unsure what monies are available for small departments such as mine. As I’m 
from out of state (Iowa) everyone went to the same police academy for training and everyone was 
hired by their respective department and paid their basic 1st year salary. 

 

• If we enter a system where a person needs to attend an academy after being hired, it would make 
it very difficult for a small agency like mine (18 sworn) to replace vacancies in a timely manner. 
The actual hiring/background can take 2 months, the academy is likely several weeks, and then 
we have a 12-16 week field training program. We do not have the turn over to be able to hire and 
place into an academy for anticipated vacancies. We would start hiring once we get the 2 week 
resignation notice, which would make for a long period of time to get a replacement officer on the 
street if they need to attend an academy once hired by us. 

 

• we need to get back to teaching instead of preaching the school or the instructor’s personal 
beliefs! 

 

• It is important to know who would determine the curriculum/courses/skills that should be taught in 
any academy. 

 

• Just make it standardized across the board. Agency can have these recruits ride with them for a 
certain number of hours to get experience and real-life situations. So when they are done and 
ready to hit the road it is just getting them acquainted to the agency and not teaching them 
basics. Also saves agencies from having to wash someone in FTO as they will have some of that 
knowledge already and will have feedback to how they did as a recruit. Might help the recruits 
decide if they want to continue in this line of work also. 

 

• It is essential to eliminate the barriers to educated individuals who wish to change their careers 
and enter law enforcement. We are missing too many good candidates who can't go back to 
school for a 2-year degree (for a variety of reasons). The ICPOET program is a great example 
and model for a future "academy". Having received two grant awards through ICPOET, it led to 
the best hiring pool I have reviewed as Chief. 



• It is vital that local agencies be able to have a hand in academy training and academies be 
allowed to run locally or regionally. This would help speed up the on-boarding process for new 
recruits and allow for higher quality training tailored towards the sponsoring agency. 

 

• My strong opinion on this matter is that the Department of Public Safety, run and operate a 
Statewide academy, based on standards established by the MN POST Board. My preference 
would be to have only two state run academy's, one in southern MN - Mankato and one in 
Northern MN - Camp Ripley. The statewide academy needs to be objective, Departments running 
their own academy can be influenced by the need for officers or local control/pressure. The 
academy needs to be objective and not under political control - if a student fails, depending on 
their ability to recover and meet standards, give them a second opportunity. However, if they do 
not demonstrate the ability to meet objectives/standards - cut them loose. Current system is too 
inconsistent and when I was Chief of a medium size Department, I consistently noticed that 
applicants from one POST approved University consistently lack application and ability to do the 
job. 

 

• I would support state run academies, however, I am not fully supportive of the location being 
"centrally located". Not sure that local university students would be able to attend if schools were 
located in the metro. Also, out-state agencies may not be very well represented when applicants 
graduate if an open academy model is implemented 

 

• Some of the issues that we run into is when it comes to introductory training because many have 
had limited firearms and use of force training. These are integral parts. Attending a MNCIT course 
for de-escalation prior to completion of the degree would be wise as well. Also, a lot of reality-
based training scenarios. I mean more that the four or five that I recall going through. That should 
be a daily part of pre-service training. 

 

• I think these questions are unfair and too broad to be fully confident in the answers. Is there 
positives of an academy style class yes for example more officers possibly able to be hired, more 
maturity within the hiring pool. but with that comes questions. there are different styles of policing 
and I'm sorry the style they are taught in the cities isn't going to work in south Minnesota. Some of 
the tactics yes but style no. I think it is important to remember the students being hired out of the 
academy have the base knowledge and if anyone expects them to know more are dreaming. That 
is why you have FTO to show them how things are done in the department and to teach them 
more in-depth. I feel like with every school you have the star students that may have taken things 
more seriously are going to be more prepared besides the individual that did the bare minimum. 
There are going to have a day and night officer. So unfortunately if you hire the individual who 
doesn't shine so bright you are going to have a poor outlook on the PPOE system. I feel like this 
is going to be another program where they put the cart before the horse and there will be lawsuits 
to prove it when you are take the education aspect out of it. Also if you dont have it within the 
college systems how are students going to pay for this. There isn't enough money in the program 
to fund every student who goes through the academy program so how is that going to work out 
with no financial aid? I think this is g good in theory program but to get it fully off the ground we 
need to slow down and figure it fully out what we are going to do. I would rather have a good 
outlook of students coming out of it then questioning if they are capable to do the job. 

 



• I think the system we have works fine. Just need to have all colleges on the same page. We have 
not had any issues in the past. It also comes down to the individuals going into LE. Not everyone 
who goes through the training makes a good LE. Just have to face the facts. 

 

• I am not in favor of agencies hiring personnel and then sending them to an academy. I prefer our 
current system of education. I believe it produces a more rounded, educated person rather than 
simply teaching singular law enforcement topics. 

 

• Overall, this concept is a huge lift not worth the work. While I believe that the current PPOE 
system does not work well and many instructors get positions because of who they know and not 
their actual skill set, students pass PPOE who should not pass. Creating a cookie cutter program 
is equally as bad in a best case scenario. Besides basic criminal interviewing, criminal code and 
SFST's almost everything else is agency dependent, tactics, policies, etc.. How would an 
academy approach that, it's impossible. The result is that there is no change for the agency. We 
still need to teach department operating procedures, which is the bulk of any internal academy. 

 

• Regional academies (run by an agency and/or school) overseen by POST and following a 
standardized program would be outstanding. Minnesota has for too long allowed non-law 
enforcement public learning institutions have too much input and control of police training. Put 
more emphasis on the police training from an accredited training location (whether agency or a 
higher learning institution) and less on "I have a degree". There are thousands of outstanding 
police officers in the U.S. without a "degree" and many terrible officers in the ranks just because 
they have a degree. Standardized training across the state is what is most important, not the 
amount of time they have sat in a random college teaching whatever they want to teach. 

 

• I feel strongly that the state should switch to an academy system to ensure that candidates are 
trained properly. 

 

• I feel allowing agencies (think SPPD, MPLS PD, HCSO, RCSO, MSP) to run their own 
academies and take applicants with no prior education places them at an advantage over smaller 
agencies that do not have full time training staff. I do not support agency sponsored stand along 
academies but feel we should have a centralized, state sponsored academy that agencies send 
their hired applicants to before returning for field training. 

 

• What we are doing isn't working anymore, and we need to stop being so resistive to change and 
growth. Full support to look into and try new options, with preference to a hybrid model 

 

• Great survey. Long overdue in my opinion. One academy run by the state like the State Patrol 
Academy. Everyone will be trained the same. We only need one location in the state for this like 
Camp Ripley or similar. Thank you for looking into this. 

 



• The shift in candidate quality coming out of peace officer education programs is very concerning 
to me as a CLEO of a smaller agency. The skills, knowledge, understanding and overall 
readiness has declined significantly over my 14 years as the CLEO or the second in command of 
our agency. Having one of my adult age children attending a PPOE, I have also gained 
knowledge on the required courses being instructed upon. I believe the required courses are 
relevant and necessary, but those same courses fall short on what is actually needed to be 
instructed upon to be a successful peace officer in the State of Minnesota. I also feel as those 
candidates coming out possessing a four-year degree struggle even more to acclimate and have 
success in the profession. 

 

• Have not utilized PPOE due to no school near me being involved. Defeats the purpose by having 
them to leave the area, family, job etc. We need a state funded academy so anyone with a 
degree can attend. Minnesota is all alone in our current system and it significantly hurts our ability 
to fill vacancies. What was once a model for hiring police officers has become antiquated and a 
filter that inhibits our ability to hire! We need to evolve before it's too late. Thank you for your 
forward thinking efforts. 

 

• I think that a closed system could adversely impact small agencies that do not have the funding to 
hire an officer and then send them through training. 

 

• I think the PPOE system in the degree phase seems to be working well. It is the SKILLS portion 
of the PPOE that I feel the ball is being dropped and greater standardization regardless of who is 
doing the training needs to occur. I also think that better screening of persons entering the PPOE 
programs should occur on the front end to ensure that persons are not spending money on an 
education that they will not be able to use to become licensed. The only requirement should not 
be the check cleared. 

• Back in the 1970's Minnesota had an "academy" which they went away from in 1979. Sounds like 
The POST Board wants to go back to the old way of doing things. 

 

• We have seen eligible to be licensed candidates that: - severely lack basic interpersonal 
communication skills - backgrounds that are a complete disaster (criminal, behavioral, mental 
health issues) - total lack of understanding of basic police principles 

 

• Having these extra requirements are going to be a huge cost to smaller agencies. 

 

• A state run academy would be a disaster. That would allow politicians to get their way and train 
recruits on a level that does not prepare them for the real world. Most of the new recruits I have 
dealt with over the last 5 years are ill prepared, have zero confidence in themselves and were told 
constantly by higher education and skills programs that they should be so overly worried about 
liability that they second guess themselves all the time. This is putting them, other officers and the 
general public in danger. Most recruits have required remedial training as they can not retain 
information during FTO. 

 



• I would like to see the hiring agencies pay the officer's salary when they attend an 8-12 week 
academy. This is difficult for the smaller cities and would be great if there are grants available to 
assist with these expenses/investments. 

 

• I am in support of updating curriculum, standardized across post, secondary learning, institutions 
and strongly support degree programs. The academic purview coming out of higher education is 
much better than just a police specific focus. 

 

• I believe an academy system should either be all open or all closed. My concern is that agencies 
that are not well funded will have a difficult time competing if both options are available. 

 

• I think the system needs to be updated. I believe input from current officers is needed. 

 

• Rural agencies are suffering with current hiring rules and the good officers leaving the state. The 
part time licenses are basically gone, to hire anyone part time, they have to be full time licensed. 
Rural small agencies can not compete with everything larger agencies can do. By forcing new 
recruits to be "sponsored" will cut small agencies out of most future hirings. Our budgets are 
already suffering trying to keep up with pay, equipment and training. My agency operates with 4 
part time slots, I haven't been able to fill 1 slot for over 3 years. Small rural agencies are being 
crushed by previous things listed and adding more will only put the nail in the coffin for small rural 
agencies. Unless the POST board brings back the PT license with a population cap to prevent 
what happened before and relax some things for small rural agencies, the state will be headed to 
county run or regional depts. Its a new phenomenon the recruitment is low and persons arnt upto 
par and although I agree schooling needs to focus more on important things, the answer for poor 
recruitment isnt to fundamentally change the post board. Sometimes the POST board needs to 
be reminded, there are few Minneapolis, Rochester, Duluth departments and there are far more 
small rural depts that seemingly have little voice in matters 

 

• Good luck 

 

• Thank you for exploring alternative pathways to licensure. I prefer to have both a traditional 
MNSCU-type process for traditional candidates and a "closed" central or regional training facility 
for non-traditional candidates who have a job but need credentials. 

 

• I think something needs to change, but I think the direction should not be dictated by the POST 
Board. I believe some members of the POST Board staff have taken a very broad interpretation 
of their powers from state law! 

 

• This survey was very intentional in leaning towards academy. I would strongly suggest a follow up 
asking for comments related to the answers provided. 



 

• - Who would run the academy? - Who would be allowed to become instructors at the academy? - 
How can we ensure that the academy doesn't become a recruitment hub for metro agencies, if it 
is held in the metro area? - Would cadets have to live on campus during the duration of the 
academy (like MSP academy)? - What would happen if a student fails the academy? Would the 
state help reimburse the cost of the training received at the academy? - Would the state help 
covering the cost of sending a new hire to the academy? - Who will have input as to what is being 
taught at the academy (curriculum)(i.e., use of force [PPCT v. STORM v. others, etc]) - Instead of 
an academy, another option would be for the POST Board to actually enforce the standards at 
the colleges that currently offer a SKILLS program, so they are all on the same page, and we all 
get the same quality of applicants. 

 

• I have tried to initiate legislation that would eliminate a degree requirement in order to be a police 
officer. I feel this is the single best way to diversify our LE workforce and at the same time 
increase our employment application numbers. If the elimination of the degree would not fly, I feel 
that it should be able to be replaced by a higher age requirement (say 25 years old) or years of 
active military service. With our pending cliff of retirements, this is the only realistic way of 
replacing our rapidly aging workforce. A degree does not equal a better candidate when it comes 
to LE. 

• Part time availability is necessary, financial aid is necessary, and an open academy is needed. 
Small departments cannot afford a closed academy unless there is funding coming from other 
sources. 

 

• I believe the Minnesota system of having a 2-Year degree in law enforcement is the best practice. 
A more standardized approach could be looked at for all schools. I am a graduate of a state-run 
police academy. I believe that MN officers are better prepared than some of their counterparts in 
other states. It does take ability to graduate with a degree. They also had to pay for their college 
rather than having the agency pay for it. This seems to work better in my opinion for overall 
career success. 

 
 
 

https://www.surveymonkey.com/analyze/browse/Kw97eKIqnQn025tskp1pxDKzgx_2FdwWBbiB6c2G_2Fg_2FQc_3D?respondent_id=114854981185
https://www.surveymonkey.com/analyze/browse/Kw97eKIqnQn025tskp1pxDKzgx_2FdwWBbiB6c2G_2Fg_2FQc_3D?respondent_id=114854981185


   

Page 1 of 8 
 

RESPONSE TO REPORTS OF MISSING AND ENDANGERED 
PERSONS  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY  
 
(Name of law enforcement agency) personnel shall respond to and investigate all 
reports of missing and endangered persons as defined in MN Statute 299C.52, 
subdivision 1(c) and (d) (Minnesota Missing Children and Endangered Persons 
Program or Brandon’s Law). This policy addresses investigations of persons who are 
missing and endangered, and includes the procedures required by MN Statute 299C.52. 
 
The (name of law enforcement agency) recognizes there is a critical need for immediate 
and consistent response to reports of missing and endangered persons. The decisions 
made and actions taken during the preliminary stages may have a profound effect on 
the outcome of the case. This agency has established the following responsibilities and 
guidelines for the investigation of missing and endangered persons. All peace officers, 
employed by this agency, will be informed of and comply with this policy. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Child: has the meaning given it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1(a).  

 
DNA: has the meaning given it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1(b).  

 
Endangered: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1(c).  Any 
of the following circumstances indicate that a missing person is at risk of physical injury 
or death, and therefore endangered: 
 

• Missing because of a confirmed abduction, or under circumstances that indicate 
that the person’s disappearance was not voluntary. 

• Missing under known dangerous circumstances. 
• Missing more than 30 days. 
• Under the age of 21 and at least one other factor in this paragraph is applicable. 
• Evidence the person needs medical attention or prescription medication such 

that it will have a serious adverse effect on the person’s health if the person does 
not receive the needed care or medication. 

• Does not have a pattern of running away or disappearing. 
• Mentally impaired (has an intellectual disability or substantial psychotic disorder). 
• Evidence the person may have been abducted by a noncustodial parent. 
• Has been the subject of past threats or acts of violence. 
• Evidence the person is lost in the wilderness, backcountry, or outdoors where 

survival is precarious and immediate, effective investigation and search and 
rescue efforts are critical. 

 

ITEM 14



   

Page 2 of 8 
 

Any other factor this agency has determined indicates the person may be at risk of 
physical injury or death, including a determination by another law enforcement agency 
that the person is missing and endangered (this may include information that the 
missing person suffers from anxiety, depression, PTSD, mental impairment, or an active 
addiction to or abuse of alcohol, prescribed medications, or controlled substances. 
 
MMBWG: refers to the Missing and Murdered Black Women and Girls Office of the 
Minnesota Department of Public Safety. 
 
MMIR: refers to the Missing and Murdered Indigenous Relatives Office of the Minnesota 
Department of Public Safety. 
 
Missing: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1(d). 
 
Missing Person Networks: are databases or computer networks available to law 
enforcement and are suitable for obtaining information related to missing person 
investigations. This includes the National Crime Information Center (NCIC), the National 
Missing and Unidentified Persons System (NamUs), the National Center for Missing and 
Exploited Children (NCMEC), the Minnesota Justice Information Services (MNJIS), the 
Minnesota Missing and Unidentified Persons Clearinghouse, and the Minnesota Crime 
Alert Network.  
 
Unmanned Aerial Vehicles or UAV: has the same meaning given to it in MN Statute 
626.19, subdivision 1(a)(3).  
 
PROCEDURE 
 
This agency will respond according to the following six types of general procedures 
(when relevant): 
 

• Initial Response 
• Initial Investigation 
• Investigation 
• 30-day Benchmark 
• Prolonged Investigation  
• Recovery / Case Closure  

 
INITIAL RESPONSE 

 
As required by MN Statute 299C.53, subdivision 1(a), “A law enforcement agency shall 
accept without delay any report of a missing person” when the report is made in person. 
An agency may also accept reports by telephone or other electronic means to the extent 
the reporting is consistent with the agency’s policies or practices. A report shall be 
accepted regardless of where the person was last seen, where the person resides, or 
any question of jurisdiction. When taking a missing person report, [officers] shall 
complete the tasks listed below as applicable.   



   

Page 3 of 8 
 

 
• An [officer] shall conduct a preliminary investigation to determine whether the 

person is missing and/or endangered.  
• When necessary, obtain interpretative services. 
• Interview the person who made the initial report. If that person is a child, 

interview the child’s parent(s) or guardian(s). 
• Determine when, where, and by whom the missing person was last seen. 
• Interview the individual(s) who last had contact with the missing and/or 

endangered person. 
• Obtain a detailed description of the missing and/or endangered person, abductor, 

vehicles, etc., and ask for a recent photo of the person and any other persons or 
items of importance. 

• Obtain cell phone number(s) for the missing person and suspect(s). 
• Collect and preserve the missing and/or endangered person’s cellphone(s), 

tablet(s), and computer(s). 
• Broadcast an “Attempt to Locate” (ATL) or similar alert if the person is under the 

age of 18 years and/or there is evidence that the missing person is endangered, 
and the broadcast would not further endanger the missing person. The alert 
should be broadcast as soon as is practical but in no event more than one hour 
after determining the missing person is under the age of 18 years or may be 
endangered.  

• Immediately enter the missing person’s complete descriptive and critical 
information into the appropriate category of the National Crime Information 
Center’s (NCIC) Missing Person File. 

o As required by 34 U.S.C. 41307, law enforcement shall, as soon as 
possible, enter missing children less than 21 years of age into the NCIC 
and NamUs databases. 

o As required by MN Statute 299C.53, subdivision 1(b), if the person is 
determined to be missing and endangered, the agency shall as soon as 
possible enter identifying and descriptive information about the person into 
the NCIC. 

• Enter complete descriptive information regarding suspects/vehicle in the NCIC 
system. 

• If needed, request investigative and supervisory assistance as soon as practical. 
• Update additional responding personnel. 
• Communicate known details promptly and as appropriate to other patrol units, 

local law enforcement agencies, and surrounding law enforcement agencies. Use 
the International Justice & Public Safety Network (Nlets), the Minnesota Crime 
Alert Network, and MNJIS KOPS Alert to alert regional, state and federal law 
enforcement agencies. 

• Notify the family of services available through the Minnesota Missing/Unidentified 
Persons Clearinghouse. 

• Secure the crime scene and/or last known location of the missing person and 
attempt to identify and interview persons in the area at the time of the incident.  



   

Page 4 of 8 
 

• Obtain and protect uncontaminated missing person scent articles for possible 
use by search canines. 

• Activate protocols for working with the media (AMBER Alert, Minnesota Crime 
Alert Network). 

• As required by MN Statute 299C.53, subdivision 1(b), consult with the Minnesota 
Bureau of Criminal Apprehension (BCA) if the missing person is determined to be 
endangered.  Request assistance as necessary. 

• Implement multi-jurisdictional coordination/mutual aid plan when: 
o the primary agency has limited resources, 
o the investigation crosses jurisdictional lines, or 
o jurisdictions have pre-established task forces or investigative teams. 

• Based on the preliminary investigation, determine whether a physical search is 
required.  

  
INITIAL INVESTIGATION 

 
During the initial investigation, an investigator or [officer] should be assigned to the case 
for the purposes of coordinating and overseeing the investigation/search. The investor 
or [officer] shall ensure the following steps are taken.  
 

• Seek assistance from the BCA, Missing and Murdered Black Women and Girls 
Office, Missing and Murdered Indigenous Relatives Office or other state 
agencies. 

• Seek assistance from culturally based community organizations. 
• Assign an investigator as a family liaison and primary point of contact for the 

family and create a communication plan for keeping the family updated. 
• Provide general information to the family/reporting party or designee about the 

investigation; only to the extent that disclosure would not adversely affect 
locating and protecting the missing person, apprehending a suspect, and future 
prosecution. 

• Conduct a canvas of the neighborhood and of vehicles in the vicinity. 
• Send emergency phone subpoenas to phone providers for the missing person’s 

and suspect’s phone(s). 
• Arrange for news media and social media coverage. 
• Maintain records of all communications/messages. 
• Ensure that everyone at the scene is identified and interviewed separately. 
• Search the home/building/property where the incident took place, and conduct a 

search of all surrounding areas. Obtain consent or a search warrant as 
necessary. 

 
INVESTIGATION 

 
If the missing and/or endangered person is not located during the initial investigation, 
the investigator or [officer] overseeing the investigation shall ensure the following steps 
are taken (as applicable).  
 



   

Page 5 of 8 
 

• Set up the command post/operation base in an appropriate location (i.e., away 
from the person’s residence). assign responsibilities to personnel such as 
Command Post Supervisor, Media Specialist, Search Coordinator, Investigative 
Coordinator, Communication Officer, and Support Unit Coordinator. Consider 
appointing two liaison officers; one will remain at the command post and one at 
the victim’s residence. The role of the liaison officer at the victim’s residence will 
include facilitating support and advocacy for the family. 

• Establish the ability to “trap and trace” all incoming calls.   
• Set up a tip line (phone line, website, app, etc.) for developing and investigating 

leads. 
• Attempt to determine the missing person’s location through GPS-enabled 

devices and any social media accounts they may have. 
• Establish a geo-fence at any potential last known time and location points or 

crime scene to identify any devices that were in that geographic area during that 
time. 

• Identify, secure, and collect all home/business/public surveillance video from last 
known location and crime scene sites.  

• Compile a list of known sex offenders in the region. 
• In cases of infant abduction, investigate claims of home births made in the area.   
• In cases involving children, obtain child protective agency records for reports of 

child abuse.  
• Review records for previous incidents related to the missing person and prior 

police activity in the area, including prowlers, indecent exposure, attempted 
abductions, etc. 

• Obtain the missing person’s medical and dental records, fingerprints, and DNA 
when practical or within 30 days. 

• Create a Missing Person Profile with detailed information from interviews and 
records from family and friends describing the missing person’s heath, 
relationships, personality, problems, life experiences, plans, equipment, etc. 

• Update the NCIC file with any additional information regarding the missing 
person, suspect(s), and/or vehicle(s). 

• Interview delivery personnel, utility company employees, taxi drivers, post office 
personnel, sanitation workers, etc. 

• For persons under the age of 21, contact the National Center for Missing and 
Exploited Children (NCMEC) for photo dissemination and other case assistance. 

• If the missing person is believed to be a Black female, contact the Missing and 
Murdered Black Women and Girls Office for assistance and to utilize their 
available resources. 

• If the missing person is believed to be an Indigenous person, contact the Missing 
and Murdered Indigenous Relatives Office for assistance and to utilize their 
available resources. 

• Determine if outside help is needed and utilize local, state, and federal resources 
related to specialized investigative needs including: 

o available Search and Rescue (SAR) resources, 
o investigative resources, 



   

Page 6 of 8 
 

o interpretative services, 
o telephone services (traps, traces, triangulation, etc.), and 
o media assistance (local and national). 

• Secure electronic communication information such as the missing person’s cell 
phone number, email address, and social networking accounts. 

 
MISSING FOR OVER 30 DAYS 

 
If the person is still missing 30 days after being entered into NCIC, the local law 
enforcement agency will be contacted by the BCA Missing and Unidentified Persons 
Clearinghouse to request the following information (if not already received): 

 
• DNA samples from family members and, if possible, from the missing person, 
• dental information and x-rays, 
• additional photographs and video that may aid the investigation or identification,  
• fingerprints, and 
• other specific identifying information. 

 
This information will be entered into the appropriate databases by BCA personnel. If the 
person is still missing after 30 days, the case file shall be reviewed to determine 
whether any additional information received on the missing person indicates that the 
person is endangered, then update the record in NCIC to reflect the status change. 

 
PROLONGED INVESTIGATION 

 
During a prolonged missing and/or endangered person investigation, the primary 
investigator or [officer] assigned shall, when practical, do the following to maintain 
transparency and further develop the investigation.   
 

• Maintain contact with the family and/or the reporting party or designee. 
• Use truth verification devices with parents, spouse, and other key individuals. 
• Re-read all reports and transcripts of interviews, revisit the crime scene, review 

all photographs and videos, re-interview key individuals and re-examine all 
physical evidence collected. 

• Review all potential witness/suspect information obtained in the initial 
investigation and consider background checks on anyone of interest identified 
during the investigation. 

• Periodically check pertinent sources of information about the missing person for 
any activity such as phone, bank, internet, or credit card activity. 

• Develop a timeline and other visual exhibits. 
• Critique the results of the on-going investigation with appropriate investigative 

resources. 
• Arrange for periodic media coverage. 
• Utilize rewards and crime-stoppers programs. 
• Update NCIC Missing Person File information. 



   

Page 7 of 8 
 

• Re-contact the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) for 
age progression assistance. 

 
RECOVERY/CASE CLOSURE 

 
Alive. When a missing and/or endangered person is located and alive, personnel shall 
ensure the following steps are taken when applicable.  
 

• Verify that the located person is the reported missing person. 
• If appropriate, arrange for a comprehensive physical examination of the person. 
• Conduct a careful interview of the person, document the results of the interview, 

and involve all appropriate agencies. 
• Notify the family/reporting party that the missing person has been located. (In 

adult cases, if the located adult permits the disclosure of their whereabouts and 
contact information, the family/reporting party may be informed of this 
information.)   

• Consider the need for reunification assistance, intervention, counseling, or other 
services for either the found person or family/reporting party. 

• Cancel alerts (Minnesota Crime Alert, AMBER Alert, etc.); remove case from 
NCIC (as required by MN Statute 299C.53. subdivision 2), NamUs and other 
information systems; and remove posters and other publications from circulation. 

• Perform a constructive post-case critique. Assess the procedures used and 
update the department’s policy and procedures as appropriate.  

 
Unidentified Persons. Agency personnel investigating a case of an unidentified person 
who is deceased or a living person who cannot assist in identifying themselves shall 
ensure the following steps are taken when applicable.  

 
• Obtain a complete description of the person. 
• Enter the unidentified person’s description into the NCIC Unidentified Person File 

and the NamUs database.  
• Use available resources, such as those related to missing persons, to identify the 

person.  
 

Deceased. When an unidentified or potential missing and/or endangered person is 
recovered and deceased, agency personnel shall ensure the following steps are taken 
when applicable.  

 
• Secure the crime scene. 
• Contact the coroner, medical examiner, or forensic anthropologist to arrange for 

body recovery and examination. 
• Collect and preserve any evidence at the scene.  
• Consider the need for intervention, counseling, or other services for the 

family/reporting party or designee. 
• Cancel alerts and remove the case from NCIC, NamUs and other information 

systems, and remove posters and other publications from circulation. 



   

Page 8 of 8 
 

• Perform constructive post-case critique. Assess the procedures used and update 
the department’s policy and procedures as appropriate. 

 
UNMANNED AERIAL VEHCILES  
 
UAVs may be used without a search warrant during a search for a missing and/or 
endangered person so long as one of the exceptions listed in MN Statute 626.19, 
subdivision 3 applies to the circumstances of the case.  
 
TRAINING 
 
All personnel shall receive training on this agency’s missing and endangered persons 
policy and procedures during field training (or upon initial hire) and as updates occur. 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MINNESOTA MISSING PERSONS ACT  
o MN STATUTE 299C.51 – Citation 
o MN STATUTE 299C.52 – Minnesota Missing Children and Endangered 

Persons Program 
o MN STATUTE 299C.53 – Missing Persons Report; Duties of 

Commissioner and Law Enforcement Agencies 
o MN STATUTE 299C.535 – Request for Additional Information on Missing 

Person 
o MN STATUTE 299C.54 – Missing Children Bulletin 
o MN STATUTE 299C.55 – Training 
o MN STATUTE 299C.56 – Release of Medical Data 
o MN STATUTUE 299C.565 – Missing Person Report  
o MN STATUTE 299C.5655 – Missing Persons; Standardized Reports and 

Procedures 
• MN STATUTE 390.25 – Unidentified Deceased Persons 
• MN STATUTE 626.8454 – Manual and Policy for Investigating Cases Involving 

Children Who are Missing and Endangered 
• MN STATUTE 626.19 – Use of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 
• 34 U.S.C. 41307 – Reporting Requirements for Missing Children 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on _______. 
 

 



   

Page 1 of 9 
 

RESPONSE TO REPORTS OF MISSING AND ENDANGERED 
PERSONS  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY  
 
(Name of law enforcement agency) personnel shall respond to and investigate all 
reports of missing and endangered persons as defined in MN Statute 299C.52, 
subdivision 1 (c) and (d) (“Minnesota Missing Children and Endangered Persons’ 
Program”, referred to as Brandon’s Law). This policy addresses investigations of 
persons who are missing and endangered, and includes the procedures required by MN 
Statute 299C.52. 
 
The (name of law enforcement agency) recognizes there is a critical need for immediate 
and consistent response to reports of missing and endangered persons. The decisions 
made and actions taken during the preliminary stages may have a profound effect on 
the outcome of the case. This agency has established the following responsibilities and 
guidelines for the investigation of missing and endangered persons. All peace officers, 
employed by this agency, will be informed of and comply with the contents of this policy. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Child: has the meaning given it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1 (a). - “Any person 
under the age of 18 years or any person certified or known to be mentally incompetent.” 

 
DNA: has the meaning given it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1 (b). - 
“Deoxyribonucleic acid from a human biological specimen.”  

 
Endangered: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1 (c).  - “A 
law enforcement official has received sufficient evidence that the missing person is at 
risk of physical injury or death.” Any of the following circumstances indicate that a 
missing person is at risk of physical injury or death, and therefore endangered: 
 

• Missing because of a confirmed abduction, or under circumstances that indicate 
that the person’s disappearance was not voluntary. 

• Missing under known dangerous circumstances. 
• Missing more than 30 days. 
• Under the age of 21 and at least one other factor in this paragraph is applicable. 
• Evidence the person needs medical attention or prescription medication such 

that it will have a serious adverse effect on the person’s health if the person does 
not receive the needed care or medication. 

• Does not have a pattern of running away or disappearing. 
• Mentally impaired (has an intellectual disability or substantial psychotic disorder). 
• Evidence the person may have been abducted by a noncustodial parent. 
• Has been the subject of past threats or acts of violence. 



   

Page 2 of 9 
 

• Evidence the person is lost in the wilderness, backcountry, or outdoors where 
survival is precarious and immediate, effective investigation and search and 
rescue efforts are critical. 

Any other factor this agency has determined indicates the person may be at risk of 
physical injury or death, including a determination by another law enforcement agency 
that the person is missing and endangered (this may include information that the 
missing person suffers from anxiety, depression, PTSD, mental impairment, or an active 
addiction to or abuse of alcohol, prescribed medications, or controlled substances. 
 
MMBWG: refers to the Missing and Murdered Black Women and Girls Office of the 
Minnesota Department of Public Safety. 
 
MMIR: refers to the Missing and Murdered Indigenous Relatives Office of the Minnesota 
Department of Public Safety. 
 
Missing: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 299C.52, subdivision 1 (d). - “The 
status of a person after a law enforcement agency that has received a report of a 
missing person has conducted a preliminary investigation and determined that the 
person cannot be located.” 
 
Missing Person Networks: are databases or computer networks available to law 
enforcement and are suitable for obtaining information related to missing person 
investigations. This includes the National Crime Information Center (NCIC), the National 
Missing and Unidentified Persons System (NamUs), the National Center for Missing and 
Exploited Children (NCMEC), the Minnesota Justice Information Services (MNJIS), the 
Minnesota Missing and Unidentified Persons Clearinghouse, and the Minnesota Crime 
Alert Network.  
 
Unmanned Aerial Vehicles or UAV: has the same meaning given to it in MN Statute 
626.19, subdivision 1(a)(3).  
 
PROCEDURES 
 
This agency will respond according to the following six types of general procedures 
(when relevant): 
 

• Initial Response 
• Initial Investigation 
• Investigation 
• 30-day Benchmark 
• Prolonged Investigation  
• Recovery / Case Closure  

 
INITIAL RESPONSE 

 
Complete the following when appropriate. 



   

Page 3 of 9 
 

 
As required by MN Statute 299C.53, subdivision 1 (a), “A law enforcement agency shall 
accept without delay any report of a missing person” when the report is made in person. 
An agency may also accept reports by telephone or other electronic means to the extent 
the reporting is consistent with the agency’s policies or practices. A report shall be 
accepted regardless of where the person was last seen, where the person resides or 
any question of jurisdiction. When taking a missing person’s report, [officers] shall do 
the following.  
 

• An [officer] shall conduct a preliminary investigation to determine whether the 
person is missing and endangered.  

• When necessary, obtain interpretative services. 
• Interview the person who made the initial report. If the person is a child, interview 

the person’s parent(s) or guardian(s). 
• Determine when, where, and by whom the missing person was last seen. 
• Interview the individual(s) who last had contact with the person. 
• Obtain a detailed description of the missing person, abductor, vehicles, etc., and 

ask for a recent photo of the missing person and any other person or item of 
importance. 

• Obtain cell phone number(s) for the missing person and suspect(s). 
• Collect and preserve the missing person’s cellphone(s), tablet(s), and 

computer(s). 
• Broadcast an “Attempt to Locate” (ATL) or similar alert if the person is under the 

age of 18 years and/or there is evidence that the missing person is endangered, 
and the broadcast would not further endanger the missing person. The alert 
should be broadcast as soon as is practical but in no event more than one hour 
after determining the missing person is under the age of 18 years or may be 
endangered.  

• Immediately enter the missing person’s complete descriptive and critical 
information into the appropriate category of the NCIC Missing Person File. 

o As required by 34 U.S.C. 41307, law enforcement shall as soon as 
possible enter missing children less than 21 years of age into the NCIC 
and NamUs databases. 

o As required by MN STAT 299C.53, subdivision 1(b), if the person is 
determined to be missing and endangered, the agency shall as soon as 
possible enter identifying and descriptive information about the person into 
the NCIC. 

• Enter complete descriptive information regarding suspects/vehicle in the NCIC 
system. 

• If needed, request investigative and supervisory assistance as soon as is 
practical. 

• Update additional responding personnel. 
• Communicate known details promptly and as appropriate to other patrol units, 

local law enforcement agencies, and surrounding law enforcement agencies. Use 
the International Justice & Public Safety Network (NLETS), the Minnesota Crime 



   

Page 4 of 9 
 

Alert Network, and MNJIS KOPS Alert to alert regional, state and federal law 
enforcement agencies. 

• Notify the family of services available through the Minnesota Missing/Unidentified 
Persons Clearinghouse. 

• Secure the crime scene and/or last known location of the missing person and 
attempt to identify and interview persons in the area at the time of the incident.  

• Obtain and protect uncontaminated missing person scent articles for possible 
use by search canines. 

• Activate protocols for working with the media (AMBER Alert, Minnesota Crime 
Alert Network). 

• As required by MN Statute 299C.53, subdivision 1 (b), consult with the Minnesota 
Bureau of Criminal Apprehension if the missing person is determined to be 
endangered.  Request assistance as necessary. 

• Implement multi-jurisdictional coordination/mutual aid plan when: 
o the primary agency has limited resources, 
o the investigation crosses jurisdictional lines, or 
o jurisdictions have pre-established task forces or investigative teams. 

• Based on the preliminary investigation, determine whether a physical search is 
required.  

  
INITIAL INVESTIGATION 

 
Complete the following when appropriate. 
 

During the initial investigation, an investigator or [officer] should be assigned to the case 
for the purposes of coordinating and overseeing the investigation/search. The investor 
or [officer] shall ensure the following steps are taken. Assign an investigator or (peace 
officer) whose duties will include coordination of the investigation. 
 

• Seek assistance from the Bureau of Criminal Apprehension, Missing and 
Murdered Black Women and Girls Office, Missing and Murdered Indigenous 
Relatives Office or other state agencies. 

• Seek assistance from culturally based community organizations. 
• Assign an investigator as a family liaison and primary point of contact for the 

family and create a communication plan for keeping the family updated. 
• Provide general information to the family/reporting party or designee about the 

investigation; only to the extent that disclosure would not adversely affect 
locating and protecting the missing person, apprehending a suspect and future 
prosecution. 

• Conduct a canvas of the neighborhood and of vehicles in the vicinity. 
• Send emergency phone subpoenas to phone providers for the missing person’s 

and suspect’s phone. 
• Arrange for news media and social media coverage. 
• Maintain records of all communications/messages. 
• Ensure that everyone at the scene is identified and interviewed separately. 



   

Page 5 of 9 
 

• Search the home/building/property where the incident took place, and conduct a 
search of all surrounding areas. Obtain consent or a search warrant, if 
necessary. 

 
INVESTIGATION 

 
Complete the following when appropriate. 

If the missing and/or endangered person is not located during the initial investigation, 
the investigator of [officer] overseeing the investigation shall ensure the following steps 
are taken (as applicable).  
 

• Set up the Command Post/Operation Base where appropriate (i.e., away from 
the person’s residence). Know and assign responsibilities of the Command Post 
Supervisor, Media Specialist, Search Coordinator, Investigative Coordinator, 
Communication Officer, Support Unit Coordinator, and two liaison officers (one at 
the command post and one at the victim’s residence). The role of the liaison at 
the home will include facilitating support and advocacy for the family. 

• Establish the ability to “trap and trace” all incoming calls.   
• Set up a tip line (phone line, website, app, etc.) for developing and investigating 

leads. 
• Attempt to determine the missing person’s location through GPS-enabled 

devices and social media accounts they may have. 
• Establish a geo-fence at any potential last known time and location points or 

crime scene to identify any devices that were in that geographic area during that 
time. 

• Identify, secure, and collect all home/business/public surveillance video from the 
area of last known location and crime scenes. 

• Compile a list of known sex offenders in the region. 
• In cases of infant abduction, investigate claims of home births made in the area.   
• In cases involving children, obtain child protective agency records for reports of 

child abuse.  
• Review records for previous incidents related to the missing person and prior 

police activity in the area, including prowlers, indecent exposure, attempted 
abductions, etc. 

• Obtain the missing person’s medical and dental records, fingerprints and DNA 
when practical or within 30 days. 

• Create a Missing Persons’ Profile with detailed information from interviews and 
records from family and friends describing the missing person’s heath, 
relationships, personality, problems, life experiences, plans, equipment, etc. 

• Update the NCIC file with any additional information regarding the missing 
person, suspect(s) and vehicle(s). 

• Interview delivery personnel; employees of gas, water, electric and cable 
companies; taxi drivers; post office personnel; sanitation workers; etc.   

• For persons under the age of 21, contact the National Center for Missing and 
Exploited Children (NCMEC) for photo dissemination and other case assistance. 



   

Page 6 of 9 
 

• If the missing person is believed to be a black female, contact the Missing and 
Murdered Black Women and Girls Office for assistance and to utilize their 
available resources. 

• If the missing person is believed to be an indigenous person, contact the Missing 
and Murdered Indigenous Relatives Office for assistance and to utilize their 
available resources. 

• Determine if outside help is needed and utilize local, state and federal resources 
related to specialized investigative needs, including: 

o available Search and Rescue (SAR) resources, 
o investigative resources, 
o interpretative services, 
o telephone services (traps, traces, triangulation, etc.), and 
o media assistance (local and national) 

• Secure electronic communication information such as the missing person’s cell 
phone number, email address(s) and social networking site information. 

 
MISSING FOR OVER 30 DAYS 

 
If the person remains missing after 30 days from entry into NCIC, the local law 
enforcement agency will be contacted by the BCA Missing and Unidentified Persons 
Clearinghouse to request the following information (if not already received): 

 
• DNA samples from family members and, if possible, from the missing person, 
• dental information and x-rays, 
• additional photographs and video that may aid the investigation or identification,  
• fingerprints, and 
• other specific identifying information. 

 
This information will be entered into the appropriate databases by BCA Clearinghouse 
personnel. If the person is still missing after 30 days, review the case file shall be 
reviewed to determine whether any additional information received on the missing 
person indicates that the person is endangered, then update the record in NCIC to 
reflect the status change. 

 
PROLONGED INVESTIGATION 

 
Complete the following when appropriate. 
 

During a prolonged missing and/or endangered person investigation, the primary 
investigator or [officer] assigned shall do the following to maintain transparency and 
further develop the investigation.   
 

• Maintain contact with the family and/or the reporting party or designee. 
• Use truth verification device for parents, spouse, and other key individuals. 



   

Page 7 of 9 
 

• Re-read all reports and transcripts of interviews, revisit the crime scene, review 
all photographs and videos, re-interview key individuals and re-examine all 
physical evidence collected. 

• Review all potential witness/suspect information obtained in the initial 
investigation and consider background checks on anyone of interest identified 
during the investigation. 

• Periodically check pertinent sources of information about the missing person for 
any activity such as phone, bank, internet, or credit card activity. 

• Develop a timeline and other visual exhibits. 
• Critique the results of the on-going investigation with appropriate investigative 

resources. 
• Arrange for periodic media coverage. 
• Utilize rewards and crime-stoppers programs. 
• Update NCIC Missing Person File information. 
• Re-contact the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) for 

age progression assistance. 
 

RECOVERY/CASE CLOSURE 
 

Alive. When a missing and/or endangered person is located and alive, personnel shall 
ensure the following steps are taken when applicable.  
 

• Verify that the located person is the reported missing person. 
• If appropriate, arrange for a comprehensive physical examination of the person. 
• Conduct a careful interview of the person, document the results of the interview, 

and involve all appropriate agencies. 
• Notify the family/reporting party that the missing person has been located. (In 

adult cases, if the located adult permits the disclosure of their whereabouts and 
contact information, the family/reporting party may be informed of this 
information.)   

• Consider the need for reunification assistance, intervention, counseling, or other 
services for either the found person or family/reporting party. 

• Cancel alerts (Minnesota Crime Alert, AMBER Alert, etc.); remove case from 
NCIC (as required by MN Statute 299C.53. subdivision 2), NamUs and other 
information systems; and remove posters and other publications from circulation. 

• Perform a constructive post-case critique. Assess the procedures used and 
update the department’s policy and procedures as appropriate.  

 
Unidentified Persons. Agency personnel Members investigating a case of an 
unidentified person who is deceased or a living person who cannot assist in identifying 
themselves should shall ensure the following steps are taken when applicable.  

 
• Obtain a complete description of the person. 
• Enter the unidentified person’s description into the NCIC Unidentified Person File 

and the NamUs database.  



   

Page 8 of 9 
 

• Use available resources, such as those related to missing persons, to identify the 
person.  

 
Deceased. When an unidentified or potential missing and/or endangered person is 
recovered and deceased, agency personnel shall ensure the following steps are taken 
when applicable.  

 
• Secure the crime scene. 
• Contact coroner, medical examiner, or forensic anthropologist to arrange for 

body recovery and examination. 
• Collect and preserve any evidence at the scene. 
• Consider the need for intervention, counseling or other services for the 

family/reporting party or designee. 
• Cancel alerts and remove case from NCIC, NamUs and other information 

systems, and remove posters and other publications from circulation. 
• Perform constructive post-case critique. Assess the procedures used and update 

the department’s policy and procedures as appropriate. 
 

UNMANNED AERIAL VEHCILES  
 
UAVs may be used without a search warrant during a search for a missing and/or 
endangered person so long as one of the exceptions listed in MN Statute 626.19, 
subdivision 3 applies to the circumstances of the case.  
 
TRAINING 
 
All personnel shall receive training on this agency’s missing and endangered persons 
policy and procedures during field training (or upon initial hire) and as updates occur as 
well as once yearly.  
 
Training on this policy and procedures is recommended at initial hiring, during field 
training, and when updates occur.    
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MINNESOTA MISSING PERSONS ACT  
o MN STATUTE 299C.51 – Citation 
o MN STATUTE 299C.52 – Minnesota Missing Children and Endangered 

Persons Program 
o MN STATUTE 299C.53 – Missing Persons Report; Duties of 

Commissioner and Law Enforcement Agencies 
o MN STATUTE 299C.535 – Request for Additional Information on Missing 

Person 
o MN STATUTE 299C.54 – Missing Children Bulletin 
o MN STATUTE 299C.55 – Training 
o MN STATUTE 299C.56 – Release of Medical Data 



   

Page 9 of 9 
 

o MN STATUTUE 299C.565 – Missing Person Report  
o MN STATUTE 299C.5655 – Missing Persons; Standardized Reports and 

Procedures 
• MN STATUTE 390.25 – Unidentified Deceased Persons 
• MN STATUTE 626.8454 – Manual and Policy for Investigating Cases Involving 

Children Who are Missing and Endangered 
• MN STATUTE 626.19 – Use of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 
• 34 U.S.C. 41307 – Reporting Requirements for Missing Children 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on _______. 
 

 



 

Page 1 of 6 

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT OF PEACE OFFICERS  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the (name of law enforcement agency) to investigate circumstances that 
suggest [an officer] has engaged in unbecoming conduct, and impose disciplinary action 
when appropriate. A criminal conviction is not required for the agency to impose 
disciplinary action on an officer who engages in conduct prohibited by this policy. 
 
PROCEDURE 
 
This policy applies to all agency personnel engaged in official duties whether within or 
outside of the territorial jurisdiction of this agency. Unless otherwise noted, this policy also 
applies to off duty conduct. Conduct not mentioned under a specific rule but that violates 
a general principle is prohibited. 
 

PRINCIPLE ONE 
 

Peace officers shall conduct themselves, whether on or off duty, in accordance with the 
Constitution of the United States, the Minnesota State Constitution, and all applicable 
laws, ordinances, and rules enacted or established by a legal authority. Peace officers 
must understand and obey the laws defining the scope of their enforcement powers. 
Peace officers may only act in accordance with the powers granted to them. Peace 
officers shall obey the same laws they are entrusted to enforce. 
 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly exceed their authority in the enforcement of the 
law. 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly disobey the law or rules of criminal procedure 
in such areas as interrogation, arrest, detention, searches, seizures, use of 
informants, and preservation of evidence; except when permitted in the 
performance of duty under proper authority. 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly restrict the freedom of individuals, whether by 
arrest or detention, in violation of the constitutions and laws of the United States 
and the State of Minnesota. 

• Peace officers, whether on or off duty, shall not knowingly commit any criminal 
offense under any laws of the United States or any state or local jurisdiction.  

• Peace officers will not, according to MN STAT 626.863, knowingly allow a person 
who is not a peace officer to make a representation of being a peace officer or 
perform any act, duty, or responsibility reserved by law for a peace officer.  

 
PRINCIPLE TWO 

 
Peace officers shall refrain from any conduct in an official capacity that detracts from the 
public’s faith in the integrity of the criminal justice system. Community cooperation with 
the police is a product of its trust that officers will act honestly and with impartiality. The 

Type text hereITEM 15



 

Page 2 of 6 

peace officer, as the public’s initial contact with the criminal justice system, must act in a 
manner that instills such trust. 
 

• Peace officers shall carry out their duties with integrity, fairness, and impartiality. 
• Peace officers shall not knowingly make false accusations of any criminal, 

ordinance, traffic, or other law violation. This provision shall not prohibit the use of 
deception during criminal investigations or interrogations as permitted under law. 

• Peace officers shall truthfully, completely, and impartially report, testify and present 
evidence, including exculpatory evidence, in all matters of an official nature. 

• Peace officers shall take no action knowing it will violate the constitutional rights of 
any person. 

• Peace officers must obey lawful orders, but a peace officer must refuse to obey 
any order the officer knows would require the officer to commit an illegal act.  If in 
doubt as to the clarity of an order the [officer] shall, if feasible, request the issuing 
[officer] to clarify the order.  An [officer] refusing to obey an order shall be required 
to justify his or her actions. 

• Peace officers learning of conduct or observing conduct that is in violation of any 
law or policy of this agency shall take necessary action and report the incident to 
an immediate supervisor who shall forward the information to the CLEO. If the 
officer’s immediate supervisor committed the misconduct the officer shall report 
the incident to the immediate supervisor’s supervisor. 

 
PRINCIPLE THREE 

 
Peace officers shall perform their duties and apply the law impartially and without 
prejudice or discrimination. Law enforcement effectiveness requires public trust and 
confidence. Diverse communities must have faith in the fairness and impartiality of their 
police.  Peace officers must refrain from fostering disharmony in their communities based 
upon diversity and perform their duties without regard to race, color, creed, religion, 
national origin, gender, marital status, or status regarding public assistance, disability, 
sexual orientation, or age. 
 

• Peace officers shall provide every person in our society with professional, effective, 
and efficient law enforcement services. 

• Peace officers shall not allow their law enforcement decisions to be influenced by 
race, color, creed, religion, national origin, gender, marital status, or status 
regarding public assistance, disability, sexual orientation, or age. 

 
PRINCIPLE FOUR 

 
Peace officers shall not, whether on or off duty, exhibit any conduct which discredits 
themselves or their agency or otherwise impairs their ability or that of other [officers] or 
the agency to provide law enforcement services to the community. A peace officer’s ability 
to perform his or her duties is dependent upon the respect and confidence communities 
have for the officer and law enforcement officers in general. Peace officers must conduct 



 

Page 3 of 6 

themselves in a manner consistent with the integrity and trustworthiness expected of them 
by the public. 
 

• Peace officers shall not consume alcoholic beverages or chemical substances 
while on duty except as permitted in the performance of official duties, and under 
no circumstances while in uniform. 

o Peace officers shall not use narcotics, hallucinogens, or other controlled 
substances except when legally prescribed. When medications are 
prescribed, the [officer] shall inquire of the prescribing physician whether 
the medication will impair the [officer] in the performance of the [officer’s] 
duties. The [officer] shall immediately notify the [officer’s] supervisor if a 
prescribed medication is likely to impair the [officer’s] performance during 
the [officer’s] next scheduled shift. 

• Peace officers shall not consume alcoholic beverages to the extent the [officer] 
would be rendered unfit for the [officer’s] next scheduled shift. A peace officer shall 
not report for work with the odor of an alcoholic beverage on the [officer’s] breath. 

• Peace officers, whether on or off duty, shall not engage in any conduct which the 
[officer] knows, or should reasonably know, constitutes sexual harassment as 
defined under Minnesota law, including but not limited to: making unwelcome 
sexual advances, requesting sexual favors, engaging in sexually motivated 
physical contact or other verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual 
nature. 

• Peace officers shall not commit any acts which constitute sexual assault or 
indecent exposure as defined under Minnesota law. Sexual assault does not 
include a frisk or other search done in accordance with proper procedures. 

• Peace officers, in the course of performing their duties, shall not engage in any 
sexual contact or conduct constituting obscene behavior, except as permitted by 
department policy.  

• Peace officers shall not commit any acts which, as defined under Minnesota law, 
constitute (1) domestic abuse, or (2) the violation of a court order restraining the 
[officer] from committing an act of domestic abuse or harassment, having contact 
with the petitioner, or excluding the peace officer from the petitioner’s home or 
workplace. 

• Peace officers shall avoid regular personal associations with persons who are 
known to engage in criminal activity where such associations will undermine the 
public trust and confidence in the [officer] or agency. This rule does not prohibit 
those associations that are necessary to the performance of official duties or where 
such associations are unavoidable because of the [officer’s] personal or family 
relationships. 

 
PRINCIPLE FIVE 

 
Peace officers shall treat all members of the public courteously and with respect. Peace 
officers are the most visible form of local government. Therefore, peace officers must 
make a positive impression when interacting with the public and each other. 
 



 

Page 4 of 6 

• Peace officers shall exercise reasonable courtesy in their dealings with the public, 
other peace officers, superiors, and subordinates. 

• No peace officer shall ridicule, mock, deride, taunt, belittle, willfully embarrass, 
humiliate, or shame any person to do anything reasonably calculated to incite a 
person to violence. 

• Peace officers shall promptly advise any inquiring citizen of the agency’s complaint 
procedure and shall follow the established agency policy for processing 
complaints. 

 
PRINCIPLE SIX 

 
Peace officers shall not compromise their integrity nor that of their agency or profession 
by accepting, giving, or soliciting any gratuity which could be reasonably interpreted as 
capable of influencing their official acts or judgments or by using their status as a peace 
officer for personal, commercial, or political gain. For a community to have faith in its 
peace officers, [officers] must avoid conduct that does or could cast doubt upon the 
impartiality of the individual [officer] or the agency. 
 

• Peace officers shall not use their official position, identification cards, or badges 
for: (1) personal or financial gain for themselves or another person; (2) obtaining 
privileges not otherwise available to them except in the performance of duty; and 
(3) avoiding consequences of unlawful or prohibited actions. 

• Peace officers shall not lend to another person their identification cards or badges 
or permit these items to be photographed or reproduced without approval of the 
chief law enforcement officer. 

• Peace officers shall refuse favors or gratuities which could reasonably be 
interpreted as capable of influencing official acts or judgments. 

• Unless required for the performance of official duties, peace officers shall not, while 
on duty, be present at establishments that have the primary purpose of providing 
sexually oriented adult entertainment. This rule does not prohibit officers from 
conducting walk-throughs of such establishments as part of their regularly 
assigned duties. 

• Peace officers shall not authorize the use of their names, photographs, or titles in 
a manner that identifies them as an employee of this agency in connection with 
advertisements for any product, commodity, or commercial enterprise. 

• Peace officers shall maintain a neutral position with regard to the merits of any 
labor dispute, political protest, or other public demonstration while acting in an 
official capacity. 

• Peace officers shall not make endorsements of political candidates while on duty 
or while wearing the agency’s official uniform. 

 
This section does not prohibit peace officers from expressing their views on existing, 
proposed, or pending criminal justice legislation in their official capacity. 
 

PRINCIPLE SEVEN 
 



 

Page 5 of 6 

Peace officers shall not compromise their integrity, nor that of their agency or profession, 
by taking or attempting to influence actions when a conflict of interest exists. For the public 
to maintain its faith in the integrity and impartiality of peace officers and their agencies 
[officers] must avoid taking or influencing official actions where those actions would or 
could conflict with the [officer’s] appropriate responsibilities. 
 

• Unless required by law or policy, a peace officer shall refrain from becoming 
involved in official matters or influencing actions of other peace officers in official 
matters impacting the [officer’s] immediate family, relatives, or persons with whom 
the [officer] has or has had a significant personal relationship. 

• Unless required by law or policy a peace officer shall refrain from acting or 
influencing official actions of other peace officers in official matters impacting 
persons with whom the [officer] has or has had a business or employment 
relationship. 

• A peace officer shall not use the authority of their position as a peace officer or 
information available to them due to their status as a peace officer for any purpose 
of personal gain including but not limited to initiating or furthering personal and/or 
intimate interactions of any kind with persons with whom the [officer] has had 
contact while on duty. 

• A peace officer shall not engage in any off-duty employment if the position 
compromises or would reasonably tend to compromise the [officer’s] ability to 
impartially perform the [officer’s] official duties. 

 
PRINCIPLE EIGHT 

 
Peace officers shall observe the confidentiality of information available to them due to 
their status as peace officers. Peace officers are entrusted with vast amounts of private 
and personal information or access thereto. Peace officers must maintain the 
confidentiality of such information to protect the privacy of the subjects of that information 
and to maintain public faith in the [officer’s] and agency’s commitment to preserving such 
confidences. 
 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly violate any legal restriction for the release or 
dissemination of information. 

• Peace officers shall not, except in the course of official duties or as required by 
law, publicly disclose information likely to endanger or embarrass victims, 
witnesses, or complainants. 

• Peace officers shall not divulge the identity of persons giving confidential 
information except as required by law or agency policy. 

 
APPLICATION 
 
Any disciplinary actions arising from violations of this policy shall be investigated in 
accordance with MN Statute 626.89 and MN Rules 6700.2000 to 6700.2600. 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 



 

Page 6 of 6 

 
• MN STATUTE 609.43 – Misconduct of Public Officer or Employee 
• MN STATUTE 626.8457 – Professional Conduct of Peace Officers 
• MN STATUTE 626.863 – Unauthorized Practice 
• MN STATUTE 626.89 – Peace Officer Discipline Procedures Act 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1600 – Standards of Conduct 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2000 – Definitions 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2100 – Scope 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2200 – Development of Written Procedures 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2300 – Affirmation of Compliance 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2400 – Copies of Procedures  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2500 – Documentation of Complaints 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2600 – Processing of Complaints 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ______.  
 
 



Page 1 of 7 

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT OF PEACE OFFICERS  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the (name of law enforcement agency) to investigate circumstances 
that suggest [an officer] has engaged in unbecoming conduct, and impose disciplinary 
action when appropriate. A criminal conviction is not required for the agency to impose 
disciplinary action on an officer who engages in conduct prohibited by this policy.  
 
PROCEDURE 
 
This policy applies to all [officers] of this agency engaged in official duties whether 
within or outside of the territorial jurisdiction of this agency. Unless otherwise noted this 
policy also applies to off duty conduct. Conduct not mentioned under a specific rule but 
that violates a general principle is prohibited. 
 

PRINCIPLE ONE 
 

Peace officers shall conduct themselves, whether on or off duty, in accordance with the 
Constitution of the United States, the Minnesota Constitution, and all applicable laws, 
ordinances and rules enacted or established pursuant to legal authority. Peace officers 
must understand and obey the laws defining the scope of their enforcement powers. 
Peace officers may only act in accordance with the powers granted to them. Peace 
officers shall obey the same laws they are entrusted to enforce. 
 
Rationale: Peace officers conduct their duties pursuant to a grant of limited authority 
from the community. Therefore, officers must understand the laws defining the scope of 
their enforcement powers. Peace officers may only act in accordance with the powers 
granted to them. 
 
Rules 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly exceed their authority in the enforcement of 
the law. 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly disobey the law or rules of criminal procedure 
in such areas as interrogation, arrest, detention, searches, seizures, use of 
informants, and preservation of evidence, except where permitted in the 
performance of duty under proper authority. 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly restrict the freedom of individuals, whether by 
arrest or detention, in violation of the Constitutions and laws of the United States 
and the State of Minnesota. 

• Peace officers, whether on or off duty, shall not knowingly commit any criminal 
offense under any laws of the United States or any state or local jurisdiction.  

• Peace officers will not, according to MN STAT 626.863, knowingly allow a person 
who is not a peace officer to make a representation of being a peace officer or 
perform any act, duty or responsibility reserved by law for a peace officer.  



Page 2 of 7 

 
PRINCIPLE TWO 

Peace officers shall refrain from any conduct in an official capacity that detracts from the 
public’s faith in the integrity of the criminal justice system. Community cooperation with 
the police is a product of its trust that officers will act honestly and with impartiality. The 
peace officer, as the public’s initial contact with the criminal justice system, must act in a 
manner that instills such trust. 
 
1.  Rationale: (text moved) 
 
Rules 

• Peace officers shall carry out their duties with integrity, fairness and impartiality. 
• Peace officers shall not knowingly make false accusations of any criminal, 

ordinance, traffic or other law violation.  This provision shall not prohibit the use 
of deception during criminal investigations or interrogations as permitted under 
law. 

• Peace officers shall truthfully, completely, and impartially report, testify and 
present evidence, including exculpatory evidence, in all matters of an official 
nature. 

• Peace officers shall take no action knowing it will violate the constitutional rights 
of any person. 

• Peace officers must obey lawful orders, but a peace officer must refuse to obey 
any order the officer knows would require the officer to commit an illegal act.  If in 
doubt as to the clarity of an order the [officer] shall, if feasible, request the issuing 
[officer] to clarify the order.  An [officer] refusing to obey an order shall be 
required to justify his or her actions. 

• Peace officers learning of conduct or observing conduct that is in violation of any 
law or policy of this agency shall take necessary action and report the incident to 
the officer’s an immediate supervisor who shall forward the information to the 
CLEO. If the officer’s immediate supervisor commits committed the misconduct 
the [officer] shall report the incident to the immediate supervisor’s supervisor. 

 
PRINCIPLE THREE 

 
Peace officers shall perform their duties and apply the law impartially and without 
prejudice or discrimination. Law enforcement effectiveness requires public trust and 
confidence.  Diverse communities must have faith in the fairness and impartiality of their 
[police]. Peace officers must refrain from fostering disharmony in their communities 
based upon diversity and perform their duties without regard to race, color, creed, 
religion, national origin, gender, marital status, or status regarding with regard to public 
assistance, disability, sexual orientation or age. 
 
Rationale: (text moved) 
 
2.Rules 



Page 3 of 7 

• Peace officers shall provide every person in our society with professional, 
effective, and efficient law enforcement services. 

• Peace officers shall not allow their law enforcement decisions to be influenced by 
race, color, creed, religion, national origin, gender, marital status, or status 
regarding with regard to public assistance, disability, sexual orientation or age. 

 
PRINCIPLE FOUR 

 
Peace officers shall not, whether on or off duty, exhibit any conduct which discredits 
themselves or their agency or otherwise impairs their ability or that of other [officers] or 
the agency to provide law enforcement services to the community. A peace officer’s 
ability to perform his or her duties is dependent upon the respect and confidence 
communities have for the [officer] and law enforcement officers in general. Peace 
officers must conduct themselves in a manner consistent with the integrity and 
trustworthiness expected of them by the public. 
 
Rationale: (text moved) 
 
Rules 

• Peace officers shall not consume alcoholic beverages or chemical substances 
while on duty except as permitted in the performance of official duties, and under 
no circumstances while in uniform., except as provided for in c). 

o Peace officers shall not use narcotics, hallucinogens, or other controlled 
substances except when legally prescribed. When medications are 
prescribed, the [officer] shall inquire of the prescribing physician whether 
the medication will impair the [officer] in the performance of the [officer’s] 
duties. The [officer] shall immediately notify the [officer’s] supervisor if a 
prescribed medication is likely to impair the officer’s performance during 
the [officer’s] next scheduled shift. 

• Peace officers shall not consume alcoholic beverages to the extent the [officer] 
would be rendered unfit for the [officer’s] next scheduled shift. A peace officer 
shall not report for work with the odor of an alcoholic beverage on the [officer’s] 
breath. 

• Peace officers, whether on or off duty, shall not engage in any conduct which the 
[officer] knows, or should reasonably know, constitutes sexual harassment as 
defined under Minnesota law, including but not limited to; making unwelcome 
sexual advances, requesting sexual favors, engaging in sexually motivated 
physical contact or other verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual 
nature. 

• Peace officers shall not commit any acts which constitute sexual assault or 
indecent exposure as defined under Minnesota law. Sexual assault does not 
include a frisk or other search done in accordance with proper police procedures. 

• Peace officers shall not commit any acts which, as defined under Minnesota law, 
constitute (1) domestic abuse, or (2) the violation of a court order restraining the 
[officer] from committing an act of domestic abuse or harassment, having contact 



Page 4 of 7 

with the petitioner, or excluding the peace officer from the petitioner’s home or 
workplace. 

• Peace officers, in the course of performing their duties, shall not engage in any 
sexual contact or conduct constituting lewd behavior including but not limited to, 
showering or receiving a massage in the nude, exposing themselves, or making 
physical contact with the nude or partially nude body of any person, except as 
pursuant to a written policy of the agency. 

• Peace officers shall avoid regular personal associations with persons who are 
known to engage in criminal activity where such associations will undermine the 
public trust and confidence in the [officer] or agency. This rule does not prohibit 
those associations that are necessary to the performance of official duties or 
where such associations are unavoidable because of the officer’s personal or 
family relationships. 

 
PRINCIPLE FIVE 

 
Peace officers shall treat all members of the public courteously and with respect. Peace 
officers are the most visible form of local government. Therefore, peace officers must 
make a positive impression when interacting with the public and each other. 
 
Rationale: (text moved) 
 
Rules 

• Peace officers shall exercise reasonable courtesy in their dealings with the 
public, other peace officers, superiors and subordinates. 

• No peace officer shall ridicule, mock, deride, taunt, belittle, willfully embarrass, 
humiliate, or shame any person to do anything reasonably calculated to incite a 
person to violence. 

• Peace officers shall promptly advise any inquiring citizen of the agency’s 
complaint procedure and shall follow the established agency policy for 
processing complaints. 

 
PRINCIPLE SIX 

 
Peace officers shall not compromise their integrity nor that of their agency or profession 
by accepting, giving, or soliciting any gratuity which could be reasonably interpreted as 
capable of influencing their official acts or judgments or by using their status as a peace 
officer for personal, commercial, or political gain. For a community to have faith in its 
peace officers, officers must avoid conduct that does or could cast doubt upon the 
impartiality of the individual officer or the agency. 
 
Rationale: (text moved) 
 
Rules 

• Peace officers shall not use their official position, identification cards, or badges 
for: (1) personal or financial gain for themselves or another person; (2) obtaining 



Page 5 of 7 

privileges not otherwise available to them except in the performance of duty; and 
(3) avoiding consequences of unlawful or prohibited actions. 

• Peace officers shall not lend to another person their identification cards or 
badges or permit these items to be photographed or reproduced without approval 
of the chief law enforcement officer. 

• Peace officers shall refuse favors or gratuities which could reasonably be 
interpreted as capable of influencing official acts or judgments. 

• Unless required for the performance of official duties, peace officers shall not, 
while on duty, be present at establishments that have the primary purpose of 
providing sexually oriented adult entertainment. This rule does not prohibit 
officers from conducting walk-throughs of such establishments as part of their 
regularly assigned duties. 

• Peace officers shall: not authorize the use of their names, photographs, or titles 
in a manner that identifies them officer as an employee of this agency in 
connection with advertisements for any product, commodity or commercial 
enterprise;. 

• Peace officers shall maintain a neutral position with regard to the merits of any 
labor dispute, political protest, or other public demonstration while acting in an 
official capacity; 

• Peace officers shall not make endorsements of political candidates while on duty 
or while wearing the agency’s official uniform. 

 
This section does not prohibit peace officers from expressing their views on existing, 
proposed, or pending criminal justice legislation in their official capacity. 
 

PRINCIPLE SEVEN 
 

Peace officers shall not compromise their integrity, nor that of their agency or 
profession, by taking or attempting to influence actions when a conflict of interest exists. 
For the public to maintain its faith in the integrity and impartiality of peace officers and 
their agencies officers must avoid taking or influencing official actions where those 
actions would or could conflict with the officer’s appropriate responsibilities. 
 
Rationale: (text moved) 
 
Rules 

• Unless required by law or policy, a peace officer shall refrain from becoming 
involved in official matters or influencing actions of other peace officers in official 
matters impacting the officer’s immediate family, relatives, or persons with whom 
the officer has or has had a significant personal relationship. 

• Unless required by law or policy a peace officer shall refrain from acting or 
influencing official actions of other peace officers in official matters impacting 
persons with whom the officer has or has had a business or employment 
relationship. 

• A peace officer shall not use the authority of their position as a peace officer or 
information available to them due to their status as a peace officer for any 



Page 6 of 7 

purpose of personal gain including but not limited to initiating or furthering 
personal and/or intimate interactions of any kind with persons with whom the 
officer has had contact while on duty. 

• A peace officer shall not engage in any off-duty employment if the position 
compromises or would reasonably tend to compromise the [officer’s] ability to 
impartially perform the [officer’s] official duties. 

 
PRINCIPLE EIGHT 

 
Peace officers shall observe the confidentiality of information available to them due to 
their status as peace officers. Peace officers are entrusted with vast amounts of private 
and personal information or access thereto. Peace officers must maintain the 
confidentiality of such information to protect the privacy of the subjects of that 
information and to maintain public faith in the officer’s and agency’s commitment to 
preserving such confidences. 
 
Rationale: (text moved) 
 
Rules 

• Peace officers shall not knowingly violate any legal restriction for the release or 
dissemination of information. 

• Peace officers shall not, except in the course of official duties or as required by 
law, publicly disclose information likely to endanger or embarrass victims, 
witnesses, or complainants. 

• Peace officers shall not divulge the identity of persons giving confidential 
information except as required by law or agency policy. 

 
APPLICATION 
 
Any disciplinary actions arising from violations of this policy shall be investigated in 
accordance with MN STAT 626.89, Peace Officer Discipline Procedures Act and the law 
enforcement agency’s policy on Allegations of Misconduct as required by and MN 
RULES 6700.2000 to 6700.2600. 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 609.43 – Misconduct of Public Officer or Employee 
• MN STATUTE 626.8457 – Professional Conduct of Peace Officers 
• MN STATUTE 626.863 – Unauthorized Practice 
• MN STATUTE 626.89 – Peace Officer Discipline Procedures Act 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1600 – Standards of Conduct 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2000 - Definitions 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2100 - Scope 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2200 – Development of Written Procedures 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2300 – Affirmation of Compliance 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2400 – Copies of Procedures  



Page 7 of 7 

• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2500 – Documentation of Complaints 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2600 – Processing of Complaints 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ______.  
 
 



 

Page 1 of 6  

ALLEGATIONS OF MISCONDUCT  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to inform all personnel and members of the public of the 
procedures for reporting, receiving, investigating, and resolving misconduct complaints 
regarding licensed peace officers employed by the (name of law enforcement agency). The 
provisions of this policy are applicable to the investigation and disposition of allegations of 
administrative misconduct. This policy does not apply to criminal investigations. 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the (name of law enforcement agency) to accept and to fairly and impartially 
investigate all complaints of misconduct to determine the validity of allegations; and to impose 
any corrective action that may be justified in a timely and consistent manner. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Administrative Investigation: means an internal investigation conducted in response to a 
complaint with the goal of determining whether a peace officer engaged in misconduct. 
 
Chief Law Enforcement Officer (CLEO): has the same meaning given to it in Minnesota 
Administrative Rule 6700.0100, subpart 8.  
 
Complainant: means a person who submits a complaint to the agency or CLEO alleging 
misconduct by a peace officer. 
 
Complaint: means a statement alleging behavior that constitutes misconduct. 
 
Discipline: means any of the following or a combination thereof: 
 

• oral reprimand, 
• written reprimand, 
• suspension, 
• demotion, and/or 
• discharge.  

 
Exonerated: means a fair preponderance of the evidence established that either: 
 

• the peace officer named in the complaint was not involved in the alleged misconduct, 
or 

• the act(s) that provided the basis for the complaint occurred; however, the 
investigation revealed that such act(s) were justified, lawful, or proper. 

 
Member: means all voluntary and compensated personnel of the agency. 

ITEM 16



 

Page 2 of 6  

 
Misconduct: means 1) a violation of an agency policy or procedure governing peace officer 
conduct or 2) conduct by a peace officer that would be a violation of the POST Standards of 
Conduct   per Administrative Rule 6700.1600. 
 
Not Sustained: means the investigation failed to disclose sufficient evidence to prove or 
disprove the allegations made in the complaint 
 
Policy Failure: means that the complaint revealed a policy failure. The allegation is factual, 
but the peace officer followed the agency’s proper policy/procedure. The policy/procedure is 
proven to be deficient. 
 
Policies and Procedures: refers to the administrative rules adopted by the agency 
regulating the conduct of agency personnel. 
 
Receiving Authority: means the entity who receives and is required to investigate the 
complaint when the subject of the complaint is a CLEO. 
 
Respondent: means an individual who is the subject of a complaint investigation. 
 
Sustained: means a fair preponderance of the evidence obtained in the investigation 
established that the peace officer’s actions constituted misconduct. 
 
Unfounded: means there is no factual basis for the allegation. The act or acts alleged did 
not occur. 
 
PROCEDURE 
 

ACCEPTANCE AND FILING OF COMPLAINTS 
 
Complaint forms must be made available to members of the public through agency 
personnel, at designated public facilities, and online. Complaints may be received in person, 
by telephone, in writing, or via the internet. A complainant may remain anonymous but should 
be advised that remaining anonymous may affect the investigation of the complaint. A 
complainant may be accompanied by an attorney or other representative at the time a 
complaint is filed or at any other stage of the process. Personnel must provide assistance to 
individuals who express the desire to lodge a complaint. The complainant must be advised 
of the procedures for submitting the complaint and be provided with a copy of their submitted 
complaint. The complainant should be asked to verify and attest that their complaint is 
complete and accurate to the best of their knowledge by signing the complaint form. If the 
complainant elects not to sign, this fact shall be documented and the complaint processed 
according to department policy. The CLEO will forward a copy of the written complaint to the 
respondent only after it is determined that the complaint does not allege a criminal violation. 
A CLEO or Receiving Authority may delegate the duties and responsibilities required of a 
CLEO by this policy to an appropriate designee(s).  
 
Any complaint made against a chief of police must initially be made to the city administrator, 



 

Page 3 of 6  

manager, or mayor. Any complaint made against a sheriff must initially be made to the county 
attorney, the county administrator, or the board of county commissioners. The city 
administrator, manager, mayor, county attorney, county administrator, or board of county 
commissioners must refer investigations of alleged misconduct against a CLEO to a neutral, 
external investigative entity such as another law enforcement agency or a private 
investigative firm/organization. The external investigative entity shall not have a discernible 
conflict of interest. 
 

INVESTIGATION OF A COMPLAINT 
 
Upon receipt of the complaint, the CLEO must make an initial determination as to whether 
or not the facts alleged require an administrative investigation. The CLEO’s determination 
needs to be based on current agency policies and MN Rule 6700.1600. If the CLEO decides 
that an investigation is not required, the disposition of the complaint must be cleared as 
“unfounded,” “not sustained,” or “exonerated.” The complainant and the respondent will both 
be notified of this decision and the basis for the determination. If the complainant supplies 
additional information within thirty (30) days of that initial determination, the CLEO may re-
review the complaint and choose to reverse the previous decision and order an 
administrative investigation. 
 
If the CLEO determines an administrative investigation is required, an appropriate designee 
will be assigned to investigate the complaint. When the CLEO believes an external 
investigation is appropriate or when the CLEO is the subject of the complaint, the investigation 
will be assigned to a neutral, external investigative entity that has no discernible conflict of 
interest. 
 
The complaint investigator must inform the complainant of his or her name, business phone 
number, and the status of the complaint as soon as possible after being assigned the 
investigation. The investigator must thoroughly investigate all allegations contained in the 
complaint and any other potential misconduct discovered in the course of the investigation. If 
the investigation reveals potential misconduct by another agency member, the investigator 
must report that fact to the CLEO or, in the case of a complaint against a CLEO, the 
appropriate city administrator, manager, mayor, county attorney, county administrator,  or 
board of county commissioners. At the completion of the administrative investigation, the 
investigator shall prepare a report organized in the following manner: 
 

• Allegations. The “allegations” section of the report should be an itemized summary 
of the acts of misconduct alleged in the complaint. The summary must also include 
all/any rules, procedures, orders, statutes, or constitutional provisions that would be 
violated if the allegations were to be sustained. 

• Investigation. The “investigation” section of the report should be a chronological 
summary of the investigation and include all pertinent facts obtained through 
interviews with the complainant, accused agency personnel, and all available 
witnesses. Written statements, descriptions, analysis of any physical evidence, and 
all other relevant information must be included in this section. 

• Conclusions. The “conclusions” section of the report should detail the investigator’s 
findings and conclusions as to whether any misconduct occurred. If misconduct did 



 

Page 4 of 6  

occur, the report should state which provisions were violated and the underlying 
reasons for the investigator’s findings and conclusions. 

 
All agency personnel must cooperate with administrative investigations. When the 
respondent is a licensed peace officer, the investigation must comply with the requirements 
of MN Statute 626.89, the [officer’s] collective bargaining agreement, and any other 
applicable laws, administrative rules, or policies. The investigation must be completed within 
thirty (30) days of the filing of the complaint unless the CLEO or Receiving Authority 
determines there is good cause to grant an extension. The complainant and respondent must 
be informed of any extension given to the investigative process. 
 

REVIEW AND DISPOSITION 
 
Upon completion of the investigation, the investigator must submit the report, case file, and 
all investigative notes to the CLEO or Receiving Authority. The CLEO or Receiving Authority 
may make a request for additional investigative work or make one or more of the following 
determinations regarding the complaint: 
 

• unfounded, 
• exonerated, 
• not sustained, 
• sustained, and/or 
• policy failure. 

 
The CLEO or Receiving Authority may postpone making a decision until any related criminal 
charges are resolved. If a determination is postponed, the complainant and respondent must 
be informed of the decision. 
 
If the decision is “unfounded,” “exonerated,” “not sustained,” or “policy failure” the CLEO or 
Receiving Authority must notify the complainant and the respondent of the disposition as 
soon as practical. If the complaint is “sustained” the CLEO or Receiving Authority will: 
 

• issue findings of fact including a summary of the acts constituting misconduct 
and the specific statutes, policies, regulations, and/or procedures violated, 

• impose an appropriate remedial plan and/or disciplinary action, and 
• advise the complainant of any public information regarding the disposition. 

 
Prior to the implementation of any remedial and/or disciplinary action, the respondent must 
be provided with a copy of the findings of fact. The CLEO, Receiving Authority, and/or 
designee must review the findings of fact with the respondent and explain the reasons for the 
remedial and/or disciplinary action. When a “sustained” disposition is finalized, the 
respondent may appeal the disposition pursuant to the rules and law governing the accused 
member's employment. 
 
An administrative complaint investigation may be re-opened by the CLEO or Receiving 
Authority at any time if substantial new evidence is discovered concerning the complaint. 
 



 

Page 5 of 6  

MAINTENANCE AND DISCLOSURE OF DATA 
 
The public disclosure of any data connected to a investigative complaint process created or 
received by the agency in connection with this policy and procedure is governed by the 
provisions of the MN Government Data Practices Act. All data collected, created, received, 
or maintained by the agency in connection with this policy must be retained in accordance 
with the agency’s “Record Retention Schedule.” Likewise, the placement of the disposition 
report or other data related to the complaint investigation in an employee’s personnel file 
must be governed by the agency’s personnel policy. The access to data collected, created, 
received, or maintained in connection with this policy may only be authorized by the CLEO, 
the “Responsible Authority,” the “Minnesota Government Data Practices Act,” or by a valid 
court order. 
 

POST BOARD REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
According to Administrative Rule 6700.1610, a licensed peace officer must self-report any 
Standards of Conduct violations to the POST Board. The rule also states that an unlicensed 
person with knowledge of peace officer misconduct constituting grounds for action under MN 
Statute, chapter 214, or Administrative Rule 6700.1600, may report the violation to the 
Board. 
 
According to Administrative Rule 6700.1615, subpart 2, when a CLEO confirms that a peace 
officer employed by the agency has violated a board-required policy or the Standards of 
Conduct, the CLEO must report the violation to the POST board in a timely manner. 
 
MN Statute 626.8457, subdivision 3, requires CLEOs to report to the POST Board any 
confirmed allegations of misconduct by a peace officer of their agency.  CLEOs must report 
the incident to the board as soon as a determination has been made that a violation occurred.  
CLEOs must update the information submitted to the board within 30 days after the final 
disposition of a complaint or investigation has been issued. Law enforcement agencies and 
political subdivisions are prohibited from entering into a confidentiality agreement that would 
prevent disclosure of the data identified in MN Statute 626.8457, subdivision 3, paragraph 
(b) to the POST Board. Any such confidentiality agreement is void as to the requirements of 
this section. 
 
MN Statute 626.8457, subdivision 4, requires CLEOs to cooperate with the POST Board 
after receiving written notification from the board that it is investigating an allegation of 
misconduct within its regulatory authority. Cooperation includes providing an individual 
peace officer’s  public and private data related to the allegation(s) of misconduct when 
requested by the board.  
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES  

• MN STATUTE 626.8457 – Professional Conduct of Peace Officers 
• MN STATUTE 626.89 – Peace Officer Discipline Procedures Act 
• MN STATUTES; CHAPTER 14 – Administrative Procedure 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1600 – Standards of Conduct 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1610 – Reporting Obligations and Cooperation 



 

Page 6 of 6  

• ADMINISTTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2200 –  Development of Written Procedures 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2300 – Affirmation of Compliance 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2400 – Copies of Procedures 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2500 – Documentation of Complaints 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2600 – Processing of Complaints 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ___. 
 



Approved by the POST Board July 22, 2021 Page 1 of 5  

ALLEGATIONS OF MISCONDUCT  
[MODEL POLICY] 
MN RULES 6700.2200 through 6700.2600 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to inform all employees personnel and members of the public 
of procedures for reporting, receiving, investigating, and disposition of complaints 
regarding the conduct of licensed peace officers of the (name of law enforcement agency). 
The provisions of this policy are  applicable only to the investigation and the disposition of 
allegations of administrative misconduct. This policy does not apply to a criminal 
investigations. 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the (name of law enforcement agency) to accept and to fairly and impartially 
investigate all complaints of misconduct to determine the validity of allegations; and to impose 
any corrective actions that may be justified in a timely and consistent manner. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
For the purpose of this policy, the terms set forth below are defined as follows: 
 
Administrative Investigation: means an internal investigation conducted in response to a 
complaint with the goal of determining whether an employee a peace officer engaged in 
misconduct. 
 
Chief Law Enforcement Officer (CLEO): means the chief of police, sheriff, state law 
enforcement director or designee. Within this model policy, the chief law enforcement officer 
will be referred to as CLEO. has the same meaning given to it in Administrative Rule 
6700.0100, subpart 8.  
 
Law Enforcement Officer:  means an individual who holds a peace officer license in the State 
of Minnesota. Within this model policy, a law enforcement officer will be referred to as LEO. 
 
Complainant: means a person who submits a complaint to the agency or CLEO alleging 
misconduct by an agency member a peace officer. 
 
Complaint: means a statement alleging behavior that constitutes misconduct. 
 
Discipline: means any of the following or a combination thereof: 

• oral reprimand, 
• written reprimand, 
• suspension, 
• demotion, and/or 
• discharge.  

 
Exonerated: means a fair preponderance of the evidence established that either: 



Approved by the POST Board July 22, 2021 Page 2 of 5  

• the agency member peace officer named in the complaint was not involved in the 
alleged misconduct; or 

• the act(s) that provided the basis for the complaint occurred; however, the 
investigation revealed that such act(s) were justified, lawful, or proper. 

 
Member: means all voluntary and compensated personnel of the agency. 
 
Misconduct: means 1) a violation of an agency policy or procedure governing personnel 
conduct of agency members; or 2) conduct by a peace officer that would be a violation of 
POST Standards of Conduct   per Minn. Rules Administrative Rule 6700.1600. 
 
Not Sustained: means the investigation failed to disclose sufficient evidence to prove or 
disprove the allegations made in the complaint 
 
Policy Failure: means that the complaint revealed a policy failure. The allegation is factual 
and the LEO(s) peace officer followed proper agency procedure, however, that procedure 
has proven to be deficient. 
 
Policies and Procedures: means the administrative rules adopted by the agency 
regulating the conduct of agency members. 
 
Receiving Authority: means the entity who receives and is required to investigate the 
complaint when the subject of the complaint is a CLEO. 
 
Respondent: means an individual who is the subject of a complaint investigation. 
 
Sustained: means a fair preponderance of the evidence obtained in the investigation 
established that the LEO’s peace officer’s actions constituted misconduct. 
 
Unfounded: means there is no factual basis for the allegation. The act or acts alleged did 
not occur. 
 
PROCEDURE 
 

ACCEPTANCE AND FILING OF COMPLAINTS 
 
Complaint forms must be made available to members of the public through agency 
personnel, at designated   public facilities, and online. Complaints may be received either in 
person, over the by telephone, in writing, or via the  internet. A complainant may remain 
anonymous, but The complainant should be advised that remaining anonymous may affect 
the investigation of the complaint. A complainant may be accompanied by an attorney or 
other representative at the time         a complaint is filed or at any other stage of the process. 
Employees Personnel must provide assistance to individuals who express the desire to lodge 
a  complaints against any employee of this agency. The complainant must be advised of the 
procedures for submitting the complaint and be provided with a copy of their submitted 
complaint. The complainant should be asked to verify and attest that their complaint is 
complete and accurate to the best of their knowledge by signing the complaint form.  
signature if the complaint is a complete and accurate account. If the complainant elects not 



Approved by the POST Board July 22, 2021 Page 3 of 5  

to sign, this fact must shall be documented and the complaint processed according to 
procedure department policy. The CLEO will forward a copy of the written complaint to the 
respondent only after it is determined that the complaint does not allege a criminal violation 
and the notification will not impede a criminal investigation. A CLEO or Receiving Authority 
may delegate the duties and responsibilities required of a CLEO by this policy to an 
appropriate designee(s).  
 
Any complaint made against a chief of police must initially be made to the city administrator, 
manager, or mayor. Any complaint made against a sheriff must initially be made to the county 
attorney, the county administrator, or the board of county commissioners. The city 
administrator, manager, mayor, county attorney, county administrator, or board of county 
commissioners must refer investigations of alleged misconduct against a CLEO to an outside 
law enforcement agency or criminal justice agency that has no discernible conflict of interest. 
 

INVESTIGATION OF A COMPLAINT 
 
Upon receipt of the complaint, the CLEO must make an initial determination as to whether 
or not the facts alleged require an administrative investigation. If the CLEO decides that an 
investigation is not required, the disposition of the complaint must be  cleared as “unfounded,” 
“not sustained,” or “exonerated.” The complainant and the respondent will both be notified 
of this decision and the basis for the determination. If the complainant supplies additional 
information within thirty (30) days of that initial determination, the CLEO may re-review the 
complaint and choose to reverse that the previous decision and order an administrative 
investigation. 
 
If the CLEO determines an administrative investigation is required, an appropriate designee 
will be assigned to investigate the complaint. When the CLEO believes an external 
investigation is appropriate or when the CLEO is the subject of the complaint, the investigation 
will be assigned to an external agency that has no discernible conflict of interest. 
 
The complaint investigator must inform the complainant of his or her name, business phone 
number and the status of the complaint as soon as possible after being assigned the 
investigation. The investigator must thoroughly investigate all allegations contained in the 
complaint  and any other potential misconduct discovered in the course of the investigation. If 
the investigation reveals potential misconduct by another agency member, the investigator 
must report that fact to the CLEO or, in the case of a complaint against a CLEO, the 
appropriate city administrator, manager, mayor, county attorney, county administrator or 
board of county commissioners. At the completion of the administrative investigation, the 
investigator must shall prepare a report that contains all relevant information organized  into 
the following three (3) sections as follows: 
 

• Allegations. An The “allegations” section of the report should be an itemized 
summary of the acts of misconduct alleged in the complaint. The summary must also 
include all/any Reference must be made to those rules, procedures, orders, statutes, 
or constitutional provisions that would be violated if the allegations are taken as true 
were to be sustained. 

• Investigation. The ‘investigation” section of the report should be a chronological 
summary of the investigation and includeing all pertinent facts obtained through 



Approved by the POST Board July 22, 2021 Page 4 of 5  

interviews with the complainant, accused agency member(s), and all available 
witnesses. Written statements, descriptions, and analysis of any physical evidence, 
and all other relevant information must be included in this section. 

• Conclusions. The “conclusions” section of the report should detail the investigator’s 
findings and conclusions as to whether any misconduct occurred. If misconduct did 
occur, the report should state which provisions were violated and the underlying 
reasons for the investigator’s findings and conclusions. 

 
All agency members personnel must cooperate with the administrative investigations. 
When the respondent is a licensed peace officer, the investigation must comply with the 
requirements of MN STAT MN Statute 626.89, the [officer’s] collective bargaining agreement, 
and any other applicable laws, administrative rules, or policies acts amendatory thereto. The 
investigation must be completed within thirty (30) days of the filing of the complaint unless the 
CLEO or Receiving Authority determines there is good cause to grant an extension. The 
complainant and respondent must be informed of any extension given to the investigative 
process. 
 

ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION, REVIEW AND DISPOSITION 
 
Upon completion of the investigation, the investigator must submit the report, case file, and 
all investigative notes to the CLEO or Receiving Authority. The CLEO or Receiving Authority 
may require additional investigation make a request for additional follow up or make one or 
more of the following decisions determinations regarding the complaint: 
 

• unfounded, 
• exonerated, 
• not sustained, 
• sustained, and/or 
• policy failure. 

 
The CLEO or Receiving Authority may postpone making a decision until any related criminal 
charges are resolved. If a determination is postponed, the complainant and respondent must 
be informed of  this decision. 
 
If the decision is “unfounded,” “exonerated,” “not sustained,” or “policy failure” the CLEO or 
Receiving Authority must immediately notify the complainant and the respondent of the 
decision disposition. If the complaint is “sustained” the CLEO or Receiving Authority will: 
 

• issue findings of fact including a summary of the acts constituting misconduct 
and the specific statutes, policies, regulations, and/or procedures violated,; and 

• take impose an appropriate remedial plan and/or disciplinary action, and 
• advise the complainant of any public information regarding the disposition. 

 
Prior to the implementation of any remedial and/or disciplinary action, the respondent will 
must be provided with a copy of the findings of fact. The CLEO, Receiving Authority, and/or 
designee must review the findings of fact with the respondent and explain the reasons 



Approved by the POST Board July 22, 2021 Page 5 of 5  

for the remedial and/or disciplinary action. When a “sustained” disposition is finalized, the 
respondent may appeal the disposition pursuant to the rules and law governing the accused 
member's employment. 
 
The An administrative complaint investigation may be re-opened by the CLEO or Receiving 
Authority at any time if substantial new evidence is discovered concerning the complaint. 
 

MAINTENANCE AND DISCLOSURE OF DATA 
 
The public disclosure of any data connected to a complaint investigative process Disclosure 
to the public, complainant and respondent of data collected, created or received by the 
agency in connection with this policy and procedure must be is governed by the provisions of 
the MN Government Data Practices Act. Retention of data collected or maintained in 
connection with this policy must be retained in accordance with the agency’s “Record 
Retention Schedule.” All data collected, created, or received, or maintained by the agency in 
connection with this policy and procedure must be maintained retained in accordance with 
the agency’s “Record Retention Schedule.” Likewise, the placement of the disposition report 
or other data related to the complaint investigation in an employee’s personnel file must be 
governed by the agency’s personnel policy. The access to data collected, created, or 
received, or maintained in connection with this policy and procedure may only be authorized 
by the CLEO, or the agency’s Data Practices the “Responsible Authority,” and as provided 
by Chapter 13, the “Minnesota Government Data Practices Act,” or by a valid court order. 
 

POST BOARD REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
Under Minn. According to Administrative Rule 6700.1610, a licensed peace officer must self-
report to the POST Board any violations of the peace officer Standards of Conduct for peace 
officers listed in Minn. Rule 6700.1600. Additionally, any person with knowledge of peace 
officer misconduct constituting grounds for  action under Minn. Stat. MN Statute, chapter 214, 
or Minn. Administrative Rules 6700.1600, may report the violation to the Board. 
 
Minnesota Stat. MN Statute 626.8457, subd. 3, requires CLEOs to submit individual peace 
officer public and private data related to allegations of misconduct to the POST Board in “real 
time” via the POST Board Misconduct Reporting System. A chief law enforcement officer 
CLEOs must update data the information submitted to the POST Board within 30 days of after 
the final disposition of  a complaint or investigation has been issued. Law enforcement 
agencies and political subdivisions are prohibited from entering into a confidentiality 
agreement that would prevent disclosure of the data identified in Minn. Stat. MN Statute 
626.8457, subd. 3 paragraph (b) to the Board. Any such confidentiality agreement is void as 
to the requirements of this section. 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES  

• MN STATUTE 626.8457 – Professional Conduct of Peace Officers 
• MN STATUTE 626.89 – Peace Officer Discipline Procedures Act 
• MN STATUTES; CHAPTER 14 – Administrative Procedure 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1600 – Standards of Conduct 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1610 – Reporting Obligations and Cooperation 
• ADMINISTTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615– Required Agency Policies 



Approved by the POST Board July 22, 2021 Page 6 of 5  

• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2200 –  Development of Written Procedures 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2300 – Affirmation of Compliance 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2400 – Copies of Procedures 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2500 – Documentation of Complaints 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.2600 – Processing of Complaints 

 
Revision approved by the Board on ___.  



 

Page 1 of 1 

CRIMINAL CONDUCT ON SCHOOL BUSES  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
   
(Name of law enforcement agency) personnel shall respond to and investigate allegations 
of criminal conduct occurring on school buses within our jurisdiction. Personnel shall work 
and consult with school officials, transportation personnel, parents, and students when 
responding to these incidents, while being focused on student safety and appropriate 
enforcement of the law. Personnel shall work in cooperation with any other law 
enforcement agency that also has jurisdiction. This policy is not intended to interfere with 
or replace school disciplinary policies relating to misconduct on school buses. 
 
PROCEDURE 
  
Agency personnel shall: 

 
• respond to calls for assistance from any citizen, school, or bus transportation 

company official regarding criminal conduct on a school bus.  
• investigate reports of crimes committed on school buses by using procedures like 

those followed in other criminal investigations as appropriate for juveniles and/or 
adults. 

• issue citations, release suspects pending further investigation, or apprehend and 
transport suspects who were engaged in criminal activity while on a school bus. 

• submit investigative reports for review, approval, and consideration of charges as 
required by law and agency policy. 

• conduct follow-up investigative work when requested by someone with proper 
authority within the agency or from the prosecutor’s office. 

• provide the appropriate school with information regarding the incident, as 
required or authorized by law. 
 

STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 121A.28 - Law Enforcement Records 
• MN STATUTE 260B.171 - Records 
• MN STATUTE 169.448 – Other Buses 
• MN STATUTE 169.4581 – Criminal Conduct on School Bus 
• MN STATUTE 169A.31 – Alcohol-related School Bus or Head Start Bus Driving  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on _______. 

ITEM 17



Page 1 of 2 

CRIMINAL CONDUCT ON SCHOOL BUSES  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
   
(Name of law enforcement agency) personnel shall respond to and investigate 
allegations of criminal conduct occurring on school buses within our jurisdiction. 
Personnel shall work and consult with school officials, transportation personnel, parents, 
and students when responding to these incidents, while being focused on student safety 
and appropriate enforcement of the law. Personnel shall work in cooperation with any 
other law enforcement agency that also has jurisdiction. This policy is not intended to 
interfere with or replace school disciplinary policies relating to misconduct on school 
buses. 
 
PROCEDURE 
  
Agency personnel shall: 
 

• Respond to calls for assistance from any citizen, school, or bus transportation 
company official pertaining to regarding criminal conduct on a school bus. 
 

• Investigate reports of crimes committed on school buses by using procedures 
similar to like those followed in other criminal investigations as appropriate for 
juveniles and/or adults. 
 

• Issue citations, release suspects pending further investigation, or apprehend and 
transport suspects who were engaged in criminal activity while on a school bus. 
 

• Submit investigative reports regarding the incident for review, and approval, and 
consideration of charges for review by the prosecuting attorney’s office, as 
required by law and agency policy;. 
 

• Conduct follow-up investigative work when requested by someone with proper 
authority within the agency or from the prosecutor’s office;. and 
 

• Provide the appropriate school with information regarding the incident, as 
required or authorized by law. 
 

STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 169.4581 – Criminal Conduct on School Bus 
• MN STATUTE 169A.31 – Alcohol-related School Bus or Head Start Bus Driving  
• MN STATUTE 169.448 – Other Buses 

 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 

Revision approved by the POST Board on _______. 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

LIGHTING EXEMPTION FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT VEHICLES  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the (name of the law enforcement agency) to provide a uniform guideline 
for all personnel to use when operating a department vehicle without headlights, taillights, 
or marine navigational lighting while functioning as a peace officer. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Illumination Devices: means the headlights, taillights, and watercraft lights vehicles are 
required to be equipped with and use according to statute.  
 
Vehicle: means every self-propelled vehicle and every watercraft that is owned, leased, 
or otherwise the property of this agency and used in the performance of [an officer’s] law 
enforcement duties.  
 
PROCEDURE 
 
A peace officer shall operate a vehicle with its illumination devices on as described and 
guided by statute when:  

 
• on an interstate highway, 
• traveling at speeds greater than what is reasonable and prudent under existing 

weather, road, and traffic conditions, 
• traveling faster than the posted speed limit, and 
• the peace officer is an active participant in the pursuit of a motor vehicle in violation 

of MN STAT 609.487- Fleeing Peace Officer; Motor Vehicle; Other. 
 

When the circumstances described above do not apply, a licensed officer may apply the 
lighting exemption statute (MN Statute 169.541) and stop or interrupt the use of their 
vehicle illumination devices if 1) the officer does so in the performance of their duties, 2) 
the conduct is reasonable, and 3) the officer reasonably believes that turning off a 
vehicle’s illumination devices is necessary under the circumstances to investigate a 
criminal violation or suspected criminal violation. The types of violations being 
investigated may be state laws, rules, orders or local laws, ordinances, or regulations.  
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 84.87 – Operation; Regulations by Political Subdivisions  
• MN STATUTE 84.928 – Operation Requirements; Local Regulation  
• MN STATUTE 86B.511 – Lights  
• MN STATUTE 169.48 – Vehicle Lighting  
• MN STATUTE 169.541 – Lighting Exemption for Law Enforcement; Standards 
• MN STATUTE 169.65 – Specifications for Lighting and Other Devices  

ITEM 18



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6110.1200 – Navigation of Watercraft on the Waters of 
the State; Safety Equipment  

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 
 



Page 1 of 2 

LIGHTING EXEMPTION OF LAW ENFORCEMENT VEHICLES  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the (name of the law enforcement agency) to provide a uniform 
guideline for all department personnel to use when operating a department vehicle 
without headlights, taillights or marine navigational lighting while functioning as a peace 
officer. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
For the purposes of this policy the following definitions apply: 
 
Illumination Devices: means the headlights, taillights, and watercraft lights vehicles 
are required to be equipped with and use according to statute.  
 
Vehicle: means every self-propelled vehicle and every watercraft that is owned, leased, 
or otherwise the property of this agency and used in the performance of [an officer’s] 
law enforcement duties. vehicle which is self-propelled a motor vehicle or watercraft 
owned, leased or otherwise the property of the State of Minnesota or a political 
subdivision. 
 
Lights: refers to headlights, taillights and marine navigational lighting as referenced in 
MN STAT 84.87, 84.928, 169.48 to 169.65 and 86B.511. 
 
PROCEDURE 
 
A peace officer may not shall operate a vehicle with its without lights illumination 
devices on as described and guided by statute when: contrary to MN STAT 169.541. 
LIGHTING EXEMPTION FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT; STANDARDS. under conditions 
of limited or reduced visibility as defined in MN STAT 84.87, 84.928, 169.48 to 169.65 
and 86B.511: 
 

• on an interstate highway. 
 

• traveling at speeds greater than what is reasonable and prudent under existing 
weather, road and traffic conditions. 

 
• traveling faster than the posted speed limit. 

 
• in situations where the peace officer is an active participant in the pursuit of a 

motor vehicle in violation of MN STAT 609.487- Fleeing Peace Officer; Motor 
Vehicle; Other.  
 



Page 2 of 2 

When the circumstances described above do not apply, a licensed officer may apply the 
lighting exemption statue (MN Statute 169.541) and stop or interrupt the use of their 
vehicle illumination devices if 1) the officer does so in the performance of their duties, 2) 
the conduct is reasonable, and 3) the officer reasonably believes that turning off a 
vehicle’s illumination devices is necessary under the circumstances to investigate a 
criminal violation or suspected criminal violation. The types of violations being 
investigated may be state laws, rules, or orders or local laws, ordinances, or 
regulations.  
 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 84.87 – Operation; Regulations by Political Subdivisions  
• MN STATUTE 84.928 – Operation Requirements; Local Regulation  
• MN STATUTE 86B.511 – Lights  
• MN STATUTE 169.48 – Vehicle Lighting  
• MN STATUTE 169.541 – Lighting Exemption for Law Enforcement; Standards 
• MN STATUTE 169.65 – Specifications for Lighting and Other Devices  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6110.1200 – Navigation of Watercraft on the Waters of 

the State; Safety Equipment  
 

 
 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 

 



 

Page 1 of 3 

SUPERVISION OF PART-TIME LICENSED PEACE OFFICERS  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
  
It is this agency’s policy that part-time peace officers on active-duty status shall be 
supervised by a peace officer as required by MN Rule 6700.1110. Therefore, the following 
policy is provided to assist (name of law enforcement agency) personnel in the regulation 
of part-time (licensed) peace officers.   
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Appointment: means the official declaration provided by the agency to the POST Board 
which indicates that the agency has engaged the services of a peace officer or part-time 
licensed peace officer beginning on a specified date.  
 
Active-Duty Status: means a part-time peace officer is authorized by agency policy to 
act as an agent of the appointing authority with power to arrest and authority to carry a 
firearm. 
 
Designated Peace Officer: means the peace officer appointed by the chief law 
enforcement officer or designee and responsible for the supervision of the part-time 
licensed peace officer.  
 
Hours Worked: means the actual number of hours served while the part-time peace 
officer is on active-duty status. All active-duty hours must be documented regardless of 
compensation. 
 
Part-time Peace Officer: “Part-time peace officer” has the meaning given it in MN Statute 
626.84, subd. 1 (d). 
 
Supervision of Part-time Peace Officer: means the part-time licensed peace officer and 
the designated supervising peace officer are aware of their respective identities; the part-
time peace officer has the ability to directly contact the designated peace officer, and the 
part-time or designated peace officer can achieve direct personal contact within a 
reasonable period of time.  
 
PROCEDURE 
 
The agency’s policies regarding part-time licensed peace officer supervision will, at a 
minimum, address: 
 

• how the designated peace officer is to be notified of the designated peace officer’s 
responsibility for assuming supervision of a part-time peace officer, 

• the duties and responsibilities of the designated peace officer in exercising 
supervisory responsibility for a part-time peace officer, 

ITEM 19



 

Page 2 of 3 

• how the part-time peace officer is to notify the designated supervising peace officer 
that the part-time peace officer is on active-duty status, and 

• how the designated supervising peace officer is to be notified when the part-time 
peace officer is no longer on active-duty status. 

 
An agency that agrees to designate a peace officer to supervise a part-time licensed 
peace officer who is not employed by the same agency shall minimally establish all the 
policies required by MN Rule 6700.1110 and a written joint powers agreement. The joint 
powers agreement shall confer upon the designated supervising peace officer full power 
and authority within the jurisdiction of the part-time peace officer being supervised. 
 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PART-TIME PEACE OFFICER 
 
The hours of active-duty status during the calendar year of a part-time licensed peace 
officer shall not exceed 1,040 hours. 
 
A part-time peace officer shall record all active-duty hours worked either on the Part-time 
Peace Officer Monthly Hour Log provided by the POST Board, or in an electronic format 
that includes the same information for each agency by whom the part-time peace officer 
is appointed. The part-time peace officer shall record the date, time, total hours of active 
duty, the name of the agency for which the hours were worked, and the name of the 
designated supervising peace officer assigned for each shift or time entry on the log. 
 
On the last day of every month the part-time peace officer shall provide the chief law 
enforcement officer of every agency for whom the part-time peace officer worked a written 
notice of the total number of hours worked for all agencies. The notice may be provided 
on the Part-time Peace Officer Monthly Hour Log provided by the POST Board or in an 
electronic format that includes the same information. 
 
The part-time peace officer shall keep and maintain copies of active duty reporting forms 
for five years and shall make the forms available to the POST Board upon request. 
 

POLICY DISTRIBUTION 
 
Copies of policies required under MN RULES 6700.1105 to 6700.1130, must be provided 
to all part-time peace officers before they are authorized to exercise part-time peace 
officer authority on behalf of this law enforcement agency. Copies of these policies shall 
also be distributed to all designated peace officers. 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 626.8461 – Part Time Peace Officers; Policy 
• MN STATUTE 626.8463 – Part Time Peace Officers 
• MN STATUTE 626.8465 – Part Time Officers; Limitations 
• MN STATUTE 626.8468 – Part Time Peace Officers; Continued Employment 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1101 – Part Time Peace Officers 



 

Page 3 of 3 

• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1105 – Definitions 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1110 – Supervision of Part Time Peace Officer  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1115 – Hours Worked by Part Time Peace Officer 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1125 – Policy Distribution 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1130 – Termination of Part Time Peace Officers 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 
 



Page 1 of 3 

SUPERVISION OF PART-TIME PEACE OFFICERS  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
  
It is the policy of (name of law enforcement agency) to protect lives while enforcing the 
law. In addition, it is the responsibility of this agency to guide its officers in the safe and 
reasonable performance of their duties.  To accomplish these goals the following policy 
is provided to assist in the regulation of part-time peace officers as required by statute 
and rule. under MN STAT 626.8465 and MN RULES 6700.1101-6700.1300. Part-time 
peace officers are most effectively utilized as a supplement to regular, fully trained 
peace officers. The use of part-time peace officers when the need for services would 
otherwise justify the use of peace officers is discouraged.  
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Appointment: means the official declaration provided by the agency to the POST 
Board which indicates that the agency has engaged the services of a peace officer or 
part-time peace officer beginning on a specified date.  
 
Active-Duty Status: means when a peace officer or a part-time peace officer is 
authorized by agency policy to act as an agent of the appointing authority with power to 
arrest and authority to carry a firearm. 
 
Designated Peace Officer: means the peace officer appointed by the chief law 
enforcement officer or designee and responsible for the supervision of the part-time 
peace officer.  
 
Hours Worked: means the actual number of hours served while the part-time peace 
officer is on active-duty status. All active-duty hours must be documented regardless of 
compensation. 
 
Part-time Peace Officer: “Part-time peace officer” has the meaning given it in MN 
STAT  Statute 626.84, subd. 1 (d). 
 
Supervision of Part-time Peace Officer: means the part-time peace officer and the 
designated supervising peace officer are aware of their respective identities; the part-
time peace officer has the ability to directly contact the designated peace officer, and 
the part-time or designated peace officer can achieve direct personal contact within a 
reasonable period of time.  
 
PROCEDURE 
 
It is this agency’s policy that part-time peace officers on active-duty status shall be 
supervised by a peace officer as required by MN Rule 6700.1110. It is this agency’s 
policy that supervision be provided to part-time peace officers by peace officers as 



Page 2 of 3 

required under MN RULES 6700.1110. This policy minimally addresses the following 
requirements found within the rule including: The agency’s policies regarding part-time 
peace officer supervision will, at a minimum, address: 
 
When designating a peace officer to supervise a part-time peace officer an agency shall 
establish written procedures which at a minimum include: 
 

• how the designated peace officer is to be notified of the designated peace 
officer’s responsibility for assuming supervision of a part-time peace officer;, 

• the duties and responsibilities of the designated peace officer in exercising 
supervisory responsibility for a part-time peace officer;, 

• the means by which how the part-time peace officer is to notify the designated 
supervising peace officer that the part-time peace officer is on active-duty status, 
and 

• the means by which how the designated supervising peace officer is to be 
notified when the part-time peace officer is no longer on active-duty status. 

 
An agency that agrees to designate a peace officer to supervise a part-time peace 
officer who is not employed by the same agency shall minimally establish all the policies 
request by MN Rule 6700.1110 and a written joint powers agreement. The joint powers 
agreement shall confer upon the designated supervising peace officer full power and 
authority within the jurisdiction of the part-time peace officer being supervised. at a 
minimum: 
 

• all policies required under MN RULES 6700.1105, Subpart 2; 
• all policies required under MN RULES 6700.1110; and 
• a written joint powers agreement which confers upon the designated supervising 

peace officer full power and authority within the jurisdiction of the part-time peace 
officer to be supervised. 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PART-TIME PEACE OFFICER 
 
The hours of active-duty status during the calendar year of a part-time peace officer are 
limited to no more than shall not exceed 1,040 hours. 
 
A part-time peace officer shall record all active-duty hours worked either on the Part-
time Peace Officer Monthly Hour Log provided by the POST Board, or in an electronic 
format that includes the same information for each agency by whom the part-time peace 
officer is appointed. The part-time peace officer shall record the date, time, and total 
hours of active duty, the name of the agency for which the hours were worked, and the 
name of the designated supervising peace officer assigned for each shift or time entry 
on the log. 
 
On the last day of every month the part-time peace officer shall provide the chief law 
enforcement officer of every agency for whom the part-time peace officer worked a 
written notice of the total number of hours worked for all agencies. The notice may be 



Page 3 of 3 

provided on the Part-time Peace Officer Monthly Hour Log provided by the POST Board 
or in an electronic format that includes the same information. 
 
The part-time peace officer shall keep and maintain copies of active duty reporting 
forms for five years and shall make the forms available to the POST Board upon 
request. 
 
POLICY DISTRIBUTION 
 
Copies of policies required under MN RULES 6700.1105 to 6700.1130, must be 
provided to all part-time peace officers before they are authorized to exercise part-time 
peace officer authority on behalf of a unit of government. Copies of these policies shall 
also be distributed to all designated peace officers. 
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 

• MN STATUTE 626.8461 – Part Time Peace Officers; Policy 
• MN STATUTE 626.8463 – Part Time Peace Officers 
• MN STATUTE 626.8465 – Part Time Officers; Limitations 
• MN STATUTE 626.8468 – Part Time Peace Officers; Continued Employment 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1101 – Part Time Peace Officers 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1105 - Definitions 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1110 – Supervision of Part Time Peace Officer  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1115 – Hours Worked by Part Time Peace 

Officer 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1125 – Policy Distribution 
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1130 – Termination of Part Time Peace Officers 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 
 



 

Page 1 of 6 
 

PREDATORY OFFENDER REGISTRATION AND COMMUNITY 
NOTIFICATION  
[MODEL POLICY] 
 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of (name of law enforcement agency) to protect the public by disclosing 
information on predatory offenders residing in the agency’s community. This agency will 
decide what information to disclose and who to disclose it to, based on the predatory 
offender’s assigned risk level and the relevant state statute.   
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Immediate Household: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 
1(2).  
 
Likely to Encounter: has the same meaning given to it in MN Statute 244.052, 
subdivision 4(c). 
 
Predatory Offender or Offender: means a person who is required to register as a 
predatory offender under MN Statute 243.166. 
 
Predatory Offender Registration and Community Notification: refers to the 
Minnesota law that requires certain predatory offenders to register with the Minnesota 
Department of Public Safety Predatory Offender Unit.  The law also provides for 
community notification about certain adult predatory offenders who have been 
incarcerated by the Minnesota Department of Corrections (DOC) or confined by the 
Minnesota Department of Human Services (DHS).   
 
Primary Address: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 243.166, subdivision 1a(k).  
 
Offender Risk Level: means the risk assessment score a predatory offender is assigned 
by the end-of-confinement review committee which indicates the presence of identified 
predictive risk factors that may contribute to re-offending in a same or similar fashion. The 
three risk levels a predatory offender can be assigned are: 
 

Level 1  
Level 2  
Level 3  

 
Note: Some offenders who are required to register as predatory offenders are not 
assigned a risk level because their sentence was completed prior to predatory offender 
legislation or because they have not spent time in state or federal prison. These offenders 
are not subject to community notification, with the exception of designated healthcare 
facilities (MN Statute 243.166, subdivision 4(b)).  
 

ITEM 20



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

Registrant: means the predatory offender or offender subject to registration.  
 
Risk Assessment Scale: means the scale the Commissioner of Corrections uses to 
assign weights to the various risk factors listed in MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 3(g), 
and specifies the risk level to which offenders with various risk assessment scores shall 
be assigned. 
 
PROCEDURE  
 

REGISTRATION 
 

When an individual arrives to register with this agency, [officers] should ask what state 
the offense was committed in and if the individual has previously registered elsewhere. 
[Officers] shall verify that the individual is at the correct location to complete their 
registration- meaning that the registrant’s primary address, work address, or school 
address are within this agency’s jurisdiction. [Officers] can review the list of registrable 
offenses on the BCA’s website or by referring to MN Statute 243.166, subdivision 1b. In 
some cases, the agency may have received prior notice from the commissioner of 
corrections that a predatory offender would be coming to the agency to complete their 
registration.    
 
If the individual is required to register, contact the BCA POR UNIT or login to the POR 
LE/ES portal to determine whether the individual has already registered and submitted a 
DNA sample. If the individual is already registered, complete a Change of Information 
Form. If the individual is not registered, complete a Predatory Offender Registration Form. 
If the individual is from or registered with another state, contact the state the individual is 
registered in and request a copy of the offender’s original registration form, criminal 
complaint, and sentencing documents. All documents and photos can be downloaded 
and/or submitted via the BCA’s MN Predatory Offender Registry Electronic Submissions 
(POR ES) portal.  
 
Link: https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-
investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-
information-law-enforcement  
 
This agency strongly encourages its [officers] to verify the addresses of registrants living 
in this jurisdiction. Minnesota Statute 243.166 requires predatory offenders to register a 
new primary address at least 5 days before the person starts living at a new location. The 
statute also requires registrants to provide written notice to the assigned corrections agent 
or to the law enforcement authority that has jurisdiction over the person’s primary address 
that the person is no longer living or staying at an address, immediately after the person 
is no longer staying there. Statute requires the predatory offender to submit these written 
notices in person. Homeless registrants within this agency’s jurisdiction, or any agency’s 
jurisdiction, are required to check in/register with law enforcement on a weekly basis.  
 

ITEM 

https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-information-law-enforcement
https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-information-law-enforcement
https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-information-law-enforcement


 

Page 3 of 6 
 

If an [officer] finds that a registrant is not living at their registered primary address, contact 
the BCA POR UNIT or login to the POR ES portal to determine whether a Change of 
Information Form was submitted. If it was not, the registrant may be charged with failure 
to notify authorities of a change in residence. To make this charge, contact the BCA POR 
UNIT to request a prosecution packet. Submit the packet to the county attorney’s office 
to file formal charges. Prior to submitting any formal charging paperwork, [officers] shall 
verify that the registrant is no longer residing at his/her last address. If possible, [officers] 
should collect evidence of the registration violation in the form of a formal statement from 
friends, co-workers, neighbors, caretakers, etc. of the registrant.  
 
For questions concerning predatory offender registration refer to the Bureau of Criminal 
Apprehension (BCA)’s Predatory Offender Registration via the link above for detailed 
information, or contact the Predatory Offender Unit (BCA POR UNIT) by calling (651) 793-
7070 or 1-888-234-1248.  
 

COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION 
 

Law enforcement agencies receive information from the BCA and DOC regarding the 
assigned risk level of predatory offenders. The duty of law enforcement to provide 
notification depends on the risk level assigned as described below. Public notification 
must not be made if a registrant is placed or resides in one of the DOC licensed residential 
facilities (halfway houses) such as those operated by RS-Eden, Alpha House, 180 
Degrees, Damascus Way, or Bethel Work Release (contact the DOC RA/CN unit for a 
current list of designated halfway houses). If a predatory offender or registrant leaves a 
DOC licensed facility, [officers] shall not disclose any information until the law 
enforcement agency is notified the registrant will move to a residential location within the 
agency’s jurisdiction. If public notice (level 2 or 3) is required on an unhoused registrant, 
that notice should include as much specificity as possible, for example, “in the vicinity of 
(location, landmark, intersection).”  
 
Level 1 Notification. This agency and its [officers] may disclose the information it 
maintains on level 1 predatory offenders to other law enforcement agencies. The agency 
may disclose registrant information received from the DOC to any victims of or witnesses 
to the offense committed by the registrant. This agency and its [officers] shall disclose 
registrant information to the victims of the offense committed by the registrant who have 
made a disclosure request for enhanced notification as well as the adult members of the 
registrant’s immediate household. For more information regarding level 1 offender 
notification, refer to MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 4(b)(1).  
 
See Appendix A: Confidential Fact Sheet -  For Law Enforcement Agency Use Only 
 
Level 2 Notification. This agency and its [officers] may make the same disclosures for a 
level 2 predatory offender as a level 1. Registrant information may also be disclosed to 
agencies and groups that the registrant is likely to encounter for the purpose of securing 
those institutions and protecting individuals in their care while they are on or near the 
premises of the institution. These agencies/groups include the staff members of public 



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

and private education institutions, day care establishments, and establishments that 
primarily serve individuals likely to be victimized by the registrant. [Officers] shall make 
notification determinations based on the registrant’s pattern of offending or victim 
preferences as documented in the information provided by the DOC or DHS. Level 2 
predatory offender information may also be provided to property assessors, property 
inspectors, code enforcement officials, and child protection officials who are likely to visit 
the registrant’s home while carrying out their work duties. For more information regarding 
level 2 predatory offender public notifications, refer to MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 
4(b)(2). 
 
See Appendix B: Fact Sheet - Notification of Relocation in Minnesota 
 
Level 3 Notification. This agency shall disclose level 3 predatory offender information to 
the individuals and organizations that are eligible for disclosure for level 1 and 2 
registrants. This agency shall also disclose level 3 registrant information to members of 
the community whom the registrant is likely to encounter, unless this agency determines 
that public safety would be compromised by the disclosure or that a more limited 
disclosure is necessary to protect the identity of the victim. For more information regarding 
level 3 registrant public notification, refer to MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 4(b)(3). 
The agency must make a good faith effort to complete the disclosure on a level 3 
predatory offender within 14 days of receiving documents/notice from the DOC. The 
process of notification will be determined by this agency.  
 

HEALTH CARE FACILITY NOTIFICATION 
 

Upon notice that a registered predatory offender without a supervising agent has been 
admitted to a health care facility in its jurisdiction, law enforcement shall provide a fact 
sheet to the facility administrator with the following information: name and physical 
description of the offender; the offender’s conviction history, including the date of 
conviction; the risk level assigned to the offender, if any; and the profile of likely victims. 
  

VICTIM NOTIFICATION 
 

This agency shall provide victims who have requested notification with information that is 
relevant and necessary to protect the victim and augment their safety planning efforts. 
The victim is not required to live within this agency’s jurisdiction to receive notification. 
The DOC will provide victim contact information to the law enforcement agency when 
there is a victim/witness who has requested enhanced notification. Law enforcement 
personnel may directly contact the victim/witness. Community based victim advocacy 
resources may also be available to assist with locating a victim and with providing 
notification. Assistance is also available from the DOC RA/CN and Victim Services staff.  
 
See Appendix C: Victim Survivor Notification 
 

OUT OF STATE PREDATORY OFFENDERS AND OFFENDERS RELEASED FROM 
FEDERAL FACILITES SUBJECT TO NOTIFICATION 



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

If an [officer] with this law enforcement agency learns that a person under its jurisdiction 
is subject to registration and desires consultation on whether or not the person is eligible 
for notification, the agency, or [officer], must contact the DOC. The DOC will review the 
governing law of the other state and, if comparable to Minnesota requirements, inform 
this agency that it may proceed with community notification in accordance with the level 
assigned by the other state. If DOC determines that the governing law in the other state 
is not comparable, community notification by this agency may be made consistent with 
that of a level 2 registrant.  
 
If an [officer] or other member of this agency believes that a risk level assessment is 
needed, the agency may request an end-of-confinement review by the DOC. This agency 
shall provide the DOC any necessary documents required for assessing the predatory 
offender and assigning a risk level.   
 
Note:  
 

• Neither this agency nor its [officers] shall disclose the identity or any identifying 
characteristics of the victims of or witness to a predatory offender’s offense(s). 

• A registrant who is the subject of a community notification meeting may not attend 
the meeting.  

• This agency shall disclose information on a registrant as required by statute for as 
long as the offender is required to register under MN Statute 243.166.  

• When a registrant for whom notification was made no longer resides, is employed, 
or is regularly found in this agency’s jurisdiction, the agency shall inform the entities 
and individual initially informed of the registrant’s status.  

 
For questions regarding community notification or the risk level assigned, contact the Risk 
Assessment/Community Notification Unit of the Department of Corrections (DOC RA/CN 
Unit) at 651-361-7340 or at notification.doc@state.mn.us. The DOC is also available to 
assist agencies with conducting public notification meetings when a registrant who is 
subject to notification moves into a law enforcement jurisdiction.  
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 243.166 – Registration of Predatory Offenders 
• MN STATUTE 243.167 – Registration Under Predatory Offender Registration Law 

for Other Offenses 
• MN STATUTE 244.10 – Sentencing Hearing; Deviation from Guidelines 
• MN STATUTE 244.052 – Predatory Offenders; Notice 
• MN STATUTE 244.053 – Notice of Release of Certain Offenders 
• MN STATUTE 253D.32 – Scope of Community Notification 
• MN STATUTE CHAPTER 13 – Government Data Practices  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 

 

mailto:notification.doc@state.mn.us


 

Page 6 of 6 
 

Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 

 

 



Appendix A



Appendix B



Appendix C



Page 1 of 7 

PREDATORY OFFENDER REGISTRATION AND COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION 
[MODEL POLICY] 

MN STAT 243.166, 243.167, 244.10, 244.052, 244.053,  
and MN STAT Chapter 13  

 
I. POLICY  

It is the policy of the (name of the law enforcement agency) to protect the public by 
disclosing information on predatory offenders residing in this agency’s community. This 
agency will decide what information to disclose and who to disclose it to, based on the 
predatory offender’s assigned risk level and the relevant state statute. the level of danger 
posed by the offender, the offender's pattern of offending behavior and the needs of 
community members to enhance their individual and collective safety.  

 
 
II. DEFINITIONS 

“Immediate household”: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 244.052, 
subdivision 1(2).  
 
“Likely to encounter”: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 
4(c).  

 
A. Predatory Offender Registration and Community Notification refers to the 

Minnesota law that requires certain predatory offenders to register with the Minnesota 
Department of Public Safety Predatory Offender Unit.  The law also provides for 
community notification about certain adult predatory offenders who have been 
incarcerated by the Minnesota Department of Corrections (DOC) or confined by the 
Minnesota Department of Human Services (DHS).   
 
Predatory Offender or Offender: means a person who is required to register as a 
predatory offender under MN Statute 243.166. 
 
Primary Address: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 243.166, subdivision 1a 
(k).  

 
B. Offender Risk Levels means the level of notification is governed by the level of risk 

assigned by the DOC.  means the risk assessment score a predatory offender is 
assigned by the end-of-confinement review committee which indicates a predatory 
offender’s likelihood, or risk, of reoffending. The three risk levels a predatory offender 
can be assigned are: 
Three possible risk levels can be assigned to an offender.  They are: 
 Level 1 – low risk of re-offending 
 Level 2 – moderate risk of re-offending 
 Level 3 – high risk of re-offending 
Note:  Some offenders who are required to register as predatory offenders are not 
assigned a risk level because their sentence was completed prior to predatory offender 
legislation or because they have not spent time in state or federal prison. These 
offenders are not subject to community notification. 
 



Page 2 of 7 

Risk Assessment Scale: means the scale the commissioner of corrections uses to 
assign weights to the various risk factors listed in Minnesota Statute 244.052, 
subdivision 3(g), and specifies the risk level to which offenders with various risk 
assessment scores shall be assigned.  
 

 
 
III. REGISTRATION PROCEDURES 

For questions concerning predatory offender registration refer to the Bureau of Criminal 
Apprehension (BCA)’s Predatory Offender Registration website at www.dps.state.mn.us/bca 
via the link above for detailed information, or contact the Predatory Offender Unit (BCA-
POR) by calling (651) 793-7070 or 1-888-234-1248.  

 
When an offender arrives to register with this agency, determine [officers] should ask the 
offender what state the offense was committed in and if the individual is required to register 
the offender has previously registered elsewhere. [Officers] shall verify that the offender is at 
the correct location to complete their registration- meaning that the offender’s primary 
address, work address, or school address are within this agency’s jurisdiction. by reviewing 
the list of registrable offenses on the POR website. [Officers] can review the list of 
registrable offenses on the BCA’s website or by referring to MN Statute 243.166, subdivision 
1b. In some cases, the agency may have received prior notice from the commissioner of 
corrections that a predatory offender would be coming to the agency to complete their 
registration.  
 
If the offender is required to register, contact the BCA POR or login to the POR LE/ES 
website to verify determine whether the offender is has already registered and submitted a 
DNA sample has been submitted. 
 
 If the offender is already registered, complete a Change of Information Form included 

on the BCA’s website at www.dps.state.mn.us/bca.  
  If the offender is not registered, complete a Predatory Offender Registration Form 

included on the BCA’s website at www.dps.state.mn.us/bca.  
 If the offender is from and registered with another state, contact the state the offender is 

registered in (information for each state is listed on the BCA’s website at 
www.dps.state.mn.us/bca) and request a copy of the offender’s original registration form, 
criminal complaint, and sentencing documents. All documents and photos can be 
downloaded and/or submitted via the BCA’s MN Predatory Offender Registry Electronic 
Submissions (POR ES) portal.  

 
Link: https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-
investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-
information-law-enforcement  
 

This agency strongly encourages its [officers] to It is recommended the agency verify the 
addresses of the offenders living in this jurisdiction their community. Minnesota Statute 
243.166 requires predatory offenders to register a new primary address at least 5 days 
before the person starts living at a new location. The statute also requires offenders to 
provide written notice to the assigned corrections agent or to the law enforcement 
authority that has jurisdiction over the person’s primary address that the person is no 

ITEM 19

http://www.dps.state.mn.us/bca
http://www.dps.state.mn.us/bca
http://www.dps.state.mn.us/bca
http://www.dps.state.mn.us/bca
https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-information-law-enforcement
https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-information-law-enforcement
https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/bca-divisions/investigative-services/specialized-investigative-services/predatory-crimes/predatory-crimes-law-enforcement/por-information-law-enforcement


Page 3 of 7 

longer living or staying at an address, immediately after the person is no longer staying 
there. Statute requires the predatory offender to submit these written notices in person. 
Homeless offenders within this agency’s jurisdiction, or any agency’s jurisdiction, are 
required to check in/register with law enforcement on a weekly basis. 

 If an [officer] finds that an the offender is not living at the their registered primary 
address, contact the BCA-POR or login to the POR ES portal to determine if whether a 
Change of Information Form was submitted. If it was not, the offender may be charged 
with failure to notify authorities of a change in residence. To make this charge, contact 
the BCA-POR to request a prosecution packet. Submit the packet to the county 
attorney’s office to file a formal charge. 
Note: Prior to submitting any formal charging paperwork, [officers] shall verify It must be 
verified that the offender is no longer residing at his/her last address prior to submitting 
the prosecution packet for charging. If possible, [officers] should collect evidence of the 
registration violation in the form of Depending on the county attorney, formal statements 
may be needed from friends, co-workers, neighbors, caretakers, etc. of the offender.  

 
 
IV. COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION PROCEDURES 

For questions regarding community notification or the risk level assigned to an offender, 
contact the Risk Assessment/Community Notification Unit of the Department of Corrections 
(DOC RA/CN Unit) at 651-361-7340 or at notification.doc@state.mn.us. The DOC will 
answer questions about the notification process and agency responsibilities. The DOC is 
also available to assist agencies in conducting public notification meetings when an offender 
who is subject to notification moves into a law enforcement jurisdiction.   
 
Attached to this policy are examples of forms that are provided to law enforcement agencies 
by the DOC to assist them in performing community notifications: 
 
1.  CONFIDENTIAL - Fact Sheet - Law Enforcement Agency Use Only  
2.  Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet - Notification of Release in Minnesota-Risk Level 

Two 
3.  Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet - Notification of Release in Minnesota-Risk Level 

Three 
4.  Law Enforcement Fact Sheet - Health Care Facility Notification - Information on a 

Registered Offender Not for Distribution to Facility Residents 
5.  Law Enforcement Fact Sheet - Health Care Facility Notification - Information on a 

Registered Offender for Distribution to Facility Residents 
6.  VICTIM DATA - CONFIDENTIAL - For Law Enforcement Agency Use Only  
 

 
A. Notification Process 

Law enforcement agencies receive information from the BCA and DOC pertaining to 
regarding the assigned risk levels of offenders. The duty of law enforcement to provide 
notification depends on the risk level assigned as described below. Public notification 
must not be made if an offender is placed or resides in one of the DOC licensed 
residential facilities (halfway houses) operated by RS-Eden, Alpha House, 180 Degrees, 
Damascus Way, or Bethel Work Release. If an offender leaves a DOC licensed facility, 
[Officers] shall not Do NOT disclose any information until the law enforcement agency is 
notified the offender will move to a residential location within the agency’s jurisdiction. 



Page 4 of 7 

 
Level 1 – Information maintained by law enforcement and may be subject to limited 
disclosure.  See attachment 1: Confidential Fact Sheet – For Law Enforcement Agency 
Use Only. 

• Mandatory disclosure 
o Victims who have requested disclosure 

• Discretionary disclosure 
o Other witnesses or victims 
o Other law enforcement agencies. 

 
Level 1 Notification 

 
This agency and its [officers] may disclose the information it maintains on level 1 
predatory offenders to other law enforcement agencies. The agency may disclose 
predatory offender information received from the DOC to any victims of or witnesses to 
the offense committed by the offender. This agency and its [officers] shall disclose 
offender information to the victims of the offense committed by the offender who have 
made a disclosure request as well as the adult members of the offender’s immediate 
household. For more information regarding level 1 offender notification, refer to MN 
Statute 244.052, subdivision 4, item b(1).  
 
See attachment 1: Confidential Fact Sheet- For Law Enforcement Agency Use Only 

 
Level 2 – Information subject to limited disclosure for the purpose of securing institutions 
and protecting individuals in their care while they are on or near the premises of the 
institution. See attachment 2: Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet – Notification of 
Release in Minnesota – Risk Level 2. 

• In addition to Level 1 disclosures, the law enforcement agency may disclose 
information to:  

o Staff members of public and private educational institutions, day care 
establishments and establishments that primarily serve individuals likely 
to be victimized by the offender. 

o Individuals likely to be victimized by the offender. 
• Discretionary notification must be based on the offender’s pattern of offending or 

victim preference as documented by DOC or DHS. 
 

Level 2 Notification  
 

This agency and its [officers] may make the same disclosures for a level 2 predatory 
offender as a predatory 1 offender. Level 2 offender information may also be disclosed 
to agencies and groups that the offender is likely to encounter for the purpose of 
securing those institutions and protecting individuals in their care while they are on or 
near the premises of the institution. These agencies/groups include the staff members 
of public and private education institutions, day care establishments, and 
establishments that primarily serve individuals likely to be victimized by the offender. 
This agency’s [officers] shall make notification determinations based on the offender’s 
pattern of offending or victim preferences as documented in the information provided by 
the DOC of DHHS. Level 2 offender information may also be provided to property 



Page 5 of 7 

assessors, property inspectors, code enforcement officials, and child protection officials 
who are likely to visit the offender’s home while carrying out their work duties. For more 
information regarding level 2 offender public notification, refer to MN Statute 244.052, 
subdivision 4, item b(2). 
 
See attachment 2: Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet - Notification of Release in 
Minnesota – Risk Level 2 
 

 
Level 3 – Information subject to disclosure, not only to safeguard facilities and protect 
the individuals they serve, but also to protect the community as a whole. See attachment 
3: Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet – Notification of Release in Minnesota. 

• In addition to Level 2 disclosures, law enforcement shall disclose information to 
other members of the community whom the offender is likely to encounter, unless 
public safety would be compromised by the disclosure, or a more limited 
disclosure is necessary to protect the identity of the victim. 

• A good faith effort must be made to complete the disclosure within 14 days of 
receiving documents from DOC. 

• The process of notification is determined by the agency.  The current standard 
for a Level 3 offender is to invite the community to a public meeting and disclose 
the necessary information.  Assistance is available from DOC RA/CN Unit.  

 
Level 3 Offender 

 
This agency shall disclose level 3 predatory offender information to the individuals and 
organizations that are eligible for disclosure for level 1 and 2 offenders. This agency 
shall also disclose level 3 predatory offender information to members of the community 
whom the offender is likely to encounter, unless this agency determine that public safety 
would be compromised by the disclosure or that a more limited disclosure is necessary 
to protect the identity of the victim. For more information regarding level 3 offender 
public notification, refer to MN Statute 244.052, subdivision 4, item b(3). 
 
The agency must make a good faith effort to complete the disclosure on a level 3 
predatory offender within 14 days of receiving documents and notice from the DOC. The 
process of notification will be determined by this agency, however, the current standard 
for level 3 offenders is to invite the community to a public meeting.  
 
See attachment 3: Law enforcement Agency Fact Sheet – Notification of Release in 
Minnesota  
 

 
B. Health Care Facility Notification  

Upon notice that a registered predatory offender without a supervising agent has been 
admitted to a health care facility in its jurisdiction, law enforcement shall provide a fact 
sheet to the facility administrator with the following information: name and physical 
description of the offender; the offender’s conviction history, including the dates of 
conviction; the risk level assigned to the offender, if any; and the profile of likely victims. 
See attachment 4: Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet - Health Care Facility 



Page 6 of 7 

Notification Information on a Registered Offender Not For Distribution to Facility 
Residents & attachment 5: Law Enforcement Agency Fact Sheet - Health Care Facility 
Notification Information on a Registered Offender For Distribution to Facility Residents. 
 

 
C. Specialized Notifications 

1.  Offenders from Other States and Offenders Released from Federal Facilities 
Subject to Notification 
 If an [officer] with this law enforcement agency If a local law enforcement agency 

learns that a person under its jurisdiction is subject to registration and desires 
consultation on whether or not the person is eligible for notification, the agency 
must contact the DOC. The DOC will review the governing law of the other state 
and, if comparable to Minnesota requirements, inform law enforcement that it may 
proceed with community notification in accordance with the level assigned by the 
other state. 

 If DOC determines that the governing law in the other state is not comparable, 
community notification by law enforcement may by this agency may be made 
consistent with that authorized for risk level 2. of a level 2 offender.  

 In the alternative, If an [officer] or other member of this a local law enforcement 
agency believes that a risk level assessment is needed, the agency may request 
an end-of-confinement review by the DOC. The local This law enforcement agency 
shall provide to the DOC any necessary documents required for assessing the 
offender and assigning assess a risk level. a person for a risk level. 

 
2. Victim Notification  

Law enforcement agencies in the area where a predatory offender resides, expects 
to reside, is employed, or is regularly found This agency shall provide victims who 
have requested notification with information that is relevant and necessary to protect 
the victim and counteract the offender’s dangerousness. The victim is not required to 
live within this agency’s jurisdiction to receive notification.  
 
DOC will provide victim contact information to the law enforcement agency when 
there is a victim who has requested notification. See attachment 6: VICTIM DATA – 
CONFIDENTIAL – For Law Enforcement Agency Use Only. 
 
Law enforcement personnel may directly contact the victim. Community victim 
advocacy resources may also be available to assist with locating a victim and with 
providing notification.  Assistance is also available from the DOC Victim Services 
staff.  
 
Law enforcement also may contact other victims or witnesses as well as other 
individuals who are likely to be victimized by the offender. 
 

3. Homeless Notification Process  
If public notice (Level 2 or 3) is required on a registered homeless offender, that 
notice should include as much specificity as possible, for example “in the vicinity 
of_____”.  These offenders are required to check in with local law enforcement on a 
weekly basis. 
 

Note: 



Page 7 of 7 

• Neither this agency nor its [officers] shall disclose the identity or any identifying 
characteristics of the victims of or witness to a predatory offender’s offense(s). 

• An offender who is the subject of a community notification meeting may not 
attend the meeting.   

• This agency shall disclose information on an offender as required by statute for 
as long as the offender is required to register under MN Statute 243.166.  

• When an offender for whom notification was made no longer resides, is 
employed, or is regularly found in this agency’s jurisdiction, the agency shall 
inform the entities and individual initially informed of the offender’s status.  

 
STATUTORY REFERENCES  
 

• MN STATUTE 243.166 – Registration of Predatory Offenders 
• MN STATUTE 243.167 – Registration Under Predatory Offender Registration 

Law for Other Offenses 
• MN STATUTE 244.10 – Sentencing Hearing; Deviation from Guidelines 
• MN STATUTE 244.052 – Predatory Offenders; Notice 
• MN STATUTE 244.053 – Notice of Release of Certain Offenders 
• MN STATUTE 253D.32 – Scope of Community Notification 
• MN STATUTE CHAPTER 13 – Government Data Practices  
• ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 6700.1615 – Required Agency Policies 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 
 

 
PB Rev 01/2011 

 



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE FORFEITURE 
[MODEL POLICY]  
 
POLICY 
 
(Name of law enforcement agency) personnel shall follow state and federal laws 
regarding administrative forfeitures and the handling of seized property. This policy 
applies to agency personnel assigned to another agency’s task force as well as personnel 
from outside agencies assigned to a task force managed by the (name of law enforcement 
agency). 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Ammunition: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 609.02, subdivision 17.  
 
Controlled Substance: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 152.01, subdivision 4.  
 
Conveyance Device: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 609.5314, subdivision 
1(a).  
 
Firearm: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 609.666, subdivision 1(a).  
 
Firearm Accessories: means devices and attachments made to be used for or with a 
firearm. Firearm accessories may include, but are not limited to, holsters, gun cases, 
firearm optics, suppression devices, and firearm cleaning supplies.  
 
Forfeiture: the process by which legal ownership of an asset is transferred to a 
government or other authority. 
 
Forfeiture Reviewer: means agency personnel responsible for reviewing all forfeiture 
cases and for being the liaison between the agency and prosecutor’s office.   
 
Jewelry/Precious Metal/Precious Stones: refers to items of jewelry such as rings, 
necklaces, and watches that reasonably appear to be made with precious metals or 
precious stones. Precious metals include, but are not limited to, gold, silver, platinum, 
iridium, and palladium. Precious stones, often referred to as gemstones, include, but are 
not limited to, diamonds, emeralds, and rubies.  
 
Money: has the meaning given to it in MN Statute 609.5314, subdivision 1(d).  
 
Seizure: refers to the act of law enforcement officials taking property, including but not 
limited to, money and vehicles, that have been used in connection with or acquired as a 
result of illegal activities.  
 
PROCEDURE 
 

ITEM 21



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

SEIZED PROPERTY SUBJECT TO ADMINISTRATIVE FORFEITURE 
 
The items described herein are subject to administrative forfeiture under MN Statute 
609.5314, subdivision 1.  
 

• All money totaling $1,500 or more, precious metals, and precious stones for which 
there is probable cause to believe they represent the proceeds of a controlled 
substance offense.  

• All money found in proximity to controlled substances when there is probable 
cause to believe that the money was exchanged for the purchase of a controlled 
substance.  

• All conveyance devices containing controlled substances with a retail value of 
$100 or more if there is probable cause to believe that the conveyance device was 
used in the transportation or exchange of a controlled substance intended for 
distribution or sale.  

• All firearms, ammunition, and firearm accessories.  
 

PROCESSING SEIZED PROPERTY FOR FORFEITURE PROCEEDINGS 
 

When any property as described in the above section is seized, the peace officer making 
the seizure must ensure the required forfeiture forms are completed, that a receipt for the 
seized items is completed, and that the appropriate notifications are made within 60 days 
pursuant to MN Statute 609.5314, subdivision 2.  
 
The notice form contains information in English, Hmong, Somali, and Spanish concerning 
the right to obtain judicial review and the procedure to follow under MN Statute 609.5314 
for obtaining the review. The form must be dated and signed by the peace officer 
conducting the seizure. The agency case number must be included on the form. The 
individual from whom the property was seized must be given an opportunity to sign the 
seizure notice form. If the person refuses, the peace officer conducting the seizure must 
check the appropriate box indicating the refusal to sign. If property is seized from multiple 
individuals, a separate seizure form must be completed for each individual. A copy of the 
seizure form must be given to the individual served.  
 
All property subject to and being processed for forfeiture through the agency must be held 
in the agency’s custody.  
 
The peace officer conducting the seizure shall ensure the original and pink copy of the 
seizure notices, seized property processing worksheets, property receipts, and reports 
are forwarded to the Forfeiture Reviewer within 10 days of seizure. The peace officer who 
conducted the seizure shall inform the Forfeiture Reviewer of the estimated retail value 
of drugs found in proximity to the asset seized.  
 
Money. Peace officers shall not seize money having an aggregate value less than 
(amount determined by the agency) unless pre-recorded buy funds are included in the 
money seized. Money shall be counted by two peace officers while in the presence of one 



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

another, then the money must be placed in an envelope that is sealed and initialed/dated 
by the two peace officers. This processes should be documented via video recording. If 
video recording is not available, the officer shall document the reason(s) why a recording 
was not captured in their report. The property bag and/or inventory receipt shall then be 
signed/dated by the two peace officers who counted the money.  
 
All forfeitable money seized will be turned over to the Forfeiture Reviewer or 
property/evidence room as soon as practical after the seizure. Prior to deposit with the 
Forfeiture Reviewer, [officers] shall examine all money seized to determine whether it 
contains any buy funds. [Officers] shall document the recovery of all buy funds and 
deposit those funds with the Forfeiture Reviewer or other designated person/entity to be 
returned to the appropriate unit’s buy fund account.  
 
[Officers] seizing money shall also prepare a property inventory. If money is seized from 
multiple individuals, a property inventory receipt shall be completed for each individual. 
The property inventory receipt shall specify the total amount of money seized from each 
individual. The agency property inventory shall also contain a detailed description of all 
money, checks, money orders, travelers checks and/or other financial instruments. The 
[officer] conducting the seizure shall ensure a copy of the completed property inventory 
receipt is provided to the Forfeiture Reviewer.  
 
It is the seizing peace officer’s responsibility to secure the money consistent with this 
agency’s policy/procedure for seizing/forfeiting money.  
 
Jewelry/Precious Metals/Precious Stones. Peace officers seizing jewelry, precious 
metal, or precious stones will write a detailed description of each item on the property 
inventory form/receipt prior to inventorying the items. A copy of the property receipt and 
any photographs of the item(s) shall be delivered to the Forfeiture Reviewer and kept with 
the case file. [Officers] seizing jewelry, precious metals, or precious stones shall deliver 
those items to the property/evidence room as soon as practical.  
 
Conveyance Devices. Upon seizure for forfeiture, all conveyance devices shall 
immediately be either taken to a secure designated area or to an agency approved 
impound facility. [Officers] shall inventory the conveyance device and its contents in 
accordance with this agency’s policies. [Officers] shall also complete the applicable forms 
and distribute them as appropriate. Copies of the appropriate forms shall also be provided 
to the Forfeiture Reviewer and kept with the case file. 
 
Firearms/Ammunition/Firearm Accessories. When firearms, ammunition, or firearm 
accessories are seized, they shall be inventoried and delivered to the property/evidence 
room as soon as practical. The appropriate forms shall be completed and distributed as 
appropriate. Copies of the completed forms shall be provided to the Forfeiture Reviewer 
and kept with the case file.  
 

FORFEITURE REVIEWER 
 



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

The Forfeiture Reviewer is responsible for ensuring forfeiture changes are forwarded to 
a supervisor for review.  
 

REPORTS 
 
[Officers] seizing property shall complete a report. All reports must include a description 
of the items seized, where the property was turned-in/inventoried, the name of the 
individual served, the date the seizure form was served, the name of the serving [officer], 
and whether or not the individual signed the forfeiture form. All reports dealing with the 
seized property must be completed within 24 hours of the seizure unless the [officer] 
received permission from their direct supervisor to exceed the 24-hour requirement. In 
such instances, information regarding what item was seized, by whom, and where the 
property is being stored shall be documented in a location accessible by other agency 
personnel.  

 
TRAINING 

  
Training will be provided by the agency in consultation with the prosecuting authority to 
personnel who may exercise the use of administrative forfeiture in the performance of 
their assigned duties. Such training will be conducted whenever the agency policy is 
changed or modified based upon administrative directives, legislative changes, and/or 
court decisions. Training may include, but  is not be limited to, agency policy, directives, 
and electronic or traditional classroom education.  
 
STATUTORY REFERENCES 
 

• MN STATUTE 152.01 – Definitions  
• MN STATUTE 609.02 – Definitions 
• MN STATUTUE 609.531 – Forfeitures  
• MN STATUTE 609.5311 – Forfeiture of Property Associated with Designated 

Offenses 
• MN STATUTE 609.5312 – Forfeiture of Property Associated with Controlled 

Substances 
• MN STATUTE 609.5313 – Forfeiture by Judicial Action; Procedure 
• MN STATUTE 609.5314 – Administrative Forfeiture of Certain Property Seized in 

Connection with a Controlled Substance Seizure  
• MN STATUTE 609.5315 – Disposition of Forfeited Property 
• MN STATUTE 609.5316 – Summary Forfeitures 
• MN STATUTE 609.18 – Forfeiture of Vehicles Used in Drive-by Shootings 
• MN STATUTE 609.666 – Negligent Storage of Firearms 

 
 
Revision approved by the POST Board on ________. 
 



 Page 1 of 5  
 

 

PROCESSION OF PROPERTY SEIZED FOR ADMINISTRATIVE FORFEITURE 
[MODEL POLICY] 

MN STAT 609.531 – 609.5318 

POLICY 
 

It shall beis the policy of the ____________________________________________ 
(name of law enforcement agency) that all employees of the agency, all employees 
assigned to another law enforcement agency’s task force, and all employees assigned 
from an outside law enforcement agency to a task force in which this agency serves as 
the fiscal agent, shall follow all state and federal laws pertaining to the processing of 
property seized for forfeiture. Refer to MN Stats. 609.531 – 609.5318 Training will be 
provided by the employing law enforcement agency in consultation with the prosecuting 
authority to officers who may exercise the use of administrative forfeiture in the 
performance of their assigned duties.  Such training to be conducted whenever the agency 
policy is changed or modified based upon administrative directives, legislative statutes 
changes and/or relative court decisions.  Training may include but not limited to agency 
policy, directives, electronic or traditional classroom education. 

 
 

DEFINITIONS 
            

CashMoney:  money in the form of bills or coins, traveler’s checks, money orders, 
checks or other forms of electronic money or stored value cards, including but not 
limited to gift cards, debit cards, gift cards/certificates or other negotiable financial 
instruments.United States currency and coin; the currency and coin of a foreign 
country; a bank check, cashier’s check; a prepaid credit card; cryptocurrency; or a 
money order (refer to MN Stat. 609.5314 subd. 1 (d)). 
 
Conveyance Device:  aA device used for transportation and includes but is not 
limited to a motor vehicle, trailer, snowmobile, airplane, orand vessel and any 
equipment attached to it.  The term "conveyance device" does not include property, 
which is, in fact, itself stolen or taken in violation of the law. (refer to MN Stat. 609.531 
subd. 1 (a)).  
  
Firearms/ammunition/firearm accessories: Firearm means a device designed to 
be used as a weapon, from which is expelled a projectile by the force of any 
explosion or force of combustion (refer to MN Stat. 609.666 subd. 1 (a)). that projects 
either single or multiple projectiles at high velocity.  Ammunition means ammunition 
or cartridge cases, primers, bullets, or propellant powder designed for use in any 
firearm (refer to MN Stat. 609.02 subd. 17). is a term meaning the assembly of a 
projectile and its propellant.  Accessories include but are not limited to holsters, gun 
cases, fire arm optics, suppression devices ,and cleaning supplies, etc. 

 
Forfeiture: tThe process by which legal ownership of an asset is transferred to a 
government or other authority.  
 
Jewelry/Precious Metals/Precious Stones: The term “precious metals/precious 
stones” iIncludes items of jewelry such as rings, necklaces and watches that 
reasonably appear to be made ofwith precious metals or precious stones.  Precious 
metals include, but are not limited to, gold, silver, platinum, iridium and palladium.  



 Page 2 of 5  
 

Precious stones, often referred to as gemstones, include, but are not limited to, 
diamonds, emeralds and rubies.  
 
Forfeiture/Seized Property Reviewer:  an Agency employee responsible for 
reviewing all forfeiture cases and isbeing the liaison between the Agency and 
prosecutor’s office.   

   
Seizure: tThe act of law enforcement officials taking property, including, but not 
limited to, cash and, vehicles, etc. that hasve been used in connection with or 
acquired byas a result of illegal activities. 
 
 

SEIZED PROPERTY SUBJECT TO ADMINISTRATIVE FORFEITURE 
 

The following property may be seized and is presumed under MN STAT 609.5314 
to be subject to administrative forfeiture if the item has a retail value of $50,000.00 
or less: 
 
All money, precious metals and precious stones found in proximity to: 

• controlled substances; 

• forfeitable drug manufacturing or distributing equipment or devices; or 

• forfeitable records of manufacture or distribution of controlled 
substances.  

The following are subject to administrative forfeiture under MN Stat. 609.5314 
subd. 1: 

• All money totaling $1,500 or more, precious metals, and precious stones 
that there is probable cause to believe represent the proceeds of a 
controlled substance offense; 

• All money found in proximity to controlled substances when there is 
probable cause to believe that the money was exchanged for the 
purchase of a controlled substance (refer to subdivision (e) for 
definition); 

• All conveyance devices containing controlled substances wih a retail 
value of $100 or more if there is probably cause to believe that the 
conveyance device was used in the transportation or exchange of a 
controlled substance intended for distribution or sale; and  

• All firearms, ammunition, and firearm accessories as described in this 
subdivision. 

All conveyance devices containing controlled substances with retail value of 
$100 or more if possession or sale of the controlled substance would be a felony 
under MN STAT Chapter 152. 
All firearms, ammunition and firearm accessories found: 

• in a conveyance device used or intended for use to commit or facilitate 
the commission of a felony offense involving a controlled substance; 

• on or in proximity to a person from whom a felony amount of controlled 
substance is seized; or 

• on the premises where a controlled substance is seized and in proximity 
to the controlled substance, if possession or sale of the controlled 
substance would be a felony under MN STAT Chapter 152. 



 Page 3 of 5  
 

Situations in which forfeiture should not be pursued: 
Seizure of property not listed above must be processed, reviewed and 
approved by the unit supervisor. 

 
PROCESSING SEIZED PROPERTY FOR FORFEITURE PROCEEDINGS 

 
When any property as described in the above section is seized, the peace 
officer making the seizure must prepare the following:ensure necessary 
forfeiture forms are completed, a receipt for the seized items is completed,  and 
the appropriate notifications are made within 60 days and according to MN 
Stat. 609.5314 subd. 2.  
 

• The proper Notice of Seizure and Intent to Forfeit Property form.  This 
form must be completed to include the following:  a list describing each 
item seized, the name of the individual served with the Notice, location, 
and the date of seizure. Administrative forfeiture notices are NOT to be 
given for assets seized under MN STAT 609.5314 if the retail value of 
the asset exceeds $50,000.00.  

 
• A receipt for the item(s) seized.  

 
The nNotice form also contains information in English, Hmong, Somali and 
Spanish concerning the right to obtain judicial review and the procedure to 
follow under MN STATStat. 609.5314 to follow to for obtaining itthe review. The 
form must be dated and signed by the peace officer conducting the seizure.  
An agency case number must be included on the form.  The individual from 
whom property iswas seized must be given an opportunity to sign the seizure 
notice form.  If the person refuses, the peace officer conducting the seizure 
must check the appropriate box indicating the refusal to sign.  If property is 
seized from multiple individuals, a separate seizure form willmust be completed 
for each individual.  A copy of the seizure form must be given to the individual 
served.    
 
All property subject to and being processed for forfeiture through the agency 
must be held in the custody of the agency. 
 
The peace officer conducting the seizure shall ensureforward the original and 
pink copy of the seizure notices, seized property processing worksheets, 
property receipts and reports are forwarded to the Forfeiture/Seized Property 
Reviewer within 10 days of seizure. 
 
The peace officer who conductinged the seizure shall inform the 
Forfeiture/Seized Property Reviewer of the estimated retail value of drugs 
found in proximity to the asset seized. 

 
CashMoney 
 
Peace officers shall not seize cash having an aggregate value less than 
(Agency Discretionamount determined by the agency), unless pre-recorded 
buy funds are included in the cash seized.  CashMoney shall be counted by two 
peace officers while in the presence of one another, then the money must be place 
in an envelope that is sealed and initialed/dated by the two peace officers.recounted 
and the amount verified by another employee of the Agency.  The property bag 



 Page 4 of 5  
 

and/or inventory receipt shall then be signed/dated by the same two peace 
officers.co-signed when cash is involved.   
 
All forfeitable cashmoney seized will be turned over to the Forfeiture/Seized Property 
Reviewer or property/evidence room as soon as practicalbly possible (Agency 
Discretion) of after the seizure.  
 
Prior to deposit with the Forfeiture/Seized Property Reviewer, peace officers 
shall examine all cashmoney seized to determine whether it contains any buy 
funds.  Peace officers shall document the recovery of all buy funds  and deposit 
those funds with the Forfeiture/Seized Property Reviewer to be returned to the 
appropriate unit’s buy fund account. 

 
Peace officers seizing cashmoney shall also prepare a property inventory.  If 
cashmoney is seized from multiple individuals, a property inventory receipt will be 
completed for each individual.  The property inventory receipt shall specify the total 
amount of cashmoney seized from each individual.  The agency property inventory 
shall also contain a detailed description of all cash, checks, money orders and/or 
travelers checks or other financial instruments.  
 
The peace officer conducting the seizure shall ensure provide a copy of the 
completed property inventory receipt is provided to the Forfeiture/Seized Property 
Reviewer.   
 
It is the seizing peace officer’s responsibility to secure the cashmoney consistent 
with the agency policy or procedure for securing money.  
 
Jewelry/Precious Metals/Precious Stones 
 
Peace officers seizing jewelry, precious metals and/or precious stones will write a 
detailed description of each item on the property inventory receipt prior to 
inventorying the items.  A copy of the property inventory receipt and any photographs 
of the jewelry, precious metals and/or precious stones shall be delivered to the 
Forfeiture/Seized Property Reviewer. 

 
Peace officers seizing jewelry, precious metals and/or precious stones shall deliver 
those items to the property/evidence room as soon as is practicalbly possible.   
 
Conveyance Device   
 
Upon seizure for forfeiture, all conveyance devices shall immediately be either taken 
to a secure designated area or to an agency approved impound facility.  

 
Peace officers shall inventory the conveyance device and its contents in accordance 
with agency policy.  Peace officers shall also complete applicable report forms and 
distribute them as appropriately.   

           
Firearms/Ammunition/Firearm Accessories 
 
When firearms, ammunition or firearms accessories are seized, they shall be 
inventoried and delivered to the property/evidence room as per agency 
policy/procedure.   
 

 
CASE FILE STATUS 



 Page 5 of 5  
 

 
The Forfeiture/Seized Property Reviewer shall forward all changes to forfeiture 
status changes to the supervisor who initiated the case.    
 
 

REPORT WRITING 
 

Peace officers seizing property must complete a report.  All reports must include a 
description of the items seized, where the property iwas turned-in/inventoried, the 
name of the individual served, the date the seizure form was served, the name of 
the serving peace officer, and whether or not the individual signed the noticeNotice 
of Seizure and Intent to Forfeit Property form. 

 
All reports dealing with seized property will be completed within 24 hours of the 
seizure when practically possible. 

 
 TRAINING  
 

Training will be provided by the employing law enforcement agency in consultation 
with the prosecuting authority to peace officers who may exercise the use of 
administrative forfeiture in the performance of their assigned duties.  Such training 
towill be conducted whenever the agency policy is changed or modified based 
upon administrative directives, legislative statutes changes and/or relative court 
decisions.  Training may include but not be limited to agency policy and, directives, 
and electronic or traditional classroom education. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(02/1111/24) 


	Item 3: April 24, 2025 minutes
	Item 5: Variance-Kromah
	Item 6: Variance-Tapia
	Item 7: Variance-Gidigah
	Item 8: Variance-Bhardwaj
	Item 9: Variance-Garcia
	Item 10: 6700.0501 Reciprocity
	Item 11: 6700.0601 Draft
	Item 12: 6700.2100-2500 Drafts
	Item 13a: PPOE Options
	Item 13b: PPOE Focus Group Summary
	Item 13c: Community Focus Group Summary
	Item 13d: CLEO Preservice Survey
	Item 13e: Preservice Survey Comments
	Item 14: Missing Persons
	Item 15: Processional Condcut
	Item 16: Allegations of Miscondcut
	Item 17: Criminal Condcut on School Buses
	Item 18: Lighting Exemption
	 Item 19: Supervision of Part Time Licensed Peace Officers
	Item 20: POR
	Item 21: Administrative Forfeiture



